KUOPION YLIOPISTON JULKAISUJA C. LUONNONTIETEET JA YMPÄRISTÖTIETEET 230 KUOPIO UNIVERSITY PUBLICATIONS C. NATURAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL SCIENCES 230

ANNE HUKKANEN

Chemically Induced Resistance in Strawberry (Fragaria × ananassa) and Arctic Bramble (Rubus arcticus)

Biochemical Responses and Efficacy Against Powdery Mildew and Downy Mildew Diseases

Doctoral dissertation

To be presented by permission of the Faculty of Natural and Environmental Sciences of the University of Kuopio for public examination in Auditorium, Mediteknia building, University of Kuopio, on Monday 26th May 2008, at 12 noon

> Department of Biosciences University of Kuopio



KUOPIO 2008

Distributor:	Kuopio University Library P.O. Box 1627 FI-70211 KUOPIO FINLAND Tel. +358 17 163 430 Fax +358 17 163 410 http://www.uku.fi/kirjasto/julkaisutoiminta/julkmyyn.html
Series Editors:	Professor Pertti Pasanen, Ph.D. Department of Environmental Science
	Professor Jari Kaipio, Ph.D. Department of Physics
Author's address:	Department of Biosciences University of Kuopio P.O. Box 1627 FI-70211 KUOPIO FINLAND Tel. +358 17 163 116 Fax +358 17 163 148 E-mail: anne.hukkanen@uku.fi
Supervisors:	Reijo Karjalainen, Ph.D. Department of Biosciences University of Kuopio
	Professor Sirpa Kärenlampi, Ph.D. Department of Biosciences University of Kuopio
Reviewers:	Professor Riitta Julkunen-Tiitto, Ph.D. Department of Biology University of Joensuu
	Professor Jean-Pierre Métraux, Ph.D. Department of Biology University of Fribourg Fribourg, Switzerland
Opponent:	Professor Jaakko Kangasjärvi, Ph.D. Department of Biological and Environmental Sciences University of Helsinki

ISBN 978-951-27-0968-7 ISBN 978-951-27-1083-6 (PDF) ISSN 1235-0486

Kopijyvä Kuopio 2008 Finland Hukkanen, Anne. Chemically induced resistance in strawberry (*Fragaria* \times *ananassa*) and arctic bramble (*Rubus arcticus*): Biochemical responses and efficacy against powdery mildew and downy mildew diseases. Kuopio University Publications C. Natural and Environmental Sciences 230. 2008. 98 p.

ISBN 978-951-27-0968-7 ISBN 978-951-27-1083-6 (PDF) ISSN 1235-0486

ABSTRACT

During the past decade, induced resistance has become promising means for the protection of crop plants. One objective of this Thesis was to explore the efficacy of chemically induced resistance against two important diseases of strawberry and arctic bramble. The second aim was to analyse specific defence-related biochemical and chemical changes during the development of resistance.

The model compound benzothiadiazole (BTH) decreased disease incidence and/or severity in strawberry infected with powdery mildew and in arctic bramble infected with downy mildew in the greenhouse. Phosphite-based agrochemicals, i.e. Aliette, Phosfik and Phostrol, and the control fungicide Euparen M provided moderate and high level of protection, respectively, against downy mildew.

Two tools were developed to analyse downy mildew infections in arctic bramble. Quantitative real-time PCR method proved to be specific and sensitive, enabling reliable analysis of the growth of the downy mildew pathogen, *Peronospora sparsa*, in arctic bramble. An *in vitro* plate model was developed for fast pre-evaluation of resistance to downy mildew in different genotypes or treatments of arctic bramble.

The phenolic composition in strawberry and arctic bramble leaves was analysed by mass spectrometry. BTH treatment induced the accumulation of phenolic compounds in strawberry and arctic bramble leaves and in strawberry fruits, the accumulation being weakest in arctic bramble leaves. Phosphite treatments did not affect the phenolic contents. Flavonol and ellagitannin contents varied among arctic bramble cultivars, which may partly explain the differences observed in their basal resistance to *P. sparsa*. High amount of salicylic acid was constitutively present in both plant species.

BTH treatment of arctic bramble increased or decreased the levels of 103 proteins, of which eighteen could be identified tentatively using mass spectrometry. Many of the upregulated proteins are linked to defence reactions in other plants. Down-regulation of the proteins related to energy metabolism may explain the reduced vegetative growth of BTH-treated plants.

In conclusion, several phenolic compounds and proteins possibly involved in the development of resistance were characterised. Induction of resistance by chemicals proved to be promising means for the protection of strawberry and arctic bramble, although the efficacy against downy mildew is still unproved in the field conditions.

Universal Decimal Classification: 581.2, 582.711.712, 632.25, 632.934, 634.71, 634.75

CAB Thesaurus: induced resistance; disease resistance; defence; plant diseases; plant disease control; plant pathogens; fruit; leaves; strawberries; *Fragaria ananassa*; *Rubus arcticus*; Rosaceae; *Peronospora sparsa*; mildews; phenolic compounds; flavonols; tannins; salicylic acid; signal transduction; pathogenesis-related proteins; agricultural chemicals; HPLC; mass spectrometry; electrophoresis; western blotting; polymerase chain reaction; symptoms; yields; greenhouses

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was carried out in the Department of Biosciences (formerly Institute of Applied Biotechnology) at the University of Kuopio during 2000-2008. Part of the work was also carried out in the Department of Ecology and Environmental Sciences during 2000-2003.

I thank all the people who have participated in some way in this work. I am deeply grateful to my supervisors Sirpa Kärenlampi and Reijo Karjalainen for their support and guidance during these years. I appreciate that I also got the opportunity to work in the different projects in addition to my doctoral studies. I also owe many thanks to Harri Kokko, who has practically been the third supervisor and helped in many practical problems during the studies and project work.

Many thanks to the whole plant biotech group; everyone has really helped me in some way during this work. Especially I thank Mikko Anttonen and Kati Hanhineva, who have shared not only the office but also the enthusiasm on research and postgraduate studies with me. I also warmly thank Katri Kostamo and Liisa Pietikäinen for sharing the work on arctic bramble. In addition to the people at the University, I am deeply grateful to the staff of the Research Garden. Without their inputs and taking care of the plants, the work could not have been possible.

Special thanks to professors Riitta Julkunen-Tiitto and Jean-Pierre Métraux for preexamining the Thesis and to co-authors Tony Buchala, Gordon McDougall, Derek Stewart, and Jukka Häyrinen. Especially I thank Tony for the co-operation and for teaching me the secrets of SA analysis in Fribourg. I also owe thanks to Seppo Auriola for running the MS analyses on phenolics.

Many warm thanks to my family and friends, particularly to my parents Rauni and Aimo, who have always been supportive and believed in me and in the accomplishment of this Thesis for all of these years. Finally yet importantly, I thank Marko for encouraging, listening and for being my dear link to real life almost throughout the whole work.

The work was financially supported by Finnish Cultural Foundation, Finnish Cultural Foundation of Northern Savo, Tiura Foundation, Niemi Foundation, the Northern Periphery Programme Interreg IIIB Grant no. 102-12874-02, and European Agricultural Guidance and Guarantee Fund (EAGGF) project 23456.

Kuopio, May 2008

Anne Hukkanen

ABBREVIATIONS

2-DE	two-dimensional electrophoresis
ABA	abscisic acid
ACC	1-aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylate
AlaAT	alanine aminotransferase
ATP	adenosine triphosphate
avr	avirulence gene
bp	base pair
BTH	benzo(1,2,3) thiadiazole-7-carbothioic acid S-methyl ester
CBB	Coomassie Brilliant Blue
CHAPS	3-[3-cholamidopropyl)dimethylammonio]-1-propanesulfonate
CHI	chalcone isomerase
cv.	cultivar
DSDG	dehydroshikimate dehydrogenase
DTT	dithiothreitol
dw	dry weight
DXR	1-deoxy-D-xylulose 5-phosphate reductoisomerase
EDS1	enhanced disease susceptibility1 mutant
ESI	electrospray ionisation
fw	fresh weight
GSNOR	S-nitrosoglutathione reductase
HC1	hydrochloric acid
HHDP	hexahydroxydiphenoyl
HPLC	high-performance liquid chromatography
HR	hypersensitive reaction
HSP	heat shock protein
ICS	isochorismate synthase
INA	2,6-dichloroisonicotinic acid
ISR	induced systemic resistance
ITS	internal transcribed region
JA	jasmonic acid
MAPK	mitogen-activated protein kinase
MeJA	methyl jasmonate
MeSA	methyl salicylate
MS	mass spectrometry
NAC	nascent polypeptide-associated complex
NahG	salicylate hydroxylase expressing genetically modified plant
NaOH	sodium hydroxide
NIM1	non-inducible immunity mutant
NO	nitric oxide
NPR1	non-expressor of PR-1 genes mutant
PAD4	phytoalexin deficient4 mutant
PAL	phenylalanine ammonialyase

PAMP	pathogen-associated molecular pattern
PCA	principal component analysis
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
pI	isoelectric point
POX	peroxidase
PPO	polyphenoloxidase
PR	pathogenesis-related
<i>R</i> gene	resistance gene
rDNA	ribosomal DNA
RGP	reversibly glycosylated protein
ROS	reactive oxygen species
SA	salicylic acid
SABP2	salicylic acid-binding protein 2
SAR	systemic acquired resistance
SDS-PAGE	sodium dodecyl sulphate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
SOD	superoxide dismutase
TBS	tris-buffered saline
TF	transcription factor
TMV	tobacco mosaic virus
UV	ultraviolet
vis	visible

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This Thesis is based on the following original publications referred to in the text by their Roman numerals:

- I Hukkanen A. T., Kokko H. I., Buchala A. J., McDougall G. J., Stewart D., Kärenlampi S. O., Karjalainen R. O. 2007. Benzothiadiazole induces the accumulation of phenolics and improves resistance to powdery mildew in strawberries. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 55: 1862-1870.
- II Hukkanen A., Pietikäinen L., Kärenlampi S., Kokko H. 2006. Quantification of downy mildew (*Peronospora sparsa*) in *Rubus* species using real-time PCR. European Journal of Plant Pathology 116: 225-235.
- III Hukkanen A., Kostamo K., Kärenlampi S., Kokko H. 2008. Impact of agrochemicals on *Peronospora sparsa* and phenolic profiles in three *Rubus arcticus* cultivars. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 56: 1008-1016.
- **IV Hukkanen A.**, Kokko H., Buchala A., Häyrinen J., Kärenlampi S. Benzothiadiazole affects the leaf proteome in arctic bramble (*Rubus arcticus*). Manuscript.

CONTENTS

1. INTRODUCTION	
2. REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	15
2.1 Powdery mildew of strawberry	15
2.2 Downy mildew of arctic bramble	16
2.3 Salicylic acid in plant defence	17
2.3.1 Synthesis and occurrence of salicylic acid	17
2.3.2 Functions of SA	
2.3.3 SA as part of defence traffic	20
2.3.4 PR proteins are related to SA-mediated defence	24
2.3.5 Systemic acquired resistance	
2.4 Application of SA-induced defence in plant protection	
2.4.1 BTH as a model compound	
2.4.2 Wide spectrum resistance generated by BTH	27
2.4.3 BTH-induced changes in plant metabolism	
2.5 Inorganic salts in plant protection	
2.5.1 Chemical inducers of resistance	
2.5.2 Phosphates versus phosphites	
2.6 Phenolic compounds in defence against phytopathogens	
2.6.1 Nature of phenolics	
2.6.2 Phenolics in Rosaceae	
2.6.3 Phenolics related to defence against pathogens	
2.6.4 Anthocyanins	
2.6.5 Flavonols	
2.6.6 Ellagitannins	
2.6.7 Flavan-3-ols and proanthocyanidins	40
2.6.8 Hydroxycinnamic acids	41
2.6.9 Cell-wall-bound phenolics	
3. MATERIALS AND METHODS.	
3.1 Plant and fungal material, experimental design and treatments	
3.1.1 Strawberry (1)	
3.1.2 Arctic bramble (II-IV)	
3.1.3 Microscopy of pathogens	
3.2 Extraction and analysis of phenolic compounds	
3.2.1 Extraction of soluble phenolics (I, III)	
3.2.2 Extraction of cell-wall-bound phenolics (1)	
5.2.5 Analysis of phenolic compounds (I, III)	
5.2.4 Mass spectrometry of pnenolics (1, 11)	
5.5 Analysis of sancyic acid (1, 1V)	
5.4 Qualification of <i>Peronospora sparsa</i> by real-time PCK (II, III)	
5.4.1 Extraction of DINA	

	3.4.2 Design of primers	51
	3.4.3 Control plasmids	52
	3.4.4 Quantitative real-time PCR	52
	3.5 Extraction and analysis of proteins (IV)	53
	3.5.1 Extraction of total soluble proteins	53
	3.5.2 Production of antibody for PR-1	53
	3.5.3 SDS-PAGE and Western analysis	53
	3.5.4 2-DE and image analysis	54
	3.5.5 Identification of proteins	54
	3.6 Statistical analyses (I-IV)	54
4.	RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	56
	4.1 Maintenance and diagnosis of Peronospora sparsa	56
	4.1.1 Maintenance of Peronospora sparsa culture (II, III)	56
	4.1.2 Development of real-time PCR method for the quantification of <i>P. sparsa</i>	
	infections (II)	57
	4.2 Applicability of induced resistance for the protection of strawberry and arctic	
	bramble	58
	4.2.1 BTH improves resistance to powdery mildew in strawberry (I)	58
	4.2.2 Inhibition of downy mildew by agrochemicals in arctic bramble (III)	60
	4.2.3 Efficacy of agrochemicals against downy mildew in the plate model (III)	62
	4.2.4 Resistance to downy mildew varies among arctic bramble cultivars (II, III)	62
	4.2.5 Impact of induced resistance on plant performance (I, IV)	63
	4.3 The role of salicylic acid in strawberry and arctic bramble	64
	4.3.1 SA contents (I, IV)	64
	4.3.2 Accumulation of SA by BTH (I, IV)	64
	4.3.3 PR-1 as a marker for the induction of SA-mediated defence pathway (IV)	65
	4.4 Phenolic compounds and their role in defence	66
	4.4.1 Phenolic profiles in strawberry and arctic bramble	66
	4.4.2 Effect of BTH on soluble leaf phenolics in strawberry and arctic bramble	70
	4.4.3 BTH-induced changes in cell-wall-bound phenolics in strawberry leaves	72
	4.4.4 Influence of BTH on fruit phenolics in strawberry	73
	4.4.5 Effect of phosphites on phenolics in arctic bramble	73
	4.4.6 Variation of phenolic levels in different arctic bramble cultivars	73
	4.4.7 Contribution of phenolics to induced or basal resistance in strawberry and	
	arctic bramble	74
	4.5 BTH-induced changes in leaf proteome of arctic bramble	75
	4.5.1 Identified proteins	75
	4.5.2 Changes in defence metabolism	76
	4.5.3 Changes in energy metabolism	77
	4.5.4 Changes in other proteins	77
5.	SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	79
6.	REFERENCES	81

1. INTRODUCTION

Plant diseases caused by micro-organisms such as bacteria, fungi and viruses have great impact in crop losses worldwide. Diseases decrease the quantity and quality of the crops, but they also cause increased costs, as growers have to invest, for example, in pesticides and resistant cultivars. It has been estimated that pre- and post-harvest yield losses caused by various pests and weeds are approximately 40-45% of all crops, of which over one-third are caused by plant diseases (Agrios 2005). The severity of the problem is well illustrated by the fact that the annual costs caused by the yield losses and plant protection activities are estimated to be around 1000 billion U.S. dollars. Because of the high economic impact of plant diseases, significant research effort has been targeted at the development of more efficient plant protection methods and resistant cultivars.

Extensive use of pesticides may have adverse effects on the environment, nontarget organisms and human health. Therefore, increasingly sophisticated methods are under development for plant protection and will become available alongside with the progress made in biotechnology and knowledge of pathogen virulence and plant disease resistance mechanisms. For example, by means of genetic engineering and induced resistance, disease resistance of plants could be improved without the use of toxic chemicals. The majority of genetically modified crops commercialized today carry a trait designed to improve tolerance to various pests. Despite the promising results, safety concerns have led to restrictions in the cultivation of genetically modified crops particularly within the European Union. The application of systemic acquired resistance (SAR) in plant protection was an important milestone in plant pathology at the 1990s (e.g. Ward et al. 1991; Uknes et al. 1992). A major finding was that external exposure of plants to certain microbes or non-toxic chemicals can activate defence reactions, which leads to improved resistance against several diseases. Thus far, only few commercial products have emerged, BTH (Bion and Actigard from Syngenta) being the most thoroughly characterized one (Görlach et al. 1996; Tally et al. 1999; Oostendorp et al. 2001). The approach has shown great potential although its wide commercial breakthrough is still to come.

Today, large production units are favoured in the European agriculture policy, which has led to problems particularly in the periphery far from optimal cultivation areas. Small-scale production of high-value special crops has become an alternative to the investment on large-scale production facilities. In Finland, production of soft fruits is an important, specific sector of agriculture, which offers opportunities for small-scale farmers presuming the cultivation is profitable. Plant diseases can be the limiting factor in the production of horticultural crops; this is a particular problem because of the limited selection of plant protection products available for minor crops. Powdery mildew disease, for example, is a constant problem in the greenhouse production has been shifted into covered systems in many European countries during the past 10 to 15 years, leading to problems with powdery mildew infections. In the field, resistant cultivars and wider selection of suitable fungicides can control the

disease, but new plant protection strategies for greenhouse use are required.

The situation is even worse for arctic bramble (*Rubus arcticus* subsp. *arcticus*). The fruits of arctic bramble have always been highly valued due to their specific aroma suitable e.g. for the manufacture of liqueur and the demand for the fruits is higher than their availability. Therefore, the cultivation area of arctic bramble increased to 20 ha in the 1990s, but sudden and wide outbreaks of downy mildew disease in the mid 1990s caused large yield losses and declining of cultivation. Similarly, downy mildew has strongly hampered the cultivation of boysenberry in other countries (McKeown 1988; Walter et al. 2004). Presently, no arctic bramble cultivars are completely resistant to downy mildew and neither enough suitable fungicides are available. Furthermore, one of the two products registered against downy mildew of arctic bramble in Finland may be out from the market in the near future. Therefore, new plant protection solutions are urgently required for arctic bramble.

The aim of this work was to explore the applicability of induced resistance against powdery mildew disease in strawberry and downy mildew disease in arctic bramble under controlled conditions in a greenhouse. The second aim was to analyse specific defence-related biochemical and chemical changes during the development of resistance to gain more insight into the resistance mechanism. Very limited information was previously available about the defence mechanisms in rosaceous plants. Externally induced resistance was selected for the study because of its promising efficacy on other crops, non-toxicity of the compounds used - keeping in mind the image of pure northern fruits - and the broad-spectrum defence response the compounds may provide without the drawback of boosting the development of resistant pathogen strains.

2. REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

2.1 Powdery mildew of strawberry

Powdery mildew fungi are obligate biotrophic, host-specific pathogens that cannot survive outside a living plant tissue. Thus, their penetration mechanisms and retrieval of nutrients is very different from those of necrotrophs, which, in contrast to biotrophs, live on dead tissue and specifically aim at killing the plant cells by using hydrolysing enzymes (Perfect & Green 2001; Oliver & Ipcho 2004). However, this classification of plant pathogens based on their mode of nutrition is likely to be re-evaluated in the future when more information about pathogenesis factors and host defence is available. The recent approach has led to varying classifications regarding especially hemibiotrophs, which express both biotrophic and necrotrophic stages during their life cycle (Oliver & Ipcho 2004).

The fungus *Sphaerotheca macularis* f. sp. *fragariae* specifically infects strawberry, causing powdery mildew disease. Other isolates of the fungus can infect hop (*Humulus lupulus*), *Potentilla* and *Rubus* species. The disease appears in strawberry as white, powdery-like patches on the leaves (often only on the lower surface), shoots, fruits and flowers (**Figure 1**), and as upward-curling leaf edges and reddish colour of the leaves (Maas 1998). The fungus grows on the leaf surface, where it forms haustoria, specific feeding structures of biotrophic fungi, into the epidermal cells for the absorption of nutrients (Perfect & Green 2001; Oliver & Ipcho 2004). Within 4 to 6 days after the onset of infection, numerous asexual conidia emerge in chains from the epicuticular hyphae and are easily dislodged and spread to the neighbouring plants (**Figure 1**). Sexual ascospores occasionally develop in cleistothecia, but the ascospores may not be important in the normal life cycle of the fungus (Peries 1962a). *S. macularis* may overwinter in living plant material (Maas 1998).



Figure 1. White patches of powdery mildew on a greenhouse-grown strawberry cv. Jonsok (left) and mycelia and conidiophores of the fungus on strawberry leaf (right; 500× magnification).

Kuopio Univ. Publ. C. Nat. and Environ. Sci. 230: 1-98 (2008)

The most efficient control method is the use of resistant cultivars that are widely available, but conditions highly favourable to the fungus, i.e. high humidity and low temperature, may override the resistance (Peries 1962b; Maas 1998; Xiao et al. 2001). Breaking of resistance has become particularly problematic in the cultivation under glass due to the high infection pressure caused by powdery mildew. Furthermore, breeding for powdery mildew resistance is challenging because of the high genetic variability of the fungus and possibly several, mainly additive, genes involved in the resistance of strawberry (Davik & Honne 2005). The first resistance gene analogues were isolated from strawberry only recently and their function against pathogens is not yet resolved (Martínez Zamora et al. 2004).

Fungicides are effective, but their use is limited due to the possible development of resistant powdery mildew strains as observed in other crops (Chin et al. 2001; McRath et al. 2001). In Finland, only three fungicides against powdery mildew of strawberry are available for greenhouse use, containing azoxystrobin (Amistar and Ortiva, Syngenta) or kresoxim-methyl (Candit, BASF) as active ingredients. In some experiments, moderate control of powdery mildews has been achieved by the application of inorganic salts or silicon, but they are not widely used in the commercial production of strawberries (Reuveni et al. 2000; Ehret et al. 2002; Kanto et al. 2004). In fact, plain water may also be efficient against *S. macularis* because the conidia are easily broken in free water (Peries 1962a).

2.2 Downy mildew of arctic bramble

Downy mildew diseases are caused by host-specific oomycete species from e.g. the genera Bremia, Peronospora, Plasmopara and Sclerospora. Peronospora sparsa Berk. (synonym P. rubi Rabenh.) infection causes downy mildew disease in Rubus and Rosa species (Hall 1989; Breese et al. 1994). In Rubus species, the disease appears on the leaves as reddish, angular and interveinal lesions (Figure 2), where sporangiophores extend from the abaxial surface. The most severe consequence of P. sparsa infection is the "dryberry" disease, which may cause up to 100% yield losses especially in arctic bramble and boysenberry in rainy seasons (Hall 1989; Ellis et al. 1991; Lindqvist et al. 1998). In contrast to many other genera causing downy mildews, Peronospora sp. are obligate, highly specialised biotrophs, which do not develop motile asexual zoospores. Instead, asexual spores develop in the heads of dichotomously branched sporangiophores and spread by wind or free water to new leaves, flowers and fruits (Figure 2), initiating secondary infections (Hall 1989; Ellis et al. 1991). Under humid conditions, spores germinate, form haustoria and the mycelia may colonise completely the intercellular space of the plant tissue (Breese et al. 1994). New sporangiophores develop approximately in a week and grow through stomata to the abaxial leaf surface. P. sparsa can overwinter as mycelium in the living parts of plants such as rhizome (Ellis et al. 1991; Lindqvist et al. 1998). Sexual oospores develop in some species and may act as survival forms through winter and in transmission to new plants via soil (Hall 1989; Ellis et al. 1991). The occurrence and significance of oospores in downy mildew infection of arctic bramble is unknown.

Unlike powdery mildews, which grow on the leaf surface, downy mildews are not visible unless the plants develop symptoms or sporulation is extensive. Therefore, diagnostic methods based on the measurement of pathogen DNA have been developed to reliably detect and quantify infections (Lindqvist et al. 1998; Aegerter et al. 2002).

P. sparsa infections can be controlled by fungicides developed against oomycetes. However, only two products, Euparen M (tolylfluanid, Bayer) and Aliette (fosetyl-Al, Bayer) are available for the control of downy mildew in arctic bramble in Finland. Furthermore, the application of Euparen M requires a long withholding period, which limits its use only to the early season.



Figure 2. Lesions caused by downy mildew in arctic bramble cv. Pima (left) and part of dichotomously branched sporangiophore of the pathogen and a spore attached to one ultimate branch stained with trypan blue (right).

Thus far, arctic bramble genotypes showing complete resistance to downy mildew have not been found. A Canadian subspecies of arctic bramble (*Rubus arcticus* subsp. *stellatus*) is resistant to *P. sparsa* as is the hybrid of the Canadian and northern (*Rubus arcticus* subsp. *arcticus*) subspecies. The basis for resistance to downy mildew in *Rubus* is presently unknown. In *Arabidopsis*, approximately 30 major resistance (*R*) genes involved in cultivar-race specific resistance to downy mildew pathogen, *Hyaloperonospora parasitica*, have been discovered (Slusarenko & Schlaich 2003). In addition to possible gene-for-gene-based resistance mechanisms, other defence mechanisms may exist and be differently expressed among different genotypes of arctic bramble.

2.3 Salicylic acid in plant defence

2.3.1 Synthesis and occurrence of salicylic acid

Salicylic acid (SA, 2-hydroxybenzoic acid) is a signalling compound that is also classified as a plant hormone (Raskin 1992a). It is synthesised from either

phenylalanine or chorismic acid, both of which originate from the shikimate pathway (**Figure 3**). The synthesis starting from phenylalanine proceeds mainly via cinnamic acid and benzoic acid/benzoyl glucoside. Only this route was previously supposed to produce SA in plants (Meuwly et al. 1995; Silverman et al. 1995; Chong et al. 2001). However, Wildermuth et al. (2001) discovered that the pathway from chorismic acid to SA, common for prokaryotes, is also active in the chloroplasts of plants, which fits well to the endosymbiotic theory of chloroplast development. According to later findings, isochorismate may in fact be the primary precursor for the synthesis of stress-related SA (Strawn et al. 2007). The exact roles and interaction of these two distinct pathways for SA synthesis are unknown.

SA is common to all plants, but its basal level varies widely among species and organs (Raskin et al. 1990). While the healthy model plants *Arabidopsis* and tobacco have the basal SA level close to zero, the plants in the other margin such as rice and potato, may contain up to 30 to 40 μ g/g fresh weight (fw) of SA (Raskin et al. 1990; Silverman et al. 1995; Navarre & Mayo 2004). The study carried out on potato also showed that variable concentrations of SA are present in different plant organs, the highest levels being found in the leaves and flowers (Navarre & Mayo 2004). No conclusive explanation is available for the constitutively high SA levels in some plant species.

SA can occur in free, active form, or in inactivated, glucosylated storage form in the vacuoles (Dean et al. 2005). If in high amounts, SA is usually present as a conjugate, but exceptions also exist, as the main fraction of SA in rice is present in free form (Navarre & Mayo 2004; Silverman et al. 1995). Other types of salicylates, such as salicin and salicortin, are plentiful in *Salix* species (willows) (Julkunen-Tiitto 1989). Park et al. (2007) made recently a breakthrough by identifying methyl salicylate (MeSA) as the mobile form, by which SA signal can travel between the different tissues. MeSA is volatile and, hence, it may also participate in the signalling between the neighbouring plants (Shulaev et al. 1997). MeSA is probably for transportation use only, because it is hydrolysed to SA in the target cells by SAbinding protein 2 (SABP2) and SA is converted to MeSA by SA methyl transferase in the site of its synthesis (Park et al. 2007).

2.3.2 Functions of SA

SA is critical for the survival of plants in abiotic and biotic stresses by acting as one of the main signalling compounds required for the activation of defence reactions. The accumulation of endogenous SA is necessary in the adaptation to abiotic stresses caused by ozone, UV-C and high light radiation, heat, cold and drought (Yalpani et al. 1994; Dat et al. 1998a; Munné-Bosch & Peñuelas 2003; Scott et al. 2004; Mateo et al. 2006). External treatment with SA has also improved tolerance to e.g. cold and heat (Dat et al. 1998b; Senaratna et al. 2000). Related to developmental regulation, SA treatment has induced flowering in some plant species (Khurana & Cleland 1992; Raskin 1992b). In particular, SA may participate in the stress-induced transitions from vegetative growth to flowering or senescence (Morris et al. 2000; Martínez et al.

Review of the literature



Figure 3. Branchpoints from central shikimate pathway leading to the synthesis of gallic acid derivatives, salicylic acid and phenylpropanoids (Weaver & Herrmann 1997; Dixon et al. 2001; Métraux 2002; Ossipov et al. 2003). DSDG, dehydroshikimate dehydrogenase; ICS, isochorismate synthase; PAL, phenylalanine ammonialyase.

2004). A special mode of action of SA is the control of heat production in thermogenic plants such as *Arum* lilies (Raskin 1992b).

The reason underlying the particular interest in SA is its central role in defence against pathogens, particularly biotrophs, on which numerous studies has been conducted during the past 15 years. The following evidence supports the role of SA in pathogen defence. First, external application of SA or its derivatives induces resistance to pathogens (e.g. White 1979; Uknes et al. 1992; Görlach et al. 1996). Second, the level of endogenous SA rises after pathogen challenge in resistant genotypes of Arabidopsis, cucumber and tobacco (Malamy et al. 1990; Métraux et al. 1990; Mauch-Mani & Slusarenko 1996). Third, the expression of bacterial isochorismate synthase in tobacco chloroplasts leads to the accumulation of SA and enhanced disease resistance (Verberne et al. 2000). Fourth, plants defective in SA synthesis, or transgenic plants (nahG) carrying SA degrading enzyme show higher susceptibility to pathogens in comparison to wild-type plants (Delaney et al. 1994; Nawrath & Métraux 1999). Although the evidence obtained with nahG plants has been challenged (Cameron 2000), since the plants also have defects in the synthesis of metabolites other than SA (Heck et al. 2003), the role of SA as a central mediator of defence signals is unquestionable.

2.3.3 SA as part of defence traffic

SA is part of complex signalling cascade, which begins by the recognition of pathogen or other external inducer and leads to the activation of ultimate defence genes, e.g. those encoding pathogenesis-related (PR) proteins. Regulatory points, which control the magnitude of SA response as well as the crosstalk with other plant hormones, exist along the whole pathway, redox balance being perhaps the most important separate factor influencing the outcome of the response (Mou et al. 2003; Bostock 2005; Noctor 2006; Mateo et al. 2006). However, many parts of the cascade are still uncharacterized or hypothetical (**Figure 4**) and most data derive from studies on *Arabidopsis* and its mutants. Although signalling is likely to be highly similar and conserved among plants, different characteristics and, in particular, fine-tuning may exist in other species such as those with high basal levels of SA.

Recognition of microbes by plants may be non-specific or plant cultivarpathogen race-specific. In the latter case, a pathogen secretes effector molecules, which are often virulence factors of the pathogen, into plant cells and disease follows unless the plant has a specific R gene. The interaction between the effector and Rgene results in the inactivation of the effector, the activation of plant defence and the arrest of infection. Thus far, a high number of effectors and R genes have been discovered and classified in different categories according to their function (Martin et al. 2003b). The action of at least class II and III (LZ/TIR-NB-LRR-type) R genes depends on the SA pathway since in transgenic *nahG Arabidopsis* plants the resistance against certain races of *Pseudomonas syringae* and *Hyaloperonospora parasitica* is lost (Delaney et al. 1994). An overview to R genes is dependent on SA or other components in the SA defence pathway (Slusarenko & Schlaich 2003).





Figure 4. Current view to the signalling cascade in SA-mediated pathogen defence (modified from Shah 2003; Apel & Hirt 2004; Dong 2004; Mateo et al. 2004; Bostock 2005; Brodersen et al. 2006; Loake & Grant 2007; Eulgem & Somssich 2007). Abbreviations: EDS1, enhanced disease susceptible1 mutant; GSNOR, S-nitrosoglutathione reductase; JA, jasmonic acid; MAPK, mitogen activated protein kinase; NO, nitric oxide; NPR1, non-expressor of PR genes1 mutant; PAD4, phytoalexin deficient4 mutant; PAMP, pathogen-associated molecular pattern; ROS, reactive oxygen species; TF, transcription factor.

Interestingly, suppression of some of the components results in partial resistance, but not in the total loss of the resistance. EDS1 and NPR1 proteins from the SA pathway (**Figure 4**) are also necessary for R gene-mediated resistance in tobacco (Liu et al. 2002). R gene-mediated resistance may involve similar responses and set of defence genes to those in the non-specific resistance, as described in the following paragraphs. It is unknown to which extent these defence pathways overlap.

Another way to activate defence is that plant receptors recognize non-self pathogen/microbe-associated molecular patterns (PAMP), such as microbial lipopolysaccharides (Mishina & Zeier 2007). The recognition leads to the opening of ion channels on plasma membrane and generation of oxidative burst by NAPDH oxidases, peroxidases or amine oxidases (Chen & Schopfer 1999; Torres et al. 2002; Apel & Hirt 2004). Additionally, increased photorespiration in the chloroplasts can quickly generate reactive oxygen species (ROS) (Mateo et al. 2004). The generation of ROS, mainly H_2O_2 and O_2^- , is necessary for the local programmed cell death to take place and for further activation of the defence cascade. Abiotic stresses also induce oxidative burst, though differently from pathogens, and abiotic stress responses are likely to intertwine via ROS generation in SA-mediated defence (Apel & Hirt 2004; Fujita et al. 2006).

Mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK) cascades are involved especially in the early steps of defence activation, but it is unresolved, whether they activate ROS production or *vice versa* (Pedley & Martin 2005; Apel & Hirt 2004). Among many MAPK and MAPKK(K) genes found, some are inducible by SA, other signalling molecules or stresses, indicating a function in defence (Song & Goodman 2002; Pedley & Martin 2005). Like MAPKs, transcription factors may regulate the expression of early defence genes encoding proteins necessary for the activation of downstream defence responses (Garretón et al. 2002; Apel & Hirt 2004; Eulgem & Somssich 2007). ROS probably also activate the synthesis of SA, but the exact mechanism is unclear. ROS may activate transcription factors directly or via MAPKs, which then activates the enzymes of SA synthesis (Eulgem & Somssich 2007). The increased levels of SA can inhibit ROS-detoxifying enzymes catalase and ascorbate peroxidase and intensify oxidative burst, which may in turn further enhance SA synthesis (Sánchez-Casas & Klessig 1994; Shirasu et al. 1997; Wendehenne et al. 1998; Mateo et al. 2006).

However, to activate downstream signalling after oxidative burst, reduced state has to be restored, but it is still unclear how that is achieved. The levels of SA, H_2O_2 and glutathione seem to interlink in a way that SA has a dual role as both an inhibitor and inducer of ROS detoxifying enzymes (Sánchez-Casas & Klessig 1994; Rao et al. 1997; Garretón et al. 2002; Mateo et al. 2006). SA-induced accumulation of glutathione may be involved in restoring redox balance by directly detoxifying ROS, acting as a substrate for ROS-binding enzymes, or affecting thiol-groups of proteins and thus enzyme activities (Ball et al. 2004; Noctor 2006; Mateo et al. 2006). Thioredoxins, ascorbic acid or production of reducing power in pentose phosphate pathway may also participate in the redox control (Balmer et al. 2004; Dong 2004; Bostock 2005). More studies are necessary to clarify the interplay of redox status with defence metabolism and basic metabolism as the redox balance depends on several cellular activities such as photosynthesis, photorespiration, and responses to abiotic and biotic stresses, which all affect the concentrations of oxidative radicals and reducing capacity.

Regardless of the unknown preceding steps, return to the reduced state enables the SA-induced dissociation of NPR1 oligomer to monomer and the binding to specific transcription factors in the nucleus (Mou et al. 2003). In addition to redox balance, NO via S-nitrosoglutathione reductase may control NPR1 or other components downstream of SA by adding a NO group to cysteine residues of its targets (Loake & Grant 2007; Feechan et al. 2005). Finally, a complex network of TGA- and WRKY-type transcription factors regulates positively and negatively the activation of defence genes downstream of NPR1 (Li et al. 2004; Zhang et al. 2003; Eulgem & Somssich 2007). SA also activates defence genes independently from NPR1, likely via different transcription factors such as Whirly1, which is induced by SA and capable of directly activating SA-induced defence genes, e.g. PR-10 (Desveaux et al. 2004). Recently, a lipid signal, which may be jasmonic acid (JA), has been suggested to act as part of the SA pathway, but its function in this context is unravelled (Truman et al. 2007).

Other signalling pathways mediated mainly by JA, ethylene and abscisic acid (ABA) interact antagonistically or agonistically to SA signalling (e.g. Fujita et al. 2006; Loake & Grant 2007). In a simplistic view, SA-mediated defence is active against biotrophic pathogens; JA- and ethylene-mediated pathways are active against necrotrophic pathogens and insects while ABA regulates abiotic stress responses. In reality, increasing evidence indicate that none of these hormones acts exclusively in synergistic or antagonistic way, but rather the direction of defence into certain pathway depends on the prevailing conditions and relative spatial and temporal concentrations of the hormones (Bostock 2005; Fujita et al. 2006; Loake & Grant 2007). The components of the SA signalling cascade are also shared partly by other pathways, pointing out the central role of SA as a regulator of general plant defence. MAPK4 is one of the known control points for crosstalk between SA and JA/ethylene-mediated pathways (Figure 4). PAD4 and EDS1 regulate positively the SA synthesis and repress JA pathway unless MAPK4 is activated, which inhibits PAD4/EDS1 and thus activates JA pathway (Brodersen et al. 2006). Besides MAPK4, at least NPR1 and WKRY transcription factors regulate the shuttling between SA- and JA/ethylene-mediated defence, but other control points are likely to be found along the pathway (Spoel et al. 2003; Li et al. 2004; Dong 2004). Interestingly, phytopathogens may also redirect plant defence to the pathway that is more favourable for their survival. For example, the phytotoxin coronatine of Pseudomonas syringae suppresses SA pathway by acting as a JA analogue (Laurie-Berry et al. 2006). Jasmonate-insensitive plants are more resistant to P. syringae and coronatine, and no typical symptoms of disease develop.

2.3.4 PR proteins are related to SA-mediated defence

Pathogenesis-related (PR) proteins are closely related to the activation of SAmediated defence and pathogen resistance, supporting thus the function of SA as the inducer of defence. PR proteins were first thought to be proteins expressed under pathogen attack, but their induction has later also been connected to other kinds of stresses (van Loon 1994; van Loon et al. 2006). Some PR proteins or their isoforms are also involved in developmental processes, e.g. pollen development and embryogenesis (Worrall et al. 1992; Kragh et al. 1996). Thus far, 17 classes of PR proteins have been found, but the functions of some of them, e.g. PR-1, have not been characterised. However, many PR proteins show antimicrobial and/or hydrolytic activity and genetically modified plants constitutively expressing e.g. PR-1, PR-3 and PR-5 have shown higher tolerance to pathogens (Broglie et al. 1991; Alexander et al. 1993; Liu et al. 1994; Rauscher et al. 1999).

Treatments with SA or SA analogues result in the accumulation of PR proteins, the pattern of which varies among plant species (Malamy et al. 1990; Ward et al. 1991; Görlach et al. 1996; Friedrich et al. 1996). However, the expression of PR-1 is connected with the induction of SA pathway in most plant species and, therefore, it is also used as a marker for the activation of SA-mediated resistance (Delaney et al. 1994; Lawton et al. 1996; Cameron et al. 1999). Although PR-1 expression follows pathogen- or elicitor-induced accumulation of SA, and *Arabidopsis* mutants with constitutively high SA level express PR-1 constitutively (Bowling et al. 1994; Jirage et al. 2001), the amount of endogenous SA does not directly correlate with the expression of PR-1. As an example, PR-1 expression is not constitutive but rather inducible in rice, which has constitutively high levels of SA (Yang et al. 2004). SA-responsive elements have been identified in the promoters of PR-1 and PR-2 proteins (van de Rhee & Bol 1993; Shah & Klessig 1996), confirming their relation to SA pathway.

2.3.5 Systemic acquired resistance

SA has a key role in systemic acquired resistance (SAR), which is the plant counterpart to the immune system of animals. The first contact with a necrosisinducing virulent or avirulent pathogen makes the plant more resistant to subsequent attacks and, in contrast to animals, protection is effective against a wide range of pathogens. The response is also systemic i.e. the whole plant becomes resistant after localized infection. While the first observations about SAR emerged at the early 1900th century, extensive research on the mechanisms of SAR was conducted only at the 1990s.

Functioning of SAR has been demonstrated in several plant species using viruses, bacteria or fungi as primary and secondary pathogens, covering also their combinations (Uknes et al. 1993; Mauch-Mani & Slusarenko 1994; Schneider et al. 1996). In addition, non-host bacteria, molecules of microbial origin and chemicals can induce SAR (Baillieul et al. 1995; Görlach et al. 1996; Mishina & Zeier 2007). Typically, SAR is more effective against biotrophic than necrotrophic pathogens as is SA-mediated defence in general. There are several proofs of the involvement of SA in

Review of the literature

SAR. Endogenous SA and PR proteins accumulate systemically in untreated leaves after local treatment with a necrosis-inducing pathogen (Malamy et al. 1990; Métraux et al. 1990; Ward et al. 1991). Treatment with SA leads to the induction of similar set of PR proteins to that induced by biological SAR inducers (Ward et al. 1991; Uknes et al. 1992). Further, SAR, i.e. systemic activation of defence genes and development of resistance, is not established in mutant plants defective in SA signalling or lacking SA in the untreated/uninfected systemic tissue (Gaffney et al. 1993; Lawton et al. 1995; Vernooij et al. 1995).

SAR is initiated by the local response, where hypersensitive reaction (HR) is often involved. The signal thus generated undergoes transmission to other tissues. According to recent evidence, MeSA is necessary for the transmission of the message, but other molecules such as JA and ethylene may also be involved (Verberne et al. 2003; Park et al. 2007; Truman et al. 2007). Truman et al. (2007) suggested that JA signal precedes SA and MeSA in the activation of early systemic defence responses. MeSA is converted by SABP2 (MeSA esterase) into free SA in the target tissue and subsequent changes induced by SA in the redox balance and conformation of NPR1 can further activate defence as described for the local response (Mou et al. 2003).

Protection against the second pathogen attack develops within hours, days or weeks depending on the SAR inducer and plant species, but usually the protection lasts for weeks (Schneider et al. 1996). Defence genes such as those encoding PR proteins and enzymes for phenylpropanoid synthesis, may be directly induced by the first pathogen challenge or by biological or chemical SAR activators. Hence, the following changes in protein and metabolite profiles and cell wall structure may explain the improved resistance against the second attack (Malamy et al. 1990; Ward et al. 1991; Görlach et al. 1996). However, a new wave of gene expression, faster and stronger than the original, is active after the second challenge (Shirasu et al. 1997; Benhamou & Belanger 1998a; Kohler et al. 2002; Truman et al. 2007). Actually, some defence-related genes are expressed only after the second challenge unless a high dose of the first inducer is applied (van Hulten et al. 2006). The sensitization of the plants by SAR inducer for a quick response to the following pathogen attack, i.e. priming, might be the way to "remember" the first attack in plants, but what the primed state actually is, remains unresolved. One option is the accumulation of inactive signalling components, which are rapidly activated during the re-challenging. Consistent with this idea, a SA analogue (BTH) induces the synthesis of MAPK3 protein in Arabidopsis, but only a subsequent stress actually activates the protein (Beckers & Conrath 2007). The same signalling components are likely used both during the first and second wave of defence activation. Supporting this, Kohler et al. (2002) showed that potentiated gene expression also depends on NPR1. Furthermore, priming effect occurs in the expression of EDS1 and PAD4, which are required for the development of SAR (Shirasu et al. 1997; Jirage et al. 2001). Van Hulten et al. (2006) suggested that, in contrast to direct activation of the whole defence, by limiting the final systemic defence expression to conditions where it is of absolute necessity, i.e. upon a new pathogen attack, plants can compromise between the

consumption of energy in defence or active growth.

Growth-promoting non-pathogenic rhizobacteria such as *Pseudomonas fluorescens* in *Arabidopsis* may also trigger systemic protection via roots that is called induced systemic resistance (ISR). Although it largely resembles SAR, signalling is found to depend on JA rather than SA, and a different set of genes is expressed (Pieterse et al. 2001; Verhagen et al. 2004). Otherwise, large spectrum resistance and priming are also involved in ISR similarly to that in SAR although resistance is active against different pathogens (Ton et al. 2002; Pieterse et al. 2001). The recent finding about JA as part of SAR signalling may lead to new discoveries about the connections between ISR and SAR (Truman et al. 2007).

2.4 Application of SA-induced defence in plant protection

2.4.1 BTH as a model compound

Exogenously applied SA as well as the accumulation of endogenous SA induces resistance to viral, bacterial and fungal, particularly biotrophic, pathogens as described above. In addition to SA, its derivatives such as 2,6-dichloroisonicotinic acid (INA) and more recently introduced benzo(1,2,3)thiadiazole-7-carbothioic acid S-methyl ester (BTH), can induce similar wide-spectrum, non-specific resistance and activation of PR proteins (Figure 5) (Ward et al. 1991; Görlach et al. 1996; Lawton et al. 1996). While exogenously applied SA and INA are phytotoxic, plants tolerate BTH at the low rates usually needed for defence activation (Tally et al. 1999). Therefore, it was released into the market as the first non-toxic plant protection product (Bion[®], Actigard[®]) which takes advantage of SA signalling pathway to induce plant defence reactions against pathogens (Lawton et al. 1996; Görlach et al. 1996; Tally et al. 1999). During the past decade, BTH has become a model compound for induced resistance in plants, and its function and efficacy has been widely studied. As an efficient inducer of resistance, BTH could also be used to study essential components of pathogen defence in specific plant-pathogen interactions by identifying BTH-induced changes in the plant. Recently, differently substituted salicylates were tested for their ability to induce TMV resistance and PR-1 in tobacco (Silverman et al. 2005). Derivatives halogenated (Cl⁻, F⁻) in the 3- or 5-position to hydroxyl group were the most efficient inducers of both resistance and PR-1. These observations suggest that new compounds with higher specificity and lower active concentrations may find their way for plant protection in the near future.

BTH has been considered to act as a functional analogue of SA. This conclusion has been drawn from the following observations: BTH is able to induce disease resistance and PR genes independently from SA in *nahG* plants and no accumulation of endogenous SA has been observed after BTH treatment, indicating that BTH acts as SA or downstream of SA (Lawton et al. 1996; Friedrich et al. 1996). Since the action of BTH is suppressed in *nim1/npr1* (*nim1* is allelic with *npr1*) *Arabidopsis* mutants defective in NPR1, BTH acts upstream of NPR1 and, thus, is likely to act "as SA" in plants (Lawton et al. 1996; Kohler et al. 2002; Mou et al.

Review of the literature

2003). BTH also inhibits catalase and ascorbate peroxidase similarly to SA and INA and, hence, reinforces the oxidative burst (Wendehenne et al. 1998). Finally, BTH activates the same SAR genes as SA or biological SAR inducer in *Arabidopsis* and tobacco though the induction is stronger with BTH (Friedrich et al. 1996; Lawton et al. 1996). BTH binds with a higher affinity to SA-binding proteins, such as SABP2 (hydrolyzing MeSA to SA) and catalase when compared with SA, which likely explains the stronger responses induced by BTH (Du & Klessig 1997; Wendehenne et al. 1998).

BTH induces systemic resistance and expression of defence genes in many plant species, including cauliflower, cucumber, grapevine and apple (Godard et al. 1999; Narusaka et al. 1999; Brisset et al. 2000; Iriti et al. 2005). Interestingly, BTH but not SA induces systemic response in cucumber, suggesting a better ability of BTH to induce systemic signal, slower turnover of BTH to metabolites or different ability to move in the plant in comparison to SA (Narusaka et al. 1999). Considering that BTH indeed is mobile



Figure 5. Structures of SA, INA and BTH.

in plants, translocation of BTH itself may be responsible for its systemic action (Friedrich et al. 1996). Friedrich et al. (1996) suggested that since BTH is a functional analogue of SA, it might also activate the signal transduction pathway similarly to SA and, thus, activate SAR. However, MeSA, if it is the systemic signal as proposed by Park et al. (2007), is generated from free SA, the level of which was shown not to be affected by BTH. Furthermore, it is still unknown whether and how the synthesis and release of MeSA is activated up- or downstream of SA in the SAR pathway.

Consequently, despite of several studies performed with BTH, its exact mode of action remains obscure and several questions unanswered. What is, for example, the role of early defence components such as MAPKs in the BTH-mediated resistance (Song & Goodman 2002)? Does BTH degrade in plants? If yes, how fast does it happen and what are the metabolites?

2.4.2 Wide spectrum resistance generated by BTH

Like SA, BTH induces resistance to a wide range of pathogens as shown by the high number of studies performed since the introduction of BTH in 1996. **Table 1** shows the plant pathogens against which BTH has shown efficacy. Most fungal species are biotrophs or hemibiotrophs, further indicating that SA pathway is more effective against biotrophic than necrotrophic pathogens. BTH has protected most plant species from powdery mildews, downy mildews and oomycete (*Phytophthora, Pythium*)

pathogens. However, illustrating the variations in the signalling network, potato and *Arabidopsis*, two rather different plant species, show SA-independent resistance to *Phytophthora* infection and, thus, application of BTH does not markedly prevent infection (Si-Ammour et al. 2003). On the other hand, strawberry, tobacco, cucumber and tomato, a close relative of potato, develop resistance to *Phytophthora* after BTH treatment (Tally et al. 1999; Csinos et al. 2001; Eikemo et al. 2003; Khan et al. 2004). In the same way, the efficacy of BTH against necrotrophic diseases varies among plant families. Only in some plant species BTH has provided protection to necrotrophic diseases such as grey mould (*Botrytis cinerea*), leaf spots caused by *Alternaria* sp., *Fusarium* wilts and white mould (*Sclerotinia sclerotiorum*) (Benhamou & Bélanger 1998a; Dann et al. 1998; Terry & Joyce 2000; Perez et al. 2003). The resistance has usually been only partial also in these species and often related to the accumulation of phenolic compounds. A special means to exploit BTH-induced resistance is to treat the plants prior to harvest and thus improve resistance to post-harvest pathogens (Iriti et al. 2005).

2.4.3 BTH-induced changes in plant metabolism

Overall, three types of changes in plant metabolism reflect the induced resistance: accumulation of defence-related proteins, accumulation of antimicrobial secondary compounds (phytoalexins) and alterations in primary metabolism due to the direction of energy and metabolites for defence. Similarly, BTH-induced changes belong mainly to these categories as shown in **Table 1**. BTH may cause direct or primed activation of defence genes and its concentration possibly influences the way of induction (van Hulten et al. 2006; Kohler et al. 2002).

The accumulation or activity of PR proteins has been the primary target for analysis in many BTH-related studies. In particular, chitinase (PR-3, -4, -8, -11), glucanase (PR-2) and peroxidase (POX; PR-9) activities have been determined often, probably due to simple spectrophotometric methods available. Practically all plant species show the induction of these proteins (e.g. Dann & Deverall 2000; Brisset et al. 2000; Zhu & Ma 2007). Among the proteins, POX activity is quite interesting, as peroxidases not only produce reactive oxygen species that possess antimicrobial or signalling activity but peroxidases also reinforce the cell walls by cross-linking phenolics (lignification and suberization), structural glycoproteins and polysaccharides (Hiraga et al. 2001). PR-1 is another commonly analysed protein because of its function as a marker for the SA-induced defence (Lawton et al. 1996; Cameron et al. 1999). The induction of PR-5, thaumatin-like protein, by BTH has been observed in Arabidopsis, tobacco, maize, rose and sugarcane (Lawton et al. 1996; Friedrich et al. 1996; Morris et al. 1998; Ramesh Sundar et al. 2001; Suo & Leung 2002) while Ziadi et al. (2001a) found the induction of PR-10 in apple. BTH has both induced (glutathione reductase, superoxide dismutase) and repressed (catalase and ascorbate peroxidase) enzymes used against oxidative stress in cells (Wendehenne et al. 1998; Liu et al. 2005; Cao & Jiang 2006). Thus, BTH may affect the activation of downstream components of the SA pathway by regulating redox balance similarly to SA.

Plant :	Efficacy against Pathogens ^b	BTH	BTH-induced mRNA/proteins/metabolites	Reference
species		mM		
apple Arabidopsis	Erwinia amylovora (Bac) Peronospora parasitica (B)	0.45-0.9 0.3	β-1,3-glucanase, POX PR-1, PR-2, PR-5, PAL, callose	Brisset et al. 2000 Friedrich et al. 1996; Lawton et al.
	Pseudomonas syringae pv. tabaci (Bac) turnip crinkle virus			1996; Kohler et al. 2002
banana	Colletotrichum musae (HB) Mycosphaerella fijiensis (N)	n.r.	PAL, POX, PPO, catalase, β-1,3-glucanase, chitinas	e Tally et al. 1999; Zhu & Ma 2007
barley	Blumeria graminis f. sp. hordei (B)	0.3	putative calcium binding EF-hand protein, homologues of receptor-like kinase, ATP-binding	Wiese et al. 2003; Jansen et al. 2005
			Clp-protease regulatory subunit, WIR1B	
bean	Colletotrichum lindemuthianum (HB) Uromvces avvendiculatus (B)	0.0001- 1	H ₂ O ₂ , POX, lignin	Bigirimana & Höfte 2002; Iriti & Faoro 2003
calla lily	Pectobacterium carotovorum (Bac)	0.005	n.a.	Luzzatto et al. 2007
cashew	Colletotrichum gloeosporioides (HB)	0.07	n.a.	Lopez & Lucas 2002
cauliflower	Peronospora parasitica (B)	0.2	n.a.	Godard et al. 1999
chilipepper	Colletotrichum sp. (HB)	n.r.	n.a.	Tally et al. 1999
cocoa	n.a.	2.0	caffeine, 74 different mRNAs	Aneja & Gianfagna 2001; Verica et al. 2004
coffee	n.a.	0.3	55 genes up-regulated and 16 down-regulated	De Nardi et al. 2006
cotton	Alternaria macrospora (N) Verticillium dahliae (N) Venthomore commercie (Bao)	0.15	β-1,3-glucanase	Colson-Hanks & Deverall 2000a; Colson-Hanks et al. 2000b
	Authnomonus cumpestris (Dac)	÷		
cowpea	Colletotrichum destructivum (HB)	0.1	PAL, CH1, ISOTIavonoids, Iow molecular weight PR- proteins	· Latunde-Dada & Lucas 2001
cucumber	Cladosporium cucumerinum (B)	0.01-1.5	PR-1a, PR-8, three other mRNAs, chitinase, POX	Benhamou & Belanger 1998b; Ishii
	Colletotrichum lagenarium (HB) Colletotrichum orbiculare (HB) Phytophthora capsici (HB)			et al. 1999; Narusaka et al. 1999; Cools & Ishii 2002; Bovie et al. 2004; Khan et al. 2004
cvclamen	Pythium ultimum (N) Eusarium oxysnorum f. sn. cyclaminis (N)	0.2	n a.	Elmer 2006
grapevine	Botrytis cinerea (N)	0.3	promithocyanidins, anthocyanins, stilbens, amino acids	Iriti et al. 2005
lettuce	Bremia lactucae (B)	n.r.	n.a.	Tally et al. 1999
maize	Peronosclerospora sorghi (B)	1.2	PR-1. PR-5	Morris et al. 1998

Tabl	e 1. Continued.			
Plant	Efficacy against Pathogens ^a	BTH	BTH-induced mRNA/proteins/metabolites	Reference
species		mM ^b		
melon	Didymella bryoniae (N) Podosphaera xanthii (B)	0.1	chitinase, POX	Buzi et al. 2004; Bokshi et al. 2006
	Pseudoperonospora cubensis (B)			
oileaad rana	Scierotinia scierotiorum (N) L'antombrania magulaus (N)	1	DD 1	Borras at al. 2003
papaya	Phytophthora palmivora (HB)	0.005-	chitinase, β-1,3-glucanase, NPR1, PR-1b,d; PR-4, 2-	4 Zhu et al. 2003; Qiu et al. 2004
		0.5	other mRNAs	
pea	Mycosphaerella pinodes (N)	0.09-	β-1,3-glucanase, chitinase	Dann & Deverall 2000
	Uromyces viciae-fabae (B)			
peach	Penicillium expansum (N)	0.45	PAL, PPO, POX, SOD, total phenolics, H ₂ O ₂	Liu et al. 2005
pear	Alternaria alternata (N)	0.3 - 0.9	PAL, POX, PPO, chitinase, β -1,3-glucanase,	Ishii et al. 1999; Sparla et al. 2004;
	Erwinia amylovora (Bac)		glutathione reductase, H ₂ O ₂	Cao & Jiang 2006
	Gymnosporangium asiaticum (B)			
	Penicillium expansum (N)			
	Venturia nashicola (HB)			
pearl millet	Sclerospora graminicola (B)	0.2 - 2.0	n.a.	Geetha & Shetty 2002
pepper	Phytophthora capsici (HB)	0.1 - 0.3	n.a.	Romero et al. 2001; Matheron &
	Xanthomonas sp. (Bac)			Porchas 2002
potato	Alternaria solani (N)	0.1 - 0.4	3-1,3-glucanase, PR-1	Bokshi et al. 2003; Navarre & Mayo
	Erysiphe cichoracearum (B)			2004
	Fusarium semitectum (N)			
rice	Magnaporthe grisea (N)	0.004	lipoxygenase	Schweizer et al. 1999; Babu et al.
	Xanthomonas oryzae pv. oryzae (Bac)			2003
rose	Diplocarpon rosae (HB)	0.05	PR-1, PR-2, PR-3, PR-5	Suo & Leung 2002
soybean	Sclerotinia sclerotiorum (N)	0.16-1.7	'n.a.	Dann et al. 1998
spinach	Albugo occidentalis (B)	n.r.	n.a.	Leskovar & Kolenda 2002
strawberry	Botrytis cinerea (N)	1.0-9.0	n.a.	Terry & Joyce 2000; Eikemo et al.
	Phytophthora cactorum (HB)	0.04-4.5		2003
	Phytophthora fragariae var. fragariae (HB)			
sugarcane	Colletotrichum falcatum (HB)	0.45	PR-5, chitinase, β -1,3-glucanase, total phenolics	Ramesh Sundar et al. 2001

Kuopio Univ. Publ. C. Nat. and Environ. Sci. 230: 1-98 (2008)

Tabl	le 1. Continued.				
Plant species	Efficacy against Pathogens ^a	BTH mM ^b	B BTH-induced mRNA/proteins/metabolites	Reference	
sunflower	Orobanche cumana (weed) Plasmopara halstedii (B) Puccinia helianhi (B)	0.05- 0.18	scopoletin, H ₂ O ₂ , chitinase, POX	Sauerborn et al. 2002; Roldán Serrano et al. 2007; Amzalek & Cohen 2007	
tall fescue	Bipolaris sorokiniana (HB)	0.3	POX	Kilic-Ekici & Yuen 2004	
tobacco	Alternaria alternata (N) Cercospora nicotianae (N)	1.0-2.2	PR-1a,b; PR-2, PR-3, PR-4, PR-5, acidic and basic chitinase. basic glucanase. POX. ribonuclease.	Friedrich et al. 1996; Cole 1999; Csinos et al. 2001: Šindelářova et al.	
	Erwinia carotovora (Bac)		phosphomonoesterase, phosphodiesterase, glucose-6-	2002; Perez et al. 2003; Achuo et al.	
	Oidium neolycopersici (B) Demonstrate taharina (B)		phosphate dehydrogenase	2004	
	Phytophthora parasitica var. nicotianae (HB)				
	Pseudomonas syringae pv. tabaci (Bac)				T .
	Thanatephorus cucumeris (N)				
	tobacco mosaic virus				
	tomato spotted wilt virus				. 0
tomato	Alternaria solani (N)	0.007-	H_2O_2 , POX, lycopene	Lawton et al. 1996; Tally et al. 1999;	
	Botrytis cinerea (N)	1.5		Benhamou & Bélanger 1998a; Inbar	
	Cladosporium fulvum (B)			et al. 1998; Anfoka 2000; Louws et	
	Clavibacter michiganensis f. sp.			al. 2001; Baysal et a 2003; Achuo	
	michiganensis (Bac)			et al. 2004; Małolepsza 2006;	
	cucumber mosaic virus			Hacisalihoglu et al. 2007; Iriti et al.	
	Fusarium oxysporum f. sp. radicis-			2007	
	lycopersici (N)				
	Phytophthora infestans (HB)				
	Pseudomonas syringae pv. tomato (Bac)				
	Ralstonia solanacearum (B)				
	Xanthomonas sp. (Bac)				
wheat	Blumeria graminis f. sp. tritici (B)	0.3	lipoxygenase, cysteine proteinase, three other	Görlach et al. 1996; Stadnik &	
	Puccinia recondita (B) Sentoria tritici (JB)		proteins (WCI), PAL, POX, 24 different mRNA including DD 1a b. DD 2 hydroxyoinnemic soids	Buchenauer 2000; Pasquer et al.	
^a The table behaviour: BTH is ex phenylalan	<i>Septema muct</i> (III) was compiled using the data published B, biotrophic; HB, hemibiotrophic; N, ne pressed as active ingredient (50% fo ine ammonialyase; POX, peroxidase;	until No crotrophi rrmulatio PPO, p	uncurung TN-Ta,0, TN-2, nyuroxycumature actus vember 2007. ^b Fungal pathogenesis c. Bac, bacterium. ^c Concentration of 1). CHI, chalcone isomerase; PAL, olyphenoloxidase; SOD, superoxide	C007	
uisiliuldae,					

31

The second class of changes relates to the accumulation of soluble or cell-wallbound secondary metabolites such as phenylpropanoids (phenolics) and callose (Benhamou & Bélanger 1998b; Stadnik & Buchenauer 2000; Iriti et al. 2005). Although the level of such compounds may increase in the whole leaf or plant, more often the accumulation is located at the site of pathogen penetration (Benhamou & Bélanger 1998b; Stadnik & Buchenauer 2000). The role of phenolics in BTH-induced resistance to powdery mildew was evidenced in wheat by using an inhibitor of phenylalanine ammonialyase (PAL), the central enzyme required for the synthesis of various phenylpropanoids (Figure 3) (Stadnik & Buchenauer 2000). PAL-inhibited plants could not develop resistance otherwise induced by BTH. Additionally, enzymes of the phenylpropanoid pathway such as PAL and chalcone isomerase show enhanced activities after BTH treatment, demonstrating the activation of the pathway (Latunde-Dada & Lucas 2001; Zhu & Ma 2007). Accumulation of some familyspecific secondary compounds also occurs after BTH treatment, e.g. resveratrol in grapevine, lycopene in tomato and caffeine in cocoa (Aneja & Gianfagna 2001; Iriti et al. 2005; Iriti et al. 2007). On the other hand, some secondary metabolites are linked to JA/ethylene-mediated rather than SA-mediated defence. For example, alkaloids and volatile terpenes are typically JA-inducible (Keinänen et al. 2001; Martin et al. 2003a). However, no clear boundaries exist in the classification of secondary compounds as SA- or JA-inducible and different signals may induce different members of the same class of compounds (Mikkelsen et al. 2003). Interestingly, many of these plant defence compounds may also have protective function against human diseases (Hooper & Cassidy 2006). This may invoke novel strategies to improve the nutritional quality of crops simply through standard plant protection practices (Fumagalli et al. 2006).

Besides secondary metabolism, activation of broad-spectrum defence by SAR inducers affects the primary metabolism. Consequently, slower vegetative growth or smaller crop yield has often, but not always, been detected as a side effect of BTH application in uninfected plants (Godard et al. 1999; Dietrich et al. 2005). Likewise, pathogen- or elicitor-induced defence redirects plant metabolism to the production of secondary compounds while nonessential primary metabolism is suppressed (Somssich & Hahlbrock 1998). In general, the trade-off between growth and defence by phenolics has been recognised e.g. in tree species, where high nitrogen levels directs the metabolism to growth and less phenolics are synthesized (Hakulinen et al. 1995). Similarly, the available nutrients, length of the growing period and BTH concentration can affect the extent of growth retardation by BTH (Dietrich et al. 2005; van Hulten et al. 2006).

When more elegant and efficient profiling methods have become available, more information about BTH- and pathogen-induced changes in plant metabolism is emerging (Pasquer et al. 2005; Curto et al. 2006). By combining these data with the analysis of resistance, it might be possible to identify the proteins critical to resistance against certain type of pathogens as well as to construct an informative general view about plant metabolism in induced resistance.

2.5 Inorganic salts in plant protection

2.5.1 Chemical inducers of resistance

A wide variety of natural or synthetic compounds can elicit defence responses in plants. Besides SA and its analogues, other organic compounds such as signalling molecules JA, MeJA and ethylene, unsaturated fatty acids, β -aminobutyric acid, chitosan, nicotinamide, probenazole, harpin and riboflavin have resistance-inducing activity against some pathogens (reviewed e.g. by Schneider et al. 1996; Oostendorp et al. 2001; Gozzo 2003). Among inorganic compounds, salts of phosphoric acid and phosphorous acid, bicarbonates, calcium chloride, silica and oxalates give a similar type of effect (Schneider et al. 1996; Oostendorpet al. 2001; Ehret et al. 2002). A common characteristic of organic inducers capable of inducing defence responses in plants is that they are either of microbial origin, plant-derived molecules released by microbes, or various signalling compounds or their derivatives whereas the basis for resistance induced by inorganic salts seems more uncertain. Nevertheless, some of these compounds are not classical SAR inducers as they induce only partial response, the response is not systemic or they also show direct antimicrobial activity. One interesting class of compounds, which has shown efficacy particularly against biotrophic diseases, is the salts of phosphorus. Benefits in using them in plant protection include their low toxicity, low price and fertilizing capacity.

2.5.2 Phosphates versus phosphites

Two types of phosphorus salts have been exploited in plant protection. Phosphoric acid (H_3PO_4) forms phosphate salts whereas phosphorous acid (H_3PO_3) forms phosphite salts (also called as phosphonates), the difference being in the oxidation state (III or V) of phosphorus (**Figure 6**). This seemingly small difference results in quite distinct properties of phosphates versus phosphites.

Phosphates are used as fertilizers and principal source of phosphorus for plants in agriculture, but in some cases, when given as a foliar spray, disease resistance of plants is improved. Mono- and dibasic potassium phosphates, KH₂PO₄ and K₂HPO₄, have shown efficacy against e.g. powdery mildews on barley, cucumber, pepper, and tomato (Blumeria graminis f. sp. hordei, Sphaerotheca fuliginea, Leveillula taurica, and Erysiphe oronti, respectively), anthracnose (Colletotrichum lagenarium) on cucumber, rust (Puccinia sorgi) and leaf blight (Exserohilum turcicum) on maize and rice blast (Pyricularia oryzae) (Reuveni et al. 1996; Reuveni et al. 1998; Manandhar et al. 1998; Reuveni et al. 2000; Ehret et al. 2002; Orober et al. 2002). Phosphates are not toxic to pathogens, implying that the observed enhancement of resistance is due to the activation of plant defence. This is also supported by the systemic nature of protection and SAR-related changes observed in cucumber and barley after phosphate treatment, i.e. localized cell death, oxidative burst, local and systemic accumulation of SA and increased activities of PAL, lipoxygenase and peroxidase (Reuveni et al. 1998; Reuveni et al. 2000; Orober et al. 2002; Mitchell & Walters 2004). Orober et al. (2002) suggested that the ability of phosphates and other SAR-inducing



Figure 6. Formation of (A) potassium phosphate salts from phosphoric acid, (B) phosphonic acid from phosphorous acid in water (tautomeric equilibrium), and (C) potassium phosphite salts and aluminium ethylphosphonate (Aliette) from phosphonate ions. By substituting hydrogen with potassium or other alkali metal ions, pH of the solution can be elevated. For example, phosphonic acid is too acidic to be tolerated by plants.

compounds to induce SAR relates to their ability to generate HR. What triggers the initiation of HR and upstream events leading to HR remains, however, ambiguous (Orober et al. 2002). Phosphates have shown efficacy mostly against powdery mildew fungi, which are sensitive even to free water and surfactants (Peries 1962a; Ehret et al. 2002). Thus, the direct influence of phosphates on powdery mildews cannot yet be excluded.

In contrast to phosphates, plants cannot use phosphites as a phosphorus source unless soil microbes convert them to phosphates (McDonald et al. 2001). The efficacy against phytopathogens is also different from that of phosphates, since phosphites are efficient mainly against oomycete pathogens. In fact, phosphites have been used in plant protection against downy mildews and *Phytophthora* species already for thirty years (Cohen & Coffey 1986). The most studied and widely used product is Aliette (Bayer), the active ingredient of which (fosetyl-Al) also breaks down to phosphite in plants (**Figure 6**). Again, the mode of action of phosphites is not fully understood, but evidence obtained thus far indicates that two distinct mechanisms exist. Firstly, phosphorous acid and phosphites have direct antimicrobial activity on oomycetes (Fenn & Coffey 1984; Smillie et al. 1989). Earlier studies showed the accumulation of pyrophosphates and polyphosphates in *Phytophthora* Review of the literature

after phosphite treatment. This can deplete ATP from other processes, inhibit pyrophosphatase activity and thus lead to phosphate starvation and reduced growth of the pathogen (Niere et al. 1994). However, high levels of inorganic phosphate present may counteract the inhibitory effect of phosphites on the growth of *Phytophthora* (Smillie et al. 1989). A study by Stehmann & Grant (2000) indicates that phosphites compete with phosphates as allosteric regulators of several enzymes and thus inhibit e.g. glycolytic enzymes.

Phosphites have also augmented phosphate starvation in plants. This is supported by the finding that phosphite inhibits not only pyrophosphatases but also other enzymes and phosphate transporters (McDonald et al. 2001; Varadarajan et al. 2002). This indicates that phosphites may interfere with phosphate metabolism of plants at least under low-phosphate conditions when there is not enough phosphate to compete with phosphite in binding to plant enzymes. The observed influence of phosphate levels on the action of phosphite on pathogens and plants should guide the design of plant protection and fertilization.

Besides the direct activity on oomycetes, phosphites act indirectly by reinforcing defence reactions in plants. Phosphite treatments induce oxidative burst, HR, PR proteins and accumulation of phenolic compounds (Bécot et al. 2000; Daniel & Guest 2006; Andreu et al. 2006). Further, efficacy of phosphites has shown to depend on SA, NPR1 and the generation of ROS, but not on JA/ethylene (Molina et al. 1998; Daniel & Guest 2006). These findings suggest the activation of SA-mediated SAR pathway although phosphites are not pure SAR inducers due to their direct antimicrobial activity discussed above.

2.6 Phenolic compounds in defence against phytopathogens

2.6.1 Nature of phenolics

The synthesis of phenylpropanoids, or shortly phenolics, takes place via the shikimate pathway as presented for SA (**Figure 3**). The branch point enzyme, PAL, regulates the synthesis of the whole group of compounds including anthocyanins, flavonols, hydroxycinnamic acids and lignin, flavan-3-ols and condensed tannins, isoflavonoids, flavanones, flavones, chalcones, aurones and stilbenes (Dixon & Paiva 1995; Winkel-Shirley 2002). Most of the downstream enzymes leading to the synthesis of various phenolics have been characterized. There is an enormous variation in the form of various aglycones, the conjugates and polymerization products, but the significance of this variation is not clear. Phenolics are probably synthesised on the endoplasmic reticulum and then translocated into vacuoles, particularly in the epidermal cells, or in the cell walls and cuticular waxes (Alcerito et al. 2002; Kutchan 2005; Field et al. 2006). Phenolics are present in all plants, some classes being common to most species while the others are family- or species-specific. The wide occurrence of phenolics suggests an important role in the survival of plants.

The suggested main role of phenolics is in both constitutive and induced defence against stresses such as pathogens, insects, UV and high light radiation, low

Kuopio Univ. Publ. C. Nat. and Environ. Sci. 230: 1-98 (2008)

temperatures, low nutrient levels and wounding (Dixon & Paiva 1995; Parr & Bolwell 2000). However, phenolics may also be involved in the attraction of pollinators, seed distributors and symbiotic bacteria, in the signalling, in pollen germination, and in the regulation of auxin transport, suggesting a role in the developmental regulation as well (Parr & Bolwell 2000; Taylor & Grotewold 2005). A specific characteristic of many phenylpropanoids is their high antioxidant activity, which has led to extensive research on their potential health-promoting capacity in humans (Parr & Bolwell 2000; Ross & Kasum 2002). Phenolic metabolism is not activated via any specific signalling cascade and, for example, stimuli capable of activating SA-mediated (e.g. biotrophs, UV) or JA/ethylene-mediated (e.g. wounding, insects) signalling may induce the synthesis of phenolics.

2.6.2 Phenolics in Rosaceae

Several fruit-bearing species, including small fruit plants (e.g. raspberry, arctic bramble, cloudberry and strawberry) as well as fruit trees (apple, apricot, cherry and plum) belong to the large and diverse Rosaceae family. Phenolic compounds of rosaceous fruit species have usually been analysed from edible plant parts due to the interest in their nutritional properties whereas leaf phenolics have been measured only in a few studies. Typical phenolic classes present in rosaceous plants are ellagitannins and gallic acid derivatives, anthocyanins, flavonols, hydroxycinnamic acids and some other phenolic acids such as SA, and, to a lesser extent, mono/polymeric proanthocyanidins (Määttä-Riihinen et al. 2004; Aaby et al. 2007). **Figure 7** shows structures of some typical phenolic compounds identified in strawberry fruits (Aaby et al. 2007). The significance of phenolics in the diseases of rosaceous plants is not substantially studied. In the following paragraphs, the role of soluble and cell-wallbound phenolics in defence against plant pathogens is discussed based on the investigations done mostly on other plant species.

2.6.3 Phenolics related to defence against pathogens

Phenolics may be present constitutively in plants or synthesised only as a response to stresses such as attacks by pathogens. Constitutively present soluble secondary defence compounds, termed phytoanticipins, are usually stored as active or inactive forms in vacuoles. They can be liberated and transferred to the site of infection by vesicle trafficking or by ATP-binding cassette and multidrug/toxic compound extrusion transporter proteins (Dixon & Paiva 1995; Field et al. 2006). Attacks by necrotrophic pathogens often leads to cell death and release of defensive compounds due to the loss of cell compartmentalization. Inducible defence compounds, termed phytoalexins, are synthesised *de novo* only as a response to infection or other stress and may be directly transported to the location where they are needed (Dixon & Paiva 1995; Treutter 2006).

Although the exact mode of action of different phenolics against phytopathogens is largely unknown, evidence indicates that phenolics can disturb microbes in several ways (Dixon & Paiva 1995; Cowan 1999; Goetz et al. 1999; Grace & Logan 2000; Treutter 2006). Phenolics may crosslink with proteins and


Figure 7. Representative structures of phenolic compounds found in strawberry.

polysaccharides in the cell walls to strengthen the wall against microbial hydrolysing enzymes. Phenolics may bind to proteins and, directly or via chelation of cofactors/substrates, inhibit the hydrolysing enzymes or other proteins of pathogens. By reacting with lipids and phospholipids, phenolics can disturb the membranes of pathogens, which cause increased permeability of membranes and collapse of the microbial cell. Some phenolics function as signalling molecules, SA being the bestknown compound. Most phenolics are strong antioxidants and may act in the adaptation to oxidative stress caused by the infection rather than directly affecting the pathogen.

Several conditions should be met to prove the involvement of phenolics or other compounds in the defence against pathogens (Hammerschmidt 1999; Dixon 2001; Treutter 2006). Traditionally, rapid accumulation of a compound at antimicrobial concentrations in response to infection, leading to the restriction of infection and improved resistance, evidences that the compound is a phytoalexin. Additionally, the response is often faster and stronger in the resistant cultivars. Antimicrobial activity and effective concentration can also be determined for pure compounds *in vitro*. Another indication of the harmful nature to the microbe is the detoxification of the plant metabolite by the virulent pathogen (Osbourn 1999). Finally, by changing the activity of a specific metabolic pathway in the plant, its significance in the defence

can be evaluated. There are a number of mutants and genetically modified plants with increased or decreased amounts of secondary compounds, showing improved or lowered tolerance to pathogens, respectively (Dixon & Paiva 1995; Hammerschmidt 1999; Dixon 2001). However, it is difficult to draw conclusions about the functions of individual phenolics due to the very high number of variable structures present in plants. Only a small difference in the structure may change the chemical or physiological activity and a compound may have different functions in different conditions or plant species, for example, being phytoanticipin in one plant species and phytoalexin in another one (Dixon 2001).

2.6.4 Anthocyanins

Anthocyanins, i.e. glycosides of anthocyanidin aglycones, are responsible for the red and blue colours of fruits. The main anthocyanidins are cyanidin, delphinidin, pelargonidin (Figure 7), peonidin, petunidin and malvidin (Clifford 2000). Based on the current literature, anthocyanins appear to have a role in plant defence in the adaptation to abiotic stresses, particularly to UV and high light radiation, whereas their contribution to disease resistance may be fairly limited (Dixon & Paiva 1995; Edreva 2005). Supporting this, inoculation with non-pathogenic fungus represses the light-induced synthesis of anthocyanins in sorghum and directs the metabolism to the synthesis of deoxyanthocyanidins instead of anthocyanidins (Lo & Nicholson 1998). Deoxyanthocyanidins lacking the hydroxyl group of the central aromatic ring present in anthocyanidins are present in apple, but not in rosaceous small fruit species. Accumulation of anthocyanins in the proximity to the infection site has been detected in maize and cotton but, in both cases, the role of anthocyanins were suggested to be in the protection from oxidative stress induced during the infection rather than in restricting the growth of the pathogen (Hipskind et al. 1996; Kangatharalingam et al. 2002). This might be a common response against oxidative stress related to the generation of ROS during pathogen attack, since anthocyanins are often responsible for the purple-coloured lesions found in many plant diseases. Genetically modified rice with elevated levels of anthocyanins has higher resistance to blast infection, but other flavonoids such as flavonols may also have influenced the development of resistance (Gandikota et al. 2001). Taken together, the function of anthocyanins in plants may not lie in the direct defence against pathogens, but in the defence against oxidative and photo-oxidative damage.

2.6.5 Flavonols

Flavonols, which are synthesised prior to anthocyanins in the phenylpropanoid pathway, occur as mono- di- or triglycosides of various sugars in many plant species. Quercetin (**Figure 7**) and kaempferol are the most common aglycones, myricetin occurring in some species. The aglycones differ by the number of hydroxyl groups. There is strong evidence that flavonols, similarly to anthocyanins, function as antioxidants and photoprotectants (Lois & Buchanan 1994; Edreva 2005). In contrast to anthocyanins, flavonols may also have a role in the defence against pathogens. Flavonols often occur constitutively at certain levels in plants. The basal level may be

Review of the literature

increased under stress conditions, but in some cases, flavonols are also synthesised de novo as a response to infection. Fawe et al. (1998) reported the accumulation of antifungal rhamnetin (methyl quercetin) in cucumber after infection by powdery mildew fungus Sphaerotheca fuliginea; this is the first report on flavonols as phytoalexins. Later findings showed that flavonoids accumulate in the epidermal cells attacked by the fungus and inside haustoria, thus likely contributing to the collapse of the pathogen (McNally et al. 2003). Further evidence about flavonols and other flavonoids as defence compounds in cucumber was achieved by Fofana et al. (2005), who reported the suppression of induced resistance to powdery mildew as a consequence of down-regulating the flavonoid pathway. The accumulation of flavonols after infection also occurs in olive infected with *Phytophthora megasperma* and Cylindrocarpon destructans and in carnation infected with Fusarium oxysporum f. sp. dianthi (Curir et al. 2005; Báidez et al. 2006). Another indication of the function in defence is the higher/faster accumulation of flavonols or enzymes leading to their synthesis in resistant versus susceptible cultivars, as detected e.g. in grapevine (Kortekamp 2006). Finally, flavonols have shown in vitro activity against microbes of both plant and animal origin although the activity varies among the aglycones (Puupponen-Pimiä et al. 2001; Báidez et al. 2006). Flavonols can also inhibit fungal enzymes (Goetz et al. 1999). In some cases, flavonols can function as attractants of beneficial symbiotic fungi or bacteria, but also of pathogenic micro-organisms (Mo et al. 1995; Lagrange et al. 2001). Despite the rather high number of studies conducted on flavonols, only few of them have proposed the mode of action for flavonols.

2.6.6 Ellagitannins

In contrast to other phenolic groups introduced in this chapter, gallic acid and its derivatives are present only in some plant families, including Rosaceae. Actually, gallic acid is, similarly to SA, not a phenylpropanoid, but hydroxylated benzoic acid (Figure 3). It is synthesized in the shikimate pathway from dehydroshikimate prior to PAL and can be regulated differently from the phenylpropanoids (Ossipov et al. 2003). Gallic acid may occur as bislactone, ellagic acid (Figure 7). Gallic acid and its oxidatively C-C coupled dimer, hexahydroxydiphenic acid (HHDP), form polymeric structures with glucose, which are called ellagitannins (Quideau & Feldman 1996). HHDP also undergoes conversion to ellagic acid once released from the polymers. Variations in the composition and number of subunits, stereochemistry of HHDP and glucose units, and the type of coupling between subunits and monomeric tannins creates an extremely high number of different gallo- and ellagitannins. Gallic acid and HHDP unit may be connected by esterification to the hydroxyl groups of glucose units (Figure 7) or they may be directly linked with each other via oxidative C-O coupling, as detected e.g. in dehydrodigalloyl or sanguisorboyl ester units between two gallic acids or gallic acid and HHDP, respectively (Quideau & Feldman 1996).

Very limited information is available about the function of ellagitannins in plant defence against pathogens. Antimicrobial activity of ellagitannins has been proved *in vitro* against bacteria, fungi as well as viruses, but most often animal/human pathogens have been used (Cowan 1999; Puupponen-Pimiä et al. 2001). Latté &

Anne Hukkanen: Chemically induced resistance in strawberry and arctic bramble

Kolodziej (2000) found ellagitannins ineffective against moulds, but active against yeast. A well-known property of gallo- and ellagitannins is the binding and precipitation of proteins. Gallo- and ellagitannins may inhibit herbivory by affecting the degradability of plant tissue, by inhibiting digestive enzymes or by giving rise to toxic hydrolysis products (Bhat 1998; Makkar 2003). For example, high contents of gallotannins decrease larval feeding on birch leaves (Ossipov et al. 2001). Considering phytopathogens, ellagitannins accumulate in microbe-resistant reaction zones in Eucalyptus nitens (Barry et al. 2001). Excluding the woody species, no evidence is available about the function of ellagitannins as phytoalexins or phytoanticipins, but there are some indications that gallic acid and its derivatives provide resistance against pathogens. The levels of gallic acid derivatives have increased in phytoplasma-infected Catharanthus roseus (periwinkle) (Choi et al. 2004). Gallic acid and methyl gallate have also been isolated as antifungal constituents from Rhus javanica, where antifungal activity was demonstrated against biotrophs (Erysiphe graminis and Puccinia recondita) and necrotrophs (Botrytis cinerea, Magnaporthe grisea) (Ahn et al. 2005). Furthermore, the fungi and bacteria which have a tannase to degrade gallo- and ellagitannins show higher virulence in plants, indicating a defensive role for tannins (Bhat et al. 1998). Tannase activity has not been reported, if even studied, to be present in any biotrophic phytopathogens while its presence has been demonstrated in some necrotrophic species such as Fusarium, Aspergillus and Rhizopus (Bhat et al. 1998). No firm conclusions can be drawn yet concerning the functions of ellagitannins in plant defence against pathogens. However, antimicrobial, antioxidant and protein-binding capacity of galloand ellagitannins suggest a protective role in plants. A question remains why such high numbers of different ellagitannin structures are present in plants.

2.6.7 Flavan-3-ols and proanthocyanidins

Flavan-3-ols are synthesised in the phenylpropanoid pathway from flavan-3,4-diols (leucoanthocyanidins), the precursors of anthocyanins (Winkel-Shirley 2002; Dixon et al. 2005). Flavan-3-ol monomers are (+)-catechin (**Figure 7**), (-)-epicatechin, (+)-gallocatechin, (-)-epigallocatechin, (+)-afzelechin and (-)-epiafzelechin, which usually occur in free form (Dixon et al. 2005). If conjugated, gallic acid and glucose are the most common conjugates. Monomers can polymerise and form proanthocyanidins, i.e. condensed tannins, the length of which varies from dimers to large polymers consisting of more than ten monomeric units. The alterations in stereochemistry, subunit composition and ways to polymerise provide for a variety of different molecules. Acid hydrolysis of polymers. Flavan-3-ols or their polymers are commonly found in most plant species, but their amount in strawberry and *Rubus* fruits and leaves is low (Oertel et al. 2001; Määttä-Riihinen et al. 2004; Aaby et al. 2007).

The most important function of monomeric and polymeric flavan-3-ols concerns the defence against pathogens and herbivores (Dixon et al. 2005). Monomers are active against bacteria and fungi, the activity possibly deriving from

Review of the literature

the property to bind metal ions (Cowan 1999; Gonzalez de Colmenares et al. 1998; Dixon et al. 2005). Flavan-3-ols also possess high antioxidant activity (Plumb et al. 1998). Polymers, similarly to ellagitannins, bind efficiently to proteins. High content of monomeric or polymeric catechins or epicatechins may provide resistance against fungal pathogens in e.g. avocado, cocoa, raspberry, and tea, which contains high amounts of (+)-catechin and its derivatives (Laun et al. 1994, Ardi et al. 1998; Punyasiri et al. 2005; Chaves & Gianfagna 2007). (+)-Catechin has also been identified as the antimicrobial component in strawberry leaves and its level increases during infection by Alternaria alternata (Yamamoto et al. 2000). Negative correlation between herbivory by insects or animals and the content of proanthocyanidins have been observed in some cases, but contradictory results have also been recorded (Grayer et al. 1992; Ward & Young 2002; Tikkanen & Julkunen-Tiitto 2003; Makkar 2003). Herbivores can affect the activity of tannins by secreting tannin-binding protein in saliva, which detoxifies tannins (Juntheikki 1996). In conclusion, flavan-3-ols as monomers, oligomers or polymers seem to be important for the defence against pathogens and herbivores in many plants, particularly if present in high concentrations.

2.6.8 Hydroxycinnamic acids

Hydroxycinnamic acids include *p*-coumaric, caffeic, ferulic and sinapic acids. Hydroxycinnamic acids are synthesised from p-coumaric acid early in the phenylpropanoid pathway. Hydroxycinnamic acids occur usually as conjugates with various other molecules such as sugars (Figure 7), quinic acid, amides, lipids and flavonoids, and are found in some form in most plant species (Clifford 1999). One significant role of hydroxycinnamic acids in plants is probably in the protection from UV radiation since they can act as antioxidants and absorb UV light (Grace & Logan 2000; Edreva 2005). Hydroxycinnamic acids are also among the most studied phenylpropanoids in terms of plant pathogen resistance. Hydroxycinnamic acids show antimicrobial activity in vitro and they accumulate as phytoalexins in many plant-pathogen interactions (Daayf et al. 1997; Sander & Heitefuss 1998; Walters et al. 2001; Puupponen-Pimiä et al. 2001; Daayf et al. 2003; Bisogno et al. 2007). Genetically modified tobacco with decreased levels of phenylpropanoids and specifically chlorogenic acid (caffeoylquinic acid) showed higher susceptibility against Cercospora nicotianae (Maher et al. 1994). As presented for flavonols, different hydroxycinnamic acids show distinct activities. Bisogno et al. (2007) found that only ferulic acid was antifungal against Aspergillus sp. while coumaric acids and caffeic acid had no effect on the fungal growth. Similarly, p-coumaroylhydroxyagmatine, but not its nonhydroxylated form, acts as an antifungal phytoalexin against powdery mildew in barley (Röpenack et al. 1998). Consequently, no generalisations about the function or activity of individual hydroxycinnamates, or other phenolics as well, can be made because their activity is highly dependent on the particular conditions. However, perhaps the most important function of hydroxycinnamic acids in disease resistance is their crosslinking to the cell walls and acting as precursors for lignin synthesis discussed below.

2.6.9 Cell-wall-bound phenolics

One of the best-established functions of phenolics in the constitutive or induced defence against pathogens is the reinforcement of plant cell walls by crosslinking with other molecules. Cell-wall-associated phenolics may also protect the epidermal cells from UV radiation (Fischbach et al. 1999). Hydroxycinnamic acids, mainly coumaric and ferulic acid, are the principal monomeric phenolics attached to the cell walls (McLusky et al. 1999; Stadnik & Buchenauer 2000; Peyron et al. 2002). Flavonol glycosides, lignin, benzoic acids and benzaldehydes can also serve as constituents of cell walls (Keller et al. 1996; Fischbach et al. 1999; Markham et al. 2000; Martens 2002). The formation of cell walls has been studied mostly on cereals and grasses, where the composition of cell wall has impact e.g. on industrial processing, on the quality of dietary fibre for humans and on the digestion in the ruminants. Ferulic acid is the main cell-wall-bound phenolic in grasses. Through the generation of H₂O₂, peroxidases may cause the formation of ferulic acid radicals, which couple to dehydrodimers (Ralph et al. 2004). Short chains of polysaccharides and lignin are linked via acylation to these ferulic acid dehydrodimers to generate a complex network. The p-coumaric acid is not likely to form dehydrodimers, as it undergoes fast radical transfer reactions with other phenolics, but it may crosslink to lignin and polysaccharides by photochemical dimerisation. Etherified ferulates may be more common than etherified *p*-coumarates, but more information is needed to efficiently separate ester- and ether-linked hydroxycinnamates extracted from the cell walls (Ralph et al. 2004). Type of the bond influences the resistance of cell walls and the extractability of the compounds. It is unclear how the phenolics other than hydroxycinnamates are bound to the cell walls.

Pathogen attack and induction of plant defence may lead to the modification of cell walls and the accumulation of specific appositions (papillae), which contain callose, proteins, H_2O_2 and phenolics (Hückelhoven 2007). Particularly, the rapid formation of papillae appears to be critical for the development of resistance against the penetration of biotrophic fungi (Dai et al. 1995; Stadnik & Buchenauer 2000; Hückelhoven 2007). Papillae may also form in susceptible plants, but the response may be too slow to stop the pathogen. A high number of microscopic studies have shown the accumulation of phenolic material at the site of infection and around the invading fungus, the growth of which is ceased (Dai et al. 1995; Dai et al. 1996; Benhamou & Nicole 1999; McLusky et al. 1999; Stadnik & Buchenauer 2000). Increased amounts of alkali-hydrolysable phenolics, usually hydroxycinnamic acids, have been measured in the cell walls of infected plants (Keller et al. 1996; McLusky et al. 1999; Stadnik & Buchenauer 2000). In barley, cell walls become more resistant to alkali treatments during infection by powdery mildew, indicating modification in the cell wall composition (Röpenack et al. 1998).

Lignin is a specific phenolic polymer present in the cell walls of plants, which, in addition to its structural function, has also been associated with defence. Lignin is formed by non-enzymatic oxidative polymerisation and is composed of monolignol subunits *p*-coumaryl, coniferyl and sinapyl alcohols synthesised from the corresponding hydroxycinnamic acids (Whetten et al. 1998). The proportions of

Review of the literature

different subunits vary between plant species and conditions. Lignin is highly resistant to degradable enzymes and crosslinking with other phenolics, polysaccharides and proteins further complicate its structure. Lignification of cell walls occurs in many plants during the infection. However, the slow accumulation and contradictory results obtained indicate that lignification is not always required for defence, but might rather be one type of phenolic response to pathogens, which varies among plants (Nicholson & Hammerschmidt 1992; Dai et al. 1995; Dixon & Paiva 1995; Dai et al. 1996; Stadnik & Buchenauer 2000).

AIMS OF THE STUDY

The general aim of this Thesis was to evaluate the efficacy and applicability of induced resistance against powdery mildew of strawberry and downy mildew of arctic bramble and to follow specific defence-related biochemical and chemical changes during the development of resistance.

The aims in the individual studies were to:

- evaluate the efficacy of BTH against powdery mildew in strawberry (I)
- analyse the phenolic contents of leaves and fruits in strawberry after the treatment with BTH and powdery mildew conidia (I)
- develop quantitative real-time PCR method for detection and quantification of downy mildew (*Peronospora sparsa*) in arctic bramble (**II**)
- evaluate the efficacy of different agrochemicals against downy mildew in arctic bramble under greenhouse conditions (**III**)
- analyse the growth of *Peronospora sparsa*, the phenolic content and protein profiles in arctic bramble leaves after the treatment with agrochemicals (**III**, **IV**)

3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Plant and fungal material, experimental design and treatments

3.1.1 Strawberry (I)

For the evaluation of the efficacy of BTH against powdery mildew of strawberry and to analyse possible biochemical changes caused by the BTH treatment in strawberry leaves, two experiments were carried out in the greenhouse of the University of Kuopio. Micropropagated plants of cv. Jonsok were used in the main experiment performed in 2004 while bare-root, cold-stored frigo plants of cv. Jonsok were used in the second experiment in 2005, which was established to obtain fruits for the analysis of phenolic compounds.

All plants were grown in 12–cm pots in a peat-sand mixture (3:1) and fertilised weekly with Superex-9 (Kekkilä, Finland). The growth conditions were as follows: relative humidity 50-70% (night-day), daylight 20-24 h and temperature 17–22 °C (night-day). Before starting the experiments, plants were grown until they had at least three fully developed, normal size leaves. In both experiments, the plants were divided randomly into four different groups (100 plants in each group), which were placed on separate tables to prevent spreading of contamination from the other treatments. Two groups were sprayed with distilled water and the other two groups with 0.8 g/l of BTH (Bion® 50WG, Syngenta) in distilled water until run-off (ca. 5 ml per plant).

Two days after the BTH treatment the strawberry plants were inoculated with powdery mildew (*Sphaerotheca macularis*) conidia by shaking sporulating leaves above the plants. Only one group of water- and BTH-treated plants were inoculated whereas the other two groups were left untreated. Evaluation of spore density was done by calculating conidia fallen on glass plates placed among the plants. From every plant, diseased area was measured (as mm²) from two leaves selected prior to inoculation and the number of powdery mildew patches, infected and healthy leaves were calculated twice a week. Diseased leaves for the inoculation were from cv. Jonsok, on which powdery mildew was maintained by regularly re-inoculating new, young plants.

Strawberry leaves were sampled 0, 2, 4 and 7 days after inoculation i.e. 2, 4, 6 and 9 days after water/BTH treatment. For laboratory analyses, five different plants per treatment per sampling time were randomly selected and from each of those plants, one young, full-size leaf per plant was collected separately in liquid nitrogen. Each plant was sampled only once to avoid an eventual cutting-effect. The samples were stored at -70 °C. Fruits were sampled only in the second experiment in 2005. Ripe fruits from each plant were harvested and weighed separately and stored at -20 °C. After cropping, leaves were cut off and weighed (fresh weight).

3.1.2 Arctic bramble (II-IV)

Arctic bramble cvs Pima and Muuruska were grown in vitro as micropropagated plantlets in MS medium (Murashige & Skoog 1962) containing 0.5 mg/l 6benzylaminopurine, 0.25 mg/l indole-3-butyric acid and 2 ml/l plant preservative mixture (PPMTM) for the development and testing of the quantitative real-time PCR method (II). Mature arctic bramble leaves showing downy mildew symptoms as well as the leaves of cloudberry (Rubus chamaemorus), strawberry and Rubus arcticus subsp. stellatus were obtained from the germplasm of the University of Kuopio between years 2003-2005 (II). Peronospora sparsa was isolated from arctic bramble cv. Pima in 2005, and maintained on detached leaves of micropropagated arctic bramble on sterile 0.8% water agar plates. The quickest and most abundant sporulation was obtained at temperatures ≤ 22 °C with daylight period of approximately 15-20 h. The leaves from in vitro-grown plants were detached and placed abaxial surface uppermost on water agar plates. The leaves were inoculated by applying a drop of conidial suspension on the leaves in a sterile hood. The development of infection was followed by calculating sporangiophores under a stereomicroscope every other day. Three parallel samples, each consisting of approximately five in vitro leaves, were collected from cv. Pima and Muuruska on water agar plates 4 and 7 days after inoculation. The samples were stored at -20 °C.

A greenhouse experiment was carried out with cvs Pima and Mespi and a new arctic bramble clone (12B14) in 2007 to evaluate their basal resistance and the efficacy of several agricultural chemicals against downy mildew (Peronospora sparsa) (III). All the plants were propagated vegetatively in the greenhouse and kept dormant below 4 °C until the start of the experiment. Plants were grown in 2 1 pots in peat-sand-vermiculite (14:3:3) under the following conditions: relative humidity 70%, daylight 18 h and temperature 13-18 °C (night-day). Five plants per cultivar were randomly selected for each treatment at the beginning of flowering. The treatments applied for each cultivar are shown in Table 2. The plants were sprayed until run-off and differently treated groups were kept separated for the first 12 h, after which the plants were placed randomly on tables. Prior to inoculation, three leaves were detached from each plant and placed abaxial side up on 0.8% water agar plates for the inoculation. The inoculation on the plates was done as described above (II). In the greenhouse, controlled inoculation with P. sparsa spores was done four days after the chemical treatments. Fresh spores were suspended in sterile water (7 500 spores/ml) with 0.025% surfactant (Silwet Gold, Chemtura) and the mixture was sprayed on all plants until run-off (ca. 2 ml per plant). Relative humidity was raised to 95% after inoculation to facilitate germination of the spores. Symptoms of downy mildew were evaluated in each plant twice a week for one month by counting reddish angular lesions, which usually carried visible sporangiophores on the abaxial side of the leaf. The plants were sampled 0 and 8 days after inoculation i.e. 4 and 12 days after the chemical treatments. Two to three leaves of each plant were collected separately in liquid nitrogen at both sampling points and stored at -70 °C. Of the detached leaves inoculated on water agar plates (five plates per treatment/cultivar), one leaflet per plate was collected 2, 4 and 6 days after the inoculation and stored at -20 °C.

Materials and methods

For protein analyses (IV), cvs Pima and Mespi were grown in a greenhouse as described above for study III. Plants were divided in two groups, one of which was sprayed with distilled water and the other one with 0.6 g/l of BTH at the beginning of flowering. The study (IV) was repeated twice and in the second time only cv. Mespi was used. Three parallel plants were sampled 0, 2, 4, 7 and 11 days after BTH treatment in the first experiment. In the other two studies, sampling was done only 4 days after BTH treatment, which was found to be the point of maximal induction for PR-1 protein.

enticals applied on arctic brainble cui	uvais (m).	
Active ingredient	Concentration	Applied on
		CVS
-	-	Pima, Mespi,
		12B14
benzo-(1,2,3)-thiadiazole-7-	0.005% (w/v)	Pima
carbothioic acid S-methyl ester (BTH)	0.04% (w/v)	Pima, 12B14
fosetyl-aluminum	0.3% (w/v)	Pima, 12B14
tolylfluanid	0.15% (w/v)	Pima
potassium salt of phosphorous acid	0.5% (v/v)	Pima
potassium salt of phosphorous acid	0.4% (v/v)	Pima
salts of phosphorous acid	0.5% (v/v)	Pima, 12B14
potassium, sodium and ammonium	0.4% (v/v)	Pima
salts of phosphorous acid		
	- benzo-(1,2,3)-thiadiazole-7- carbothioic acid S-methyl ester (BTH) fosetyl-aluminum tolylfluanid potassium salt of phosphorous acid potassium salt of phosphorous acid salts of phosphorous acid potassium, sodium and ammonium salts of phosphorous acid	Active ingredientConcentrationActive ingredientConcentrationbenzo-(1,2,3)-thiadiazole-7- carbothioic acid S-methyl ester (BTH)0.04% (w/v) 0.04% (w/v) tolylfluanidfosetyl-aluminum tolylfluanid0.3% (w/v) 0.15% (w/v) potassium salt of phosphorous acid 0.5% (v/v) salts of phosphorous acid 0.5% (v/v) potassium, sodium and ammonium 0.4% (v/v)

Table 2. Agricultural chemicals applied on arctic bramble cultivars (III)

An outdoor experiment was also run with cvs Pima and Mespi in the Research Garden of the University of Kuopio for two successive years in 2004-2005 to evaluate agricultural chemicals against *P. sparsa* spreading naturally from the environment (**IV**). The plants were grown in 20 l plastic boxes, six plants in each. Four of these boxes were used for each treatment. Similarly to the greenhouse experiments, the plants were sprayed with distilled water, 0.6 g/l of BTH, 0.5% (v/v) Farm-Fos-44, 0.5% KH₂PO₄ (w/v) or 0.3% (w/v) Aliette 80WG prior to flowering, but in this experiment the treatments were repeated two more times in approximately ten-day intervals. At the end of the second season, the aerial biomass was collected from each box separately and dry weight was determined. The rhizome from each box was also washed and the fresh weight was determined.

3.1.3 Microscopy of pathogens

Fresh leaves or leaf disks were used for microscopy. For trypan blue staining, the leaves were boiled twice in ethanol-staining mixture (1:2) for 1 min and incubated in the mixture at room temperature for 4 h. The staining mixture consisted of water-glycerin-acetic acid-phenol (1:1:1:1) and 0.05% (w/v) trypan blue. Excess colour was removed by washing in water. Samples were mounted in water-glycerin (2:1).

For aniline blue staining, the leaves were cleared and fixed in ethanol overnight. The samples were washed in water and transferred in phosphate buffer (pH 9) for two hours, after which they were transferred into 0.005% aniline blue in phosphate buffer and mounted in the stain on the slides. For some samples, 1/30 vol. of fluorescence

brightener (Sigma) stock solution (0.1% in Tris-HCl, pH8.8) was added.

3.2 Extraction and analysis of phenolic compounds

3.2.1 Extraction of soluble phenolics (I, III)

Soluble phenolic compounds were extracted from the leaves with 70% acetone. Five parallel samples per treatment were prepared, each sample representing one separate plant/leaf. Frozen leaves were weighed (leaf weights varied between 0.5-1.0 g fw for strawberry and 0.1-0.2 g fw for arctic bramble) and extracted three times for 1 min with 2-5 ml of 70% acetone in water by an Ultra-Turrax homogeniser. After centrifugation at $5000 \times g$ for 5 min, the supernatants were combined. Acetone was evaporated in a vacuum centrifuge at room temperature immediately (I) or, for arctic bramble extracts, the samples were stored in acetone at -20 °C and acetone was evaporated prior to HPLC after the storage (III). After evaporation, the concentrate was adjusted to 4 ml (III) or 5 ml (I) with distilled water. 1.25 ml of methanol was added in the strawberry extracts (I), which were stored in water-methanol at -20 °C then.

Phenolics and soluble solids from fruits (I) were extracted as previously described (Hukkanen et al. 2006). Briefly, fruits from one plant were homogenized in a food processor and a sub-sample of 5 g was weighed for the analysis of phenolics. Each sample was extracted with altogether 50 ml of 70% acetone in a shaker. After centrifugation, a 12 ml aliquot of the total extract was concentrated to less than 4 ml by vacuum evaporation, after which 1 ml of methanol was added and the extract was made up to 5 ml with distilled water. Fruits from eight plants per treatment were analysed. The phenolic extracts were analysed by HPLC immediately after the extraction. Soluble solids were measured from fresh juice, which was obtained by centrifugating the remaining fruit homogenate (Hukkanen et al. 2006).

3.2.2 Extraction of cell-wall-bound phenolics (I)

The pellet remaining from the extraction of soluble phenolics from strawberry leaves was washed once with 70% acetone, 50% methanol and 100% methanol to remove traces of residual soluble phenolics, after which the pellet was dried in a vacuum centrifuge. The pellet was hydrolysed with 1 M NaOH (1 ml/20 mg of dry material) at 70 °C for 1 h. The hydrolysate was acidified with 1/10 volume of concentrated HCl and extracted twice with an equal volume of ethyl acetate by shaking vigorously for 10 min. The combined extracts were dried and stored at -20 °C.

The method was modified from that of Röpenack et al. (1998). The aim was to release ester-bonded phenolics, but not more tightly bound ether-linked phenolics such as lignin from the cell walls. The hydrolysis time and conditions were adjusted to maximize the yield of total phenolics. The yield was found to increase rapidly during the first hour of hydrolysis at 70 °C, but after that, only small amounts of phenolics were gradually released. Thus, the compounds released after the first hour were considered to derive from ether-linked material or polymers (Martens 2002;

Materials and methods

Peyron et al. 2002). Recovery through the hydrolysis and extraction process was determined with (+)-catechin, *p*-coumaric acid, ferulic acid, gallic acid, hydroxybenzoic acid and rutin standards by adding 0, 20 and 40 μ g of each compound together with NaOH and 10 mg of dried homogenous pellet into tubes. Recovery was 91% for *p*-coumaric acid and ferulic acid and 98% for hydroxybenzoic acid while gallic acid, rutin and (+)-catechin degraded rapidly during hydrolysis or were not extracted into ethyl acetate.

3.2.3 Analysis of phenolic compounds (I, III)

Total phenolic content of all phenolic extracts was determined with the Folin-Ciocalteu method (Singleton & Rossi 1965). The reaction volume was decreased to 1/10 of the original as described by Anttonen & Karjalainen (2005). The results are expressed as mg of gallic acid equivalents per g of fresh leaves or fruits.

Individual phenolic compounds were analyzed by HPLC, the Hewlett-Packard 1090 series apparatus (Waldbronn, Germany) consisting of two pumps, an autosampler, a column oven, and a diode array detector coupled to HP Chemstation data handling software. Prior to HPLC, the samples were filtered through 0.2 μ m Acrodisc syringe filters (PAL Co.).

For all kinds of strawberry extracts (I), a Vydac RP C18 column (250×4.6 mm, particle size 5 µm; The Separations Group, USA) was used. Injection volume was 25 µl. The separation conditions were the following: temperature 35 °C; flow rate 0.8 ml/min; gradient of acetonitrile (A; % v/v) in 1% formic acid (B): 0-10 min, 0-0% A; 10-60 min, 0-15% A; 60-70 min, 15-25% A; 70-80 min, 25-100% A; 80-83 min, 100% A; 83-90 min, 100-0% A; 90-97 min, 0% A.

For arctic bramble extracts (III), ODS Hypersil column (60×4.6 mm, particle size 3 µm; Agilent Technologies, USA) was used. Injection volume was 15 µl. The conditions of separation were the following: temperature 35 °C; flow rate 2 ml/min; gradient of acetonitrile (A; % v/v) in 1% formic acid (B): 0-15 min, 0-8% A; 15-30 min, 8-13% A; 30-35 min, 13-25% A; 35-40 min, 25-100% A; 40-41 min, 100% A; 41-48 min, 100-0% A; 48-55 min, 0% A.

The compounds were classified as anthocyanins, flavonols, ellagitannins, hydroxycinnamic acids or other phenolic groups according to their UV-vis spectra that were recorded at 250, 280, 320, 350 and 520 nm (**I**, **III**). The compounds were quantified as equivalents of the following standard compounds: ellagitannins as ellagic acid; flavonols as rutin, quercetin or kaempferol; compounds with absorbance maximum near 280 nm as gallic acid; hydroxycinnamic acids as chlorogenic acid and *p*-coumaric acid; flavan-3-ols as (+)-catechin; and anthocyanins as cyanidin chloride. The results are expressed as μ g of standard equivalents per g of fresh leaves or fruits.

3.2.4 Mass spectrometry of phenolics (I, III)

The main peaks in the HPLC chromatograms were analysed by mass spectrometry (MS). The MS system consisted of a Finnigan LTQ linear ion trap mass spectrometer (San Jose, CA, USA) combined with either a Finnigan Surveoyr HPLC pump, an

autosampler and a UV detector (Uvikon 735 LC, Kontron instruments) (I) or a Hewlett Packard 1100 series pump, an autosampler and a diode-array UV-vis detector (III). The mass data were collected in negative ionisation mode and full mass spectra were scanned at m/z 150-2000 for leaf samples and at m/z 250-700 for fruit samples. Fruit extracts were also analysed in positive ionisation mode (III). The following ionisation conditions were used: capillary temperature 280 °C, capillary voltage -10 V and needle voltage -4.5 kV. The collision energy of 35 V was used to obtain MS² and MS³ fragmented daughter ions from the most abundant parent ions.

3.3 Analysis of salicylic acid (I, IV)

Salicylic acid was analysed according to the method described by Meuwly & Métraux (1993). Briefly, leaf samples were extracted with 70% ethanol and 90% methanol using an Ultra-Turrax for 1 min. After centrifugation and evaporation of alcohols, 5% trichloroacetic acid was added to precipitate proteins and chlorophyll. The centrifugated samples were extracted twice with ethyl acetate-cyclohexane (1:1) and the organic fraction containing free SA was evaporated to dryness. 1/3 volume of concentrated HCl was added into the water phase, which was hydrolysed at 80 °C for 1 h. SA released from its conjugated form was extracted into organic solvent and evaporated to dryness. Both SA fractions (free and conjugated) were analysed by HPLC at the University of Fribourg in Switzerland.

3.4 Quantification of *Peronospora sparsa* by real-time PCR (II, III)

3.4.1 Extraction of DNA

Three methods were used in the DNA extractions. DNA from micropropagated *in vitro* plantlets and *P. sparsa* spores was extracted using a DNeasy Plant Minikit from Qiagen (**II**). Leaf material was homogenized in the extraction buffer using a disposable plastic pestle. DNA from mature leaves from outdoor- or greenhouse-grown plants was extracted with the method described by Doyle & Doyle (1990) using 1% PVPP in the extraction buffer (**II**). Large leaves were homogenized in liquid nitrogen in a mortar.

In study **III**, an E.Z.N.A. SP Plant Miniprep Kit from Omega BioTek was used. The leaflets from the plate test were homogenized without buffer in FastPrep FP120 (Savant Instruments Inc., NY, USA). The pellets remaining from the extraction of phenolics were used as the samples for greenhouse-grown plants (**III**). The pellets were centrifuged under vacuum to remove acetone and DNA was extracted without further homogenisation. The quality and quantity of DNA was determined with a NanoDrop ND-1000 UV-vis Spectrophotometer (NanoDrop Technologies, Wilmington, USA) (**II**, **III**). Materials and methods

3.4.2 Design of primers

Specific primers were designed to amplify *P. sparsa* and *Rubus* DNA from a single DNA extract. Forward primer P1 (5'-CAC GTG AAC CGT ATC AAC C-3') and reverse primer P2 (5'-GAT AGG GCT TGC CCA GTA G-3') were designed to amplify a 94 bp fragment from the internal transcribed region 1 (ITS1) of *P. sparsa*.

	P1→	
Y15816	CTTTC CACGTGAAC	28
AF241746	CTTTCCACGTGAAC	59
AF266772	CTTTCCACGTGAAC	27
Z73765		
Y15816	CGTATCAACCAACATAATTGGGGGGTTTG-TTTGGTGGCGGCTGCTGGCATTTTGTGCTGG	87
AF241746	CGTATCAACAACTTTAATTGGGGGGTGAT-CTTGACGGTAGCTACTGGTTTTTACTGG	116
AF266772	CGTTTCAAACCAAATAGTTGGGGGGTCTTGTCTGGTGGCGGCTGCTGGC-TTTATTGTTGG	86
Z73765	TTACAGAGTTCATGCCCGAAAGGGTAGACCTCCCACCCTTG	41
	$\bullet P2$	
Y15816	CTGGCTGC <u>TACTGGGCAAGCCCTATCG</u> CGAGCGTTTGGGCCTTGGCCTGAGCTAGTA	144
AF241746	C-GGTAACCATTGAGTGAACCTCATCATGACGAACCGTTGGGCTTTTGCCTGACGTAGTA	175
AF266772	C-GGCTGCTGCTGGGTGAGCCCTATCATGGCGAGCGTTTGGGCTTCGGCCTGAGCTAGTA	145
Z73765	TGTATTATTACTTTGTT-GCTTTGGCGAGCTGCCTTCGGGGCCTTGTATGCTCGCC	95

Figure 8. The alignment of ITS1 sequence from *P. sparsa* (Y15816) with those from *Hyaloperonospora parasitica* (AF241746), *Phytophthora cactorum* (AF266772) and *Botrytis cinerea* (Z73765). Primers are underlined in the sequence. The primer P2 is highly specific to *P. sparsa*.

T •	4	
$\boldsymbol{\nu}$		•
IN I	1 -	_

AF055741	TAAACGACTCTCGGCAACGGATATCTCGGCTCTCGCATCGATGAAGAACGTAGCGAAATG 317	7
AF055755	TAAACGACTCTCGGCAACGGATATCTCGGCTCTCGCATCGATGAAGAACGTAGCGAAATG 315	5
AB043838	TAAACGACTCTCGGCAACGGATATCTCNNNNNNNNNNNNN)
AF163494	TAWACGACTCTCGGCAACGGATATCTCGGCTCTCGCATCGATGAAGAACGTAGCGAAATG 325	5
AJ232900	AAAACGACTCTCGGCAACGGATATCTCGGCTCTCGCATCGATGAAGAACGTAGCGAAATG 328	3
	* *************************************	
AF055741	CGATACTTGGTGTGAATTGCAGAATCCCGTGAACCATCGAGTCTTTGAACGCAAGTTGCG 377	1
AF055755	CGATACTTGGTGTGAATTGCAGAATCCCGTGAACCATCGAGTCTTTGAACGCAAGTTGCG 375	5
AB043838	CGATACTTGGTGTGAATTGCAGAATCCCGTGAACCATCGAGTCTTTGAACGCAAGTTGCG 399)
AF163494	CGATACTTGGTGTGAATTGCAGAATCCCGTGAACCATCGAGTCTTTGAACGCAAGTTGCK 385	5
AJ232900	CGATACTTGGTGTGAATTGCAGAATCCCGTGAACCATCGAGTCTTTGAACGCAAGTTGCG 388	3

	← K 2	
AF055741	CCCAAAGCCATTAGGCCGAGGGCACGCCTGC437	7
AF055755	CCCGAAGCCATTAGGCCGAGGGCACGCCTGC 435	5
AB043838	CCCGAAGCCATTAGGCCGAGGGCACGTCTGC 459)
AF163494	CCCGAAGCCGTTAGGCCGAGGGCACGTCTGC 445	5
AJ232900	CCCCAAGCCTTCTGGCCGAGGGCACGTCTGC 448	3
	*** ***** * ***********	

Figure 9. The alignment of 5.8S ribosomal DNA sequence from arctic bramble (AF055741) with those from *Rubus idaeus* (AF055755), *Rosa hybrida* (AB043838), *Fragaria x ananassa* (AF163494) and *Arabidopsis thaliana* (AJ232900). Primers are underlined in the sequence. The sequence is highly similar between different *Rubus* and *Rosa* species.

Forward primer R1 (5'-CAA ACG ACT CTC GGC AAC-3') and reverse primer R2 (5'-CCT CGG CCT AAT GGC TT-3') were designed to amplify a 140 bp fragment from the highly conserved region of 5.8S ribosomal DNA of arctic bramble. Alignments of 5.8S and ITS1 sequences from few selected species of interest are shown in **Figures 8** and **9**.

3.4.3 Control plasmids

The ITS1 and 5.8S sequences were amplified with the P and R primers, respectively, from genomic DNA of arctic bramble cv. Pima with and without *P. sparsa*. The PCR reaction mixture consisted of 1.5 mM MgCl₂, 2.5 μ l 10 × PCR buffer, 5 mM dNTPs, 0.3 μ M primers, 0.625 U Taq DNA polymerase (MBI Fermentas) and 1 μ l of template DNA in a final volume of 25 μ l. The following PCR protocol was used: initial denaturation at 94 °C for 2 min, followed by 35 cycles with denaturation at 94 °C for 45 s, annealing at 56 °C for 45 s and extension at 72 °C for 45 s. The final extension was at 72 °C for 5 min. The purified (QIAquick PCR Purification Kit, Qiagen) PCR products were cloned into the multiple cloning site of pT-Adv plasmid with AdvanTAgeTM PCR Cloning Kit (Clontech Laboratories Inc.). After purification (QIAprep Spin Miniprep Kit, Qiagen), the plasmids were multiplied in *Escherichia coli* DH5 α . The inserted fragments were confirmed by sequencing.

3.4.4 Quantitative real-time PCR

The quantitative real-time PCR method was developed to be able to follow the development of P. sparsa infection in the field and, particularly, in symptomless plants (II). Real-time PCR reactions were performed using a Failsafe Green Realtime PCR kit from Epicentre Technologies. The conditions for amplification were optimised using a selection/optimisation kit from the same manufacturer. Premix K and H were selected for further analyses. Reactions were carried out in duplicate in iCycler iQTM 96-well PCR plates (Bio-Rad Laboratories) with iCyclerTM (Bio-Rad, USA). Negative (water) and positive (plasmids or DNA known to be positive) controls were included in all analyses. The reaction mixture consisted of 10 μ l of Premix H or K, 0.8 µl of enzyme blend, 0.6 µM of primers and 3 µl of DNA in a final volume of 20 µl. The following PCR protocol was used: initial denaturation at 94 °C for 2 min followed by 38 cycles at 94 °C for 20 s, 57 °C for 20 s and 72 °C for 20 s, and a final extension once at 72 °C for 5 min. The fluorescence was measured at the end of each cycle at 72 °C. Melting curves of amplified products were obtained by decreasing the temperature from 95 °C to 50 °C stepwise and recording the fluorescence at each step. The amount of P. sparsa DNA was always normalized to plant DNA within a sample using the equation:

P. sparsa DNA % = $2^{\text{Ct plant} - \text{Ct P. sparsa}} \times 100$.

Tenfold dilution series from genomic DNA (cv. Elpee and *P. sparsa* spores) and both control plasmids were prepared to determine the efficiency and sensitivity of

Materials and methods

the method. Within-plate variation was also determined by analysing ten parallel reactions from a single stock DNA and day-to-day variation by analysing the same sample in triplicate in four different plates.

3.5 Extraction and analysis of proteins (IV)

3.5.1 Extraction of total soluble proteins

Frozen samples from three plants (per treatment) separately were homogenized in liquid nitrogen and total soluble proteins were extracted for two-dimensional electrophoresis (2-DE) and Western blot analyses as previously described (Koistinen et al. 2002). Protein pellets were stored at -70 °C and dissolved in 2-DE sample buffer containing 10 M urea, 2% CHAPS, 1% DTT and 0.8% Bio-Lyte 3/10 ampholyte (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA) prior to analysis. Protein concentration was measured using Bio-Rad Protein Assay Dye reagent.

3.5.2 Production of antibody for PR-1

An antibody for the detection of PR-1 protein in Western blot was produced in rabbits using His-tagged PR-1 peptide for the immunisation. A 226 bp fragment was PCRamplified from genomic DNA isolated from arctic bramble leaves using the degenerate primer pair PR1 (5'-GAC RTG GGA TGA CAA KGT AGC-3') and PR2 (5'-TGI GTR TAR TGC CCR CAC AC-3'). The PR-1 fragment of arctic bramble was sequenced (Genbank accession EU528030) and showed 78% and 76% identity to PR-1 sequences of Malus domestica (DQ318212) and Pyrus communis (AF498321), respectively, which are the closest rosaceous species to arctic bramble of which PR-1 has been characterized. On the basis of arctic bramble sequence, more specific primers were designed including restriction sites for ligation into the expression vector (PR1: 5'-GCG GGA TCC ACG TGG GAT GAC AAG-3'; PR2: 5'-GTG AAG CTT GGG TAT AGT GCC CGC A-3'). The fragment was inserted into the expression vector pQE30 (Qiagen, CA, USA) and the PR-1 peptide containing 6×His tag was produced in E. coli, purified by HPLC and confirmed as described by Koistinen et al. (2002). Serum containing the antibody was purified by affinity chromatography using the PR-1-His coupled to CNBr-activated Sepharose 4B (Amersham Biosciences). The antibody bound to the PR-1-His in the column was eluted in 1 ml fractions with 50 mM diethylamine, pH 11.5, into tubes containing 100 µl of 1 M Tris-HCl, pH 7.4, and 80 mg of NaCl. The fractions showing the highest absorbance at 280 nm were combined and the antibody was dialyzed into PBS. The specificity of the antibody was confirmed by Western analysis.

3.5.3 SDS-PAGE and Western analysis

15 μ g of total leaf protein samples were separated for Western analyses of PR-1 by SDS-PAGE at 150 V for 1 h. Three parallel samples from water- and BTH-treated plants were analysed. Gels were always prepared in duplicate; one gel was used for

blotting and the other for CBB staining to confirm equal loading of the samples. Blotting and detection was performed according to Koistinen et al. (2002). The final concentration of PR-1 primary antibody was 0.2 μ g/ml in TBS-milk. Secondary antibody used was goat anti-rabbit IgG conjugated with alkaline phosphatase (Zymed; diluted to 1:2000 in TBS-milk).

3.5.4 2-DE and image analysis

2-DE was performed to analyse arctic bramble leaf proteome for changes caused by BTH treatment. 150 μ g of total protein was loaded on three gels for both the controls and BTH-treated plants, each gel representing one plant. 2-DE, staining with SYPRO Ruby fluorescent dye and image acquirement were performed as described by Lehesranta et al. (2006). 2-DE images were analysed with PDQuest 7.1 software (Bio-Rad). Spots were detected and matched between the gels automatically, but the spots were also examined manually to confirm the matching. The quantities of spots measured as ppm were normalized to the total quantity in all valid spots detected. To identify proteins expressed differently between the control and BTH-treated plants, normalized quantities were subjected to statistical analysis, and the spots differing significantly between the controls and BTH plants were subjected to MS analysis.

3.5.5 Identification of proteins

The gels were silver-stained according to Lehesranta et al. (2006) to be able to pick the spots of interest. The excised spots were digested in-gel according to Koistinen et al. (2002). The peptide extracts were dissolved in 25 μ l of 0.1% TFA and stored at -20 °C. Tryptic peptides were analysed using HPLC-ESI-MS/MS as described previously (Lehesranta et al. 2007). MS/MS raw data were processed and analysed using Analyst QS v1.1 and ProID software (Applied Biosystems) or Mascot search (www.matrixscience.com) through Analyst QS. ABCC non-redundant protein database was used in ProID search and MSDB (Viridiplantae) database in Mascot search. The search parameters used were the following: mass tolerance 0.15 Da; MS/MS tolerance 0.8 Da; one missed cleavage allowed; variable modifications carbamidomethyl (C), carboxymethyl (C), and oxidation (M).

3.6 Statistical analyses (I-IV)

SPSS software (versions 11.5 and 14.1 for Windows; SPSS Inc., USA) was used in all statistical analyses. Statistical significance of the differences between the means from differently treated plants were analysed with the analysis of variance using Tukey's post hoc test or Dunnett's T3 test if unequal variances were found (I, III). In the cases where only two treatments had been applied, the independent samples t-test was used (II, IV). Mann-Whitney U-test was used for nonparametric measurements or if conditions for the analysis of variance were not fulfilled (III). Differences were considered significant at P<0.05. Tendencies at $0.05 \le P<0.10$ were also taken into

Materials and methods

consideration in the concentrations of leaf phenolics, which showed high variation between individual plants (**I**, **III**).

In study **III**, principal component analysis (PCA) was used to analyse the variation of phenolic profiles among different cultivars or treatments. Four main components were extracted and each compound was clustered under the component where it had the highest factor loading. Pearson correlation coefficient was determined for the correlation between the concentrations of individual phenolic compounds and the percentage of *P. sparsa* DNA among plant DNA (**III**).

4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.1 Maintenance and diagnosis of Peronospora sparsa

4.1.1 Maintenance of Peronospora sparsa culture (II, III)

Peronospora sparsa used in the inoculations (**II**, **III**) was isolated from infected, sporulating cv. Pima onto sterile *in vitro* -grown micropropagated plantlets of arctic bramble in 2005. The morphology of the pathogen was analysed by microscopy. Although thorough staining and visualisation of intercellular mycelia was not obtained, sporangiophores typical for *Peronospora* species were observed (**Figure 2**) (Hall 1989; Ellis et al. 1991). The penetration of germinated spores (**Figure 10**) and growth of sporangiophores occurred through stomata, but also through other sites. Sporangiophores grew out of the tissue occasionally at the junctures of epidermal cells (**Figure 10**).



Figure 10. Germinated penetrating spore of *P. sparsa* on a leaf of arctic bramble cv. Mespi stained with aniline blue (left) and a sporangiophore growing out of the tissue through a stoma in *in vitro* –grown arctic bramble cv. Pima stained with trypan blue (right). The spore has formed a germ tube and an appressorium away from the stoma instead of penetrating through it (left). A, appressorium; B, spore; C, stoma (guard cells); D, stalk of sporangiophore.

Suspension of fresh spores into sterile water and subsequent application onto sterile micropropagated plantlets or leaves was found a useful practice in the maintenance of *P. sparsa*. After inoculation, new sporangiophores grew within 4 to 7 days, depending on the spore density of the suspension and growth conditions. Continuous light and temperatures above 23 °C were found to inhibit sporulation, which is consistent with the observations reported in the literature for downy mildew pathogens (Breese et al. 1994; Rumbolz et al. 2002). To obtain successful infection in greenhouse-grown arctic brambles, relative humidity close to 100%, a clear day-night variation in the lightning, moderate temperature around 20 °C and the use of a surfactant were found necessary (**III**).

4.1.2 Development of real-time PCR method for the quantification of *P. sparsa* infections (II)

Downy mildews grow inside plant tissues, sporangiophores being possibly the only visible signs of the pathogen (Breese et al. 1994; Slusarenko & Schlaich 2003). Plants do not necessarily express symptoms of the disease, particularly at the early phases of infection, and the number of symptoms (disease incidence) does not always correlate with the amount of pathogen in the plant (disease severity) (Agrios 2005). Therefore, to reliably quantify *P. sparsa* infections in arctic bramble, real-time PCR method based on the quantification of pathogen DNA in plant tissue was developed (**II**). The use of real-time PCR in the quantification of plant pathogens has become a common practice since its introduction in the 1990s (Schena et al. 2004).

The aim was to obtain highly specific amplification of *P. sparsa* because several other oomycete species also occur in *Rubus*. ITS regions vary largely between species and are often used as target sequences in PCR (e.g. Cooke et al. 2000). The primer P1 designed to amplify a fragment from ITS1 region is not fully specific to *P. sparsa*, but the much higher variability between species in the second primer P2 ensured specific amplification of *P. sparsa* (**Figure 8**). No DNA was amplified from all other oomycete or fungal species tested, namely *Phytophthora cactorum*, *Phytophthora fragariae* var. *rubi*, *Hyaloperonospora parasitica*, and *Botrytis cinerea*, as expected based on the sequence alignment (**II**: **Table 1**).

Plant primers were designed to be applicable also for plant species other than arctic bramble since *P. sparsa* occurs commonly in *Rubus* and *Rosa*. Because the plant gene selected is used as a control and, therefore, should be constantly expressed, the primers were targeted at the highly conserved 5.8S ribosomal DNA sequence (**Figure 9**). The sequence was efficiently amplified from all *Rubus* and *Rosa* species tested while clearly weaker amplification was obtained from strawberry and *Arabidopsis*. Since *P. sparsa* infects only *Rubus* and *Rosa*, amplification of 5.8S rDNA in a wider range of plant species was not primarily pursued.

Linear ($R^2 > 0.980$) and efficient amplification (slopes of the regression lines near the optimal, -3.3.) was achieved with both primer pairs using the control plasmids or genomic DNA from arctic bramble or *P. sparsa* spores as templates (**II**: **Figure 1**). The within-plate variation of replicate samples was 1.2% and plate-toplate variation 2.5%. Successful amplification of *P. sparsa* DNA was achieved with as little as 37 fg of genomic DNA (**II**: **Figure 2**) and 1 fg of plasmid DNA. Thus, the method is not only quantitative but also more sensitive than the non-quantitative PCR method (250 fg) developed for *P. sparsa* by Lindqvist et al. (1998). Relative quantification approach, which was selected instead of absolute quantification, was found useful in the measurement of infection. The normalization of the amount of pathogen DNA to plant DNA in each sample eliminates most variations in, for example, the quality, extraction and loading of DNA and day-to-day performance, and a necessity for running extensive calibration curves in every plate (Livak & Schmittgen 2001; Gachon & Saindrenan 2004).

From study II, it was concluded that symptom expression in arctic bramble does not strictly correlate with the amount of *P. sparsa* DNA present in the plant. The

Kuopio Univ. Publ. C. Nat. and Environ. Sci. 230: 1-98 (2008)

conclusion was mainly based on the analysis of cv. Mesma, which showed extensive symptoms, but contained only low amounts of pathogen DNA (II: Figure 3, Table 2). However, the symptoms observed in cv. Mesma may not have been caused by *P. sparsa*. This is supported by later observations made on three cultivars of arctic bramble (III). In study III, no notable growth of the pathogen was detected by PCR unless visible lesions or sporangiophores were also found (III: Figures 1 and 2, Table 1). Furthermore, the number of symptoms (III: Figure 1) correlated with the degree of sporulation in the plate experiment (III: Table 1) among different cultivars and treatments (described in chapter 4.2.2). Thus, the growth of the pathogen could also be evaluated based on symptom expression or sporulation, which may diminish the need for the quantitative PCR analysis in some cases. However, the method is the only objective and definite means to quantify *P. sparsa* and can be used for the evaluation of the infection in different genotypes and treatments.

4.2 Applicability of induced resistance for the protection of strawberry and arctic bramble

4.2.1 BTH improves resistance to powdery mildew in strawberry (I)

BTH improved resistance to powdery mildew in two parallel experiments conducted on strawberry under greenhouse conditions (I). The treatment of the plants with 0.8 g/l of BTH two days prior to inoculation almost completely prevented the development of infection compared with the corresponding water-treated plants, all of which were infected (Figure 11A and B). Two days were found sufficient for the induction of resistance in strawberry, which is consistent with the times reported in the literature (Tally et al. 1999). However, no systematic analysis was performed using longer intervals between the application of BTH and inoculation because of the high level of protection achieved using the two-day interval. In preliminary experiments, 0.6 g/l of BTH did not protect strawberry plants efficiently and, therefore, the concentration was raised to 0.8 g/l (1.2 mM active ingredient). No symptoms of phytotoxicity were observed due to BTH treatments, indicating that strawberry plants can well tolerate high concentrations of BTH. In many other plants, clearly lower concentrations of BTH have been used with high efficacy (Görlach et al. 1996; Schweizer et al. 1999; Godard et al. 1999). One reason for the good tolerance to BTH might be the high constitutive level of SA present in strawberry (I: Figure 3).

BTH showed higher efficiency in micropropagated plants than in frigo plants although the micropropagated plants were clearly more susceptible to infection (**Figure 11**). The disease severity was almost equal among the infected frigo controls and BTH-treated plants if the uninfected plants were not taken into account (**Figure 11**C). The experiment with frigo plants lasted for several weeks and only one additional BTH application was done during flowering. Therefore, powdery mildew infection also spread among BTH-treated plants and resulted in the infection of fruits

Results and discussion

as well, demonstrating the importance of preventive treatments. However, smaller fraction of infected fruits was found in BTH-treated (42%) than in water-treated (72%) plants despite the long time between BTH treatments and harvest.

Effect of BTH may not be systemic in strawberry because newly developed leaves, which had not received BTH, seemed to be easily infected (no quantitative analysis was performed). Long-lasting efficacy of BTH has been mainly detected in monocots and, thus, a serious of treatments may be necessary in dicots in general (Tally et al. 1999). Overall, the high efficiency of BTH against powdery mildew of strawberry is in line with the results obtained on several other plants against powdery mildew fungi (Görlach et al. 1996; Lawton et al. 1996; Bokshi et al. 2003). Strawberry plants have also responded to BTH treatment in previous studies, where BTH improved resistance to *Phytophthora* diseases and grey mould (*Botrytis cinerea*) (Terry & Joyce 2000; Eikemo et al. 2003).



Figure 11. Development of powdery mildew infection in water- and BTH-treated (A) micropropagated cv Jonsok (n = 30), (B) frigo cv Jonsok, all leaves examined (n = 36), and (C) frigo cv Jonsok, only infected leaves examined. In B and C, the following scale was used in the evaluation of the symptoms: 0, 0%; 1, 1-20%; 2, 21-40%; 3, 41-60%; 4, 61-80%, 5, 81-100% infected of the whole leaf area. Both sides of the leaves were examined in all measurements. The bars represent standard deviations for the means. Statistical significant differences between water- and BTH-treated plants are marked with asterisks.

Anne Hukkanen: Chemically induced resistance in strawberry and arctic bramble

4.2.2 Inhibition of downy mildew by agrochemicals in arctic bramble (III)

In addition to powdery mildews, BTH has shown efficacy against other diseases caused by biotrophs, such as downy mildews of *Arabidopsis*, tobacco and cauliflower caused by *Peronospora* species (Lawton et al. 1996; Ziadi et al. 2001b, Perez et al. 2003). Consistently, BTH treatment protected the susceptible arctic bramble cv. Pima (**Figure 12A**) and a clone 12B14 (**III: Figure 1B**) from *P. sparsa* under greenhouse conditions. Only few symptoms were detected in cv. Pima treated with either of the two BTH concentrations tested (0.05 or 0.4 g/l) whereas symptoms rapidly increased in the controls for three weeks after inoculation (**Figure 12A**). In study **IV**, the high concentration of BTH, 0.6 g/l, was found to decrease vegetative growth in arctic bramble



Figure 12. Development of downy mildew infection in different treatments of arctic bramble cv Pima measured (A) as the number of symptoms in the greenhouse experiment or (B) the degree of sporulation in the plate test. The following scale was used in the evaluation of sporulation: 0, 0; 1, 1-5; 2, 6-10; 3, 10-20; 4, > 20 sporangiophores per leaflet.

Results and discussion

(IV: Figure 1B), and, therefore, lower concentrations were used in this study. Interestingly, 0.05 g/l, that is approximately ten times less than the higher concentration, was as efficient against P. sparsa as the high concentration. Slightly more symptoms (Figure 12A; III: Figure 1) but less pathogen DNA (III: Figure 2) were detected in the plants treated with 0.05 g/l of BTH than in the plants that received 0.4 g/l of BTH. Lower concentrations of BTH have been found more effective than the high concentrations also in rice (Schweizer et al. 1999). Three weeks after inoculation, symptoms started to increase also in BTH-treated plants, indicating a decline in resistance simultaneously with the growing disease pressure caused by secondary inocula. Thus, repetitive treatments with BTH may be necessary also in arctic bramble during the growing season. Despite the promising results obtained in this study, the efficacy of BTH has yet to be confirmed in the field, since the control of diseases by BTH has occasionally been weaker in the field than in a greenhouse (Wiese et al. 2003; Navarre & Mayo 2004). The reason is unclear, but varying level of organic material and microbial activity in the soil has been suggested to affect the plants' responsiveness to BTH (Wiese et al. 2003). Micro-organisms can elicit defence reactions in plants, after which the plants may not be as responsive to other stimuli as they would be in the uninduced state.

Among the fungicides registered against downy mildew of arctic bramble in Finland, Euparen M showed clearly higher efficiency against *P. sparsa* in cv. Pima than did Aliette (**Figure 12A**). No comparative, quantitative data about their efficiencies have been previously available. Based on these results, Euparen M could be used as the primary fungicide, the effect of which could be complemented by following treatments with Aliette or other phosphite-based products. However, Food Safety Authority Evira has set restrictions on use of Euparen M in Finland in 2007 due to the observation that carcinogenic nitrosamines are formed from the degradation product of tolylfluanid during ozonizing process of groundwater. Since Euparen M will possibly be recalled from the market in the near future, the requirement for new products for the control of downy mildew in arctic bramble will continue to increase.

All phosphite-containing products (including Aliette), except for Kaliumfosfiet, had similar moderate efficacy against *P. sparsa* in the greenhouse. Three weeks after inoculation, the number of symptoms was approximately 60% lower in phosphite-treated plants than in the controls (**Figure 12A**; **III**: **Figure 1**). Moderate control of *P. sparsa* has also been obtained on rose and boysenberry by Aliette and potassium salts of phosphorous acid (Aegerter et al. 2002; Walter et al. 2004). In boysenberry, late application of fungicides or phosphites during flowering was found necessary to prevent the infection of fruits (Walter et al. 2004). If phosphites also show efficacy against *P. sparsa* in arctic bramble in the field, they might be a convenient option as late season protectants due to their low toxicity and short/no withholding periods. However, some strains of *Phytophthora* and *Bremia* have shown resistance to Aliette, suggesting that phosphite-based products should not be used continuosly without alternating with other types of fungicides (Wilkinson et al. 2001; Brown et al. 2004). It is not known to which extent the efficacy of phosphites is based on their direct

antimicrobial activity and their ability to activate defence reactions in plants. This may be of significance in the risk of developing resistant pathogen strains.

4.2.3 Efficacy of agrochemicals against downy mildew in the plate model (III)

Methods using detached leaves or leaf disks instead of whole plants have been described for the testing of disease resistance in many plant-pathogen interactions. It is a particularly convenient method for testing of resistance to biotrophs, which cannot be cultured on artificial medium. Testing of resistance on agar plates has been described for e.g. downy mildew pathogens of grapevine and Arabidopsis (Agnola et al. 2003; Kortekamp 2006). Similarly, genotypic differences in the resistance to P. sparsa were seen in arctic bramble when detached mature leaves or leaves of micropropagated plantlets were inoculated on the plates (II: Table 3; III: Figure 2B, Table 1). Interestingly, the efficacy of agrochemical treatments could also be tested on the plates by using the leaves from the greenhouse-grown plants, which received agrochemicals four days prior to detachment and inoculation of the leaves (Figure 12B; III: Table 1). Reliability of the in vitro method was confirmed by the comparison of sporulation to the symptoms measured in the corresponding treatments and genotypes in the greenhouse and by quantifying pathogen DNA in the plant tissue. The trends observed among the different treatments or cultivars were similar in the plate and greenhouse experiment. The amount of P. sparsa DNA measured in the detached leaves was also in line with the degree of sporulation. Thus, the in vitro plate method is well-suited for the pre-evaluation of breeding material and agrochemicals in arctic bramble before executing larger trials in a greenhouse or in the field.

4.2.4 Resistance to downy mildew varies among arctic bramble cultivars (II, III)

Genotypic differences in the resistance to one isolate of *P. sparsa* were observed in arctic bramble in the greenhouse and plate experiments described above. Although cv. Mespi has shown downy mildew symptoms in the leaves and fruits previously in the field (Lindqvist et al. 1998), it was resistant to the isolate used in the inoculations (**III**). No symptoms, pathogen DNA (**III**: **Figure 2**; one weakly positive plant in PCR) or sporulation (**III**: **Table 1**) was found in cv. Mespi. The results obtained with naturally infected plants also indicates that cv. Mespi is not as susceptible to downy mildew as is cv. Pima; significantly less *P. sparsa* DNA was found in young leaves of cv. Mespi than in those of cv. Pima (**II**: **Table 2**). The existence of cultivar-race-specific resistance has yet to be tested by using several isolates of *P. sparsa* and different genotypes of arctic bramble. In *Arabidopsis*, cultivar-race-specific resistance to downy mildew (*Hyaloperonospora parasitica*) has been demonstrated and several *R* genes have been characterised (Slusarenko & Schlaich 2003).

The new clone 12B14 also showed lower susceptibility to *P. sparsa* than did cv. Pima. The number and development of symptoms was similar to those observed in Euparen M-treated Pima in the greenhouse and were further decreased by treatments with 0.4 g/l of BTH, Aliette and Phosfik (**III**: **Figure 1B**). However, in the plate test 12B14 had equal amount of sporangiophores compared to those in cv. Pima although

Results and discussion

the sporulation began two days later (**III**: **Table 1**). Only BTH treatment inhibited sporulation in 12B14 in the plate experiment. Originally, the clone was selected from the breeding progeny for further testing because it showed fewer symptoms and dry fruits than other genotypes in a small scale field test performed at the University of Kuopio during 2002 to 2005. Although promising results were obtained with the clone, the level and persistence of resistance remains to be tested in larger field experiments.

4.2.5 Impact of induced resistance on plant performance (I, IV)

Activation of plant defence by BTH without subsequent infection has led to notable reductions of vegetative growth and, occasionally, of yield at least in cereals and *Brassica* (Godard et al. 1999; Heil et al. 2000; Dietrich et al. 2005). Therefore, vegetative growth and yield were compared between water- and BTH-treated plants in strawberry and arctic bramble. In strawberry (**I**), the fresh weight of leaves per plant was decreased by 17% by BTH treatment in comparison to the controls while the numbers of leaves, runners, flowers or fruits and the weight of fruits were not different between BTH-treated plants and the controls. Instead, inoculation with powdery mildew significantly decreased both the number (2.0/plant) and weight of runners (3.4 g of fw/runner) in the controls, but not in the BTH-treated plants (2.3/plant and 4.0 g/runner) compared with the uninfected control plants (2.9/plant and 5.8 g/runner), indicating slight protection by BTH.

Similarly, the dry weight of leaves was 20% lower in BTH-treated (11.7 g of dw/box containing six plants) than in water-treated arctic bramble cv. Pima (14.7 g) whereas the reduction by BTH was as high as 30% in cv. Mespi (14.7 and 20.9 g/box; IV: Figure 1B). Fresh weight of rhizome was also determined after the second season, showing reduction of 29 and 43% by BTH in comparison to the controls in cv. Pima and Mespi, respectively (IV: Figure 1B). Arctic brambles received three applications of BTH per two successive growing seasons, which may be reflected as stronger growth reduction than seen in strawberry. The high negative impact of BTH on vegetative growth was expected to result in the reduction of yield, but, surprisingly, no such effects were observed. In fact, throughout the experiments, BTH-treated arctic brambles gave slightly, but not significantly, higher yield than did the controls measured as both the numbers of flowers and fruits and the weight of fruits/plant (data not shown). The size of fruits was not significantly different between the controls and BTH-treated plants. However, evaluation of yield should be done in arctic bramble under field conditions to be able to detect long-term effects and influence of growth conditions on the plant performance.

Similar results were obtained on both plant species, giving no indications of yield losses due to the BTH treatment. Consistent with these results, BTH has not affected yield in strawberry, bean, or cyclamen, the vegetative growth of which was also decreased by BTH (Terry & Joyce 2000; Iriti & Faoro 2003; Elmer et al. 2006). SA, the action of which BTH may mimic in plants, is known to positively regulate flowering and to induce stress-related transitions from vegetative to reproductive growth (Morris et al. 2000; Martínez et al. 2004). This has also been demonstrated for

BTH in *Arabidopsis* under certain growth conditions (Dietrich et al. 2005). In arctic bramble, BTH treatment might also have caused an earlier transition to flowering and cropping compared to the control plants, which is reflected as a smaller plant size and slightly higher yields.

4.3 The role of salicylic acid in strawberry and arctic bramble

4.3.1 SA contents (I, IV)

Thus far, only a few plant species have been found to contain exceptionally high constitutive (basal) concentrations of SA (Raskin et al. 1990; Silverman et al. 1995; Navarre & Mayo 2004). Interestingly, both strawberry (I) and arctic bramble (IV) belong to that group of plants. In strawberry, basal level of total SA was ca. 20 μ g/g fw in the leaves of micropropagated plants. The amount of total SA remained stable throughout the nine days sampling period, but the relative proportion of free and conjugated SA varied, free SA consisting of 2-30% of the total SA (I: Figure 3). The maximal amount of total SA in frigo plants was even higher and varied between 67-111 μ g/g fw during the sampling period while the proportion of free SA was stable at 4.5-7.3% of total SA (data not shown).

In arctic bramble, basal level of total SA was 6-25 μ g/g fw in the leaves of greenhouse-grown plants, the proportion of free SA varying between 9-11% of total SA. Outdoor-grown plants had 16-24 μ g/g fw of total SA, of which only 0.5-6% was in free form. Slightly higher concentrations were measured in cv. Mespi than in cv. Pima. The results show a large variation in the basal SA concentrations between different types of plants, which may affect their response to external application of SA or BTH. In strawberry, the frigo plants which had clearly higher SA level did not develop as high resistance to powdery mildew by BTH as the micropropagated plants did (**Figure 11**).

The concentrations of total and free SA were highly similar in both species studied. The levels of SA found in strawberry and arctic bramble are approximately at the same level as reported for rice (35-40 μ g/g in maximum; Raskin 1990; Silverman et al. 1995). No information was found about SA levels in the leaves of other rosaceous species, which might have revealed whether the high SA content is typical for rosaceous species.

4.3.2 Accumulation of SA by BTH (I, IV)

To address the influence of BTH treatment or powdery mildew infection on endogenous SA, the SA levels were determined in different treatments of strawberry (I) and BTH-treated arctic bramble (IV). BTH treatment induced similar accumulation of conjugated SA in strawberry (I: Figure 3) and arctic bramble cv. Mespi (IV: Figure 1A) 4 to 6 days after BTH treatment. No clear induction was observed in cv. Pima (data not shown). The amount of free SA was not changed by BTH or powdery mildew.

Results and discussion

Powdery mildew infection alone did not affect the amount of conjugated SA in strawberry, but it augmented the response induced by BTH. Supporting the results, pathogen infection has not increased the level of endogenous SA in other high-SA plants either (Silverman et al. 1995; Coquoz et al. 1998). However, the lack of induction does not imply an insignificant role for SA in the defence against pathogens in high-SA plants. Results obtained on potato and rice suggest that the defence of high-SA plants also depend on SA. The high basal concentration of SA did not correlate with resistance to *Phytophthora infestans* in potato, but SA was needed to induce SAR by arachidonic acid (Yu et al. 1997). In rice, the basal level of SA correlated with the resistance to the blast pathogen (*Magnaporthe grisea*) in different cultivars and *nahG* expressing plants (Silverman et al. 1995; Yang et al. 2004). In most cases, rice and potato have also been responsive to external application of SA or BTH (Schweizer et al. 1999; Bokshi et al. 2003; Yang et al. 2004; Navarre & Mayo 2004).

BTH induced the accumulation of SA in both strawberry and arctic bramble while in other plants the levels of endogenous SA have not been affected by BTH (Friedrich et al. 1996; Lawton et al. 1996). However, the SA accumulated in strawberry and arctic bramble may be used for purposes other than signalling, which is also supported by the fact that their basal concentration of SA is already far higher than needed for the activation of defence in low-SA species (Malamy et al. 1990; Cameron et al. 1999; Verberne et al. 2000). SA-deficient rice was found to suffer from increased oxidative damage and high levels of ROS induced by abiotic or biotic stresses in comparison to control plants and, therefore, SA was suggested to act as an antioxidant in rice (Yang et al. 2004). Because the induction pattern of conjugated SA in strawberry was highly similar to that of other phenolic compounds (**Figure 13**; **I**: **Figure 3**), it is possible that SA also acts e.g. as an antioxidant in strawberry similarly to other phenolics.

4.3.3 PR-1 as a marker for the induction of SA-mediated defence pathway (IV)

The expression of PR-1 has been used as the marker for the induction of SA-mediated defence (Malamy et al. 1990; Lawton et al. 1996; Cameron et al. 1999). To address the activation of SA pathway in different treatments of arctic bramble, an antibody for PR-1 was developed (**IV**). The antibody was also tested with protein extracts from strawberry, but it recognised PR-1 of strawberry only weakly. Identity was 78% between PR-1 nucleotide sequence from arctic bramble and strawberry.

BTH strongly induced PR-1 in arctic bramble cvs Pima and Mespi, indicating the activation of SA-mediated defence pathway (**IV**: **Figure 2A-C**). The induction of PR-1 was not related to the observed accumulation of conjugated SA, since SA levels were unchanged in cv. Pima, which, however, showed the induction of PR-1. The result supports the idea that the increase in conjugated SA is not related to signalling function. Phosphite treatments did not affect the expression of PR-1 (data not shown), suggesting that they do not activate SA-mediated defence in arctic bramble. The result is in contrast with the evidence obtained from *Arabidopsis*, cauliflower and potato, where the action of phosphites was dependent on the components of SA defence pathway and SAR-related changes were observed (Molina et al. 1998; Bécot et al. 2000; Andreu et al. 2006; Daniel & Guest 2006).

PR-1 is constitutively expressed in potato and *Arabidopsis* mutants, which have high constitutive levels of SA (Bowling et al. 1994; Jirage et al. 2001; Navarre & Mayo 2004). Interestingly, constitutive expression of PR-1 has also been found in the leaves of pear, which is a rosaceous fruit-producing species, but no information was found about its SA levels (Sparla et al. 2004). Considering the expression of PR-1, arctic bramble resembles rice more than potato since PR-1 of rice is also inducible by BTH (Yang et al. 2004). However, in some preliminary samples collected from arctic bramble for testing of the antibody, high expression of PR-1 was observed without BTH treatment. Stresses other than pathogens may have triggered the defence shown as the increased level of PR-1. It will be interesting to see if arctic bramble is responsive to BTH in the field, due to the higher concentrations of SA found in outdoor-grown plants and the expression of PR-1 without BTH treatment under uncontrolled conditions.

4.4 Phenolic compounds and their role in defence

4.4.1 Phenolic profiles in strawberry and arctic bramble

The concentrations of phenolics were measured after different treatments of strawberry (I) and arctic bramble (III) to see whether the phenolics might contribute to the resistance induced by BTH or phosphites. The compounds were tentatively identified using MS to be able to evaluate the role of specific phenolics.

In strawberry, phenolics were analysed from the leaves (soluble and cell-wallbound phenolics) and fruits (I). Characteristic HPLC chromatograms were obtained from the different phenolic fractions, only ellagic acid (peak 11) being found in the all types of extracts (I: **Figure 1**). The phenolic composition of fruits has already been characterised extensively by others (Määttä-Riihinen et al. 2004; Aaby et al. 2005; Seeram et al. 2006) whereas only limited or no information was available about the composition of soluble and cell-wall-bound phenolics, respectively, in the leaves (Okuda et al. 1992; Oertel et al. 2001). The compounds identified for the first time in strawberry in the present study are shown in **Table 3**.

The phenolics were classified according to their UV-vis spectra based on standard compounds or literature, and were further identified by MS. Full mass spectra and MS^2 and MS^3 daughter ions formed from the most abundant parent ions in tandem MS were used to determine the masses of the whole molecules and the fragments present in the molecules. For example, the compound 20 from arctic bramble leaves (III: Figure 3), quercetin triglycoside, was detected at m/z 771. The daughter ions detected at m/z 609, 463, and 301 were obtained after the cleavage of a hexose (-162-H₂O), a deoxyhexose (-146- H₂O) and another hexose (-162- H₂O), respectively, resulting in the quercetin aglycone at m/z 301. Other compounds were identified similarly. Different aglycones were identified based on the fragmentation patterns of standard compounds. Ellagitannins were constantly detected as doubly

charged ions [M-2H]²⁻. Typical fragments found in ellagitannins were ellagic acid/HHDP (301), gallic acid (170 or 152) and glucose (180 or 162).

In strawberry fruits, kaempferol malonylglucoside (peak 44) was identified as a new compound (**Table 3**). The same compound was later found in strawberry fruits by Aaby et al. (2007). The other compounds identified, namely flavan-3-ol compounds 33 and 35 (**I: Figure 1**), a flavan-3-ol dimer (34), *p*-coumaryl glucoside (36), pelargonidin 3-glucoside (38), pelargonidin 3-malonylglucoside (42), quercetin 3-glucuronide (41) and kaempferol glucuronide (43) are also reported for strawberry fruits (**I: Supporting information**) (Määttä-Riihinen et al. 2004; Aaby et al. 2005; Seeram et al. 2006).

In strawberry leaves, several soluble phenolic compounds were tentatively identified for the first time (**Table 3**). Most compounds were identified as ellagitannins, but ellagic acid derivatives and flavonols were also found. In addition to the newly identified compounds, casuarictin (5a), potentillin (15a), agrimoniin (the main peak 18), ellagic acid (11), ellagic acid pentose (12) and quercetin glucuronide (15b) were detected in the leaves in agreement with previous findings (**I**: **Supporting information**) (Okuda et al. 1992; Oertel et al. 2001).

In the cell-wall-bound fraction, ellagic acid (11), gallic acid (24), kaempferol hexose (27) and p-coumaric acid were identified (I: **Supporting information**). Ferulic acid, which is a common constituent of the cell walls of many plants, was not detected in strawberry (Röpenack et al. 1998; McLusky et al. 1999; Stadnik & Buchenauer 2000; Martens 2002). Although ferulic acid may actually not be present in the cell walls of strawberry, it is possible that it is more tightly bound with ether-linkages in lignin than is p-coumaric acid and, thus, may not have been extracted under the conditions used (Ralph et al. 2004).

In arctic bramble, soluble phenolics were measured and characterised only from the leaves (III). Similarly to strawberry, most compounds were ellagitannins while smaller fraction consisted of flavonols, galloylglucoses and hydroxycinnamic acids (III: Figure 3 and Supporting information). The compounds not reported in Rubus species previously are listed in **Table 4**. The compounds 21, 25, 36 and 38a were identified as ellagitannins and 7, 11, 13 and 17 as hydroxycinnamates, but their detailed structures could not be determined. However, most compounds, i.e. quercetin (37) and kaempferol (peak 40) glucuronide, quercetin (34) and kaempferol (39) hexose-deoxyhexoses, caffeoyl glucose (6), sanguiin H-6 (33), lambertianin C (35), lambertianin A (30), sanguiin H-10 (18 and 27), roshenin B (or desgalloyl-sanguiin H-6; 16 and 19), casuarictin/potentillin (26), sanguiin H-5 (14), tellimagrandin I (24 and 28a) and tellimagrandin II (32) were previously identified in the leaves of Rubus species grown in Asia or in the fruits of raspberry or arctic bramble (Okuda et al. 1992; Yoshida et al. 1992; Tanaka et al. 1993; Mullen et al. 2002; Mullen et al. 2003; Cho et al. 2004; Määttä-Riihinen et al. 2004; Li et al. 2007). Thus, the phenolic composition of the leaves is likely highly conserved within a plant genus, as it was also concluded by Okuda et al. (1992), who analysed the applicability of ellagitannin composition as a taxonomic marker in Rosaceae. The fruits and leaves, however, have distinct phenolic profiles as presented for strawberry above.

Table	3. The newly identified phenolic compo-	unds in the fruits and le	aves of strawberry cv. Jonso	k.	
Compound	Tentative identification	[M-H]	MS ² ions ^b	MS ³ ions	UV-vis spectrum ^c
no." Fruits					
44	kaempferol malonylglucoside	533	489	285	kaempferol
Leaves, solub	le phenolics				
1	ellagic acid derivative	481	301	257, 229,185	ellagic acid
2	quinic acid	191	111, 173		gallic acid
5b	ellagic acid hexose	463	301	257, 229, 185	ellagic acid
9	sanguiin H-10-like ellagitannin	783 (doubly charged)	633, 1265, 935, 897,613, 481–201	301	ellagitannin
			401, 201		
7	nobotanin A-like ellagitannin	858 (doubly charged)	783, 1415, 1235, 933, 915, 897, 763, 633, 481, 301	764, 481, 301	ellagitannin
9 and 19	agrimoniin-like ellagitannin (not acrimoniin)	934 (doubly charged)	1567, 1265, 1235, 858, 633, 301	I	ellagitannin
	agrimounu)		100		
10	quercetin hexose-deoxyhexose (not rutin)	609	301	273,257, 179, 151	quercetin
14	ellagic acid deoxyhexose	447	301	300, 257, 229, 185	ellagic acid
20	lambertianin C-like ellagitannin	1402 (doubly charged)	935, 1869, 1717, 1567, 1265, 1250, 1250, 1235, 1085, 935, 897	633, 463, 301	ellagitannin
Leaves, cell-v	vall-bound phenolics				
24	gallic acid	169	125		gallic acid
26	<i>p</i> -coumaric acid	I	I		p-coumaric acid [*]
27	kaempferol hexose	447	285	255, 227, 179, 151	kaempferol
^a Compoun	d numbers refer to those presented in I:	Figure 1. ^b The first ion	listed was used in MS ³		
fragmentatic	in. $^{\rm c}$ Spectra were compared to those of	standard compounds o	r to the literature (e.g. Määttä	֑	
Riihinen et a	ll. 2004; Salminen et al. 1999). ^v <i>p</i> -Courr	naric acid was not ionise	ed/detected in MS, but the		
compound h	ad identical elution and spectrum with th	he standard.			

Anne Hukkanen: Chemically induced resistance in strawberry and arctic bramble

Table	4. The phenolic compounds identified in	n the leaves of arctic bi	ramble or other Rubus for	the first	
time.	-				
Compound no. ^a	Tentative identification	[H-H]	$MS^2 ions^b$	MS ³ ions	UV-vis spectrum ^c
1	bis(galloyl)glucose	663	331, 483, 635	169, 271, 211, 193, 125	gallic acid
2	methyl gallate-galloylglucose	515	331	169, 271, 211, 193, 125	gallic acid
4 and 15	digalloyl glucose	483	331	169, 271, 211, 193, 125)
5	coumaryl quinic acid	355	191,209, 261, 355, 173		hydroxycinnamate
20	quercetin hexose-deoxyhexose-hexose	771	463, 301, 609	301, 285, 175, 227	quercetin
22 and 29a	deHHDP-lambertianin C	1250 (doubly charged)	1099, 933, 1084, 1897,	933, 1897, 1565, 783,	ellagitannin
		•	1867, 1567, 1235, 633,	613, 633, 948, 1735,)
			469, 782	1265, 469	
23a	kaempferol hexose-deoxyhexose-hexose	755	593, 447, 285	285, 229, 257	kaempferol
23b	trigalloylglucose	635	465, 483	313, 169, 295, 235,	gallic acid
				447, 211, 241, 321	1
28b	ellagic acid glucuronide	477	301	301, 257, 229, 185	ellagic acid
29b	quercetin hexose-glucuronide	639	301, 337, 459, 505	179, 151, 257, 273	quercetin
38b	kaempferol hexose-glucuronide	607	285, 321, 357, 473, 589	285, 257, 241, 151, 229	
39	kaempferol hexose-deoxyhexose	593	285	285, 257, 151, 241,	kaempferol
^a Compound	d numbers refer to those presented in III	l: Figure 3. ^b The first i	on listed was used in MS ³	201, 229, 213, 103	
fragmentatic	in and others are listed in the order of th	leir abundance. ^c Spect	tra were compared to those	e of	
standard coi	mpounds or to the literature (e.g. Määttä	i-Riihinen et al. 2004; S	Salminen et al. 1999).		

Results and discussion

Several new compounds were identified in the leaves of strawberry and arctic bramble. Only few compounds identical in both species were found, namely agrimoniin/sanguiin H-6-like ellagitannins, sanguiin H-10-like ellagitannin, potentillin/casuarictin, lambertianin C-like ellagitannin, quercetin hexose-deoxyhexose, and quercetin glucuronide. Ellagic acid derivatives common in the strawberry leaves were not found in arctic bramble, except for ellagic acid glucuronide. Instead, different galloylglucoses and hydroxycinnamates were more abundant in arctic bramble than in strawberry.

4.4.2 Effect of BTH on soluble leaf phenolics in strawberry and arctic bramble

Total soluble phenolic contents in different treatments of strawberry (I) and arctic bramble (III) leaves are shown in **Figure 13A** and **D**. Although the principal aim was to analyse the concentrations of individual phenolics, the general trend among phenolics in different treatments can be illustrated by the analysis of total phenolics.

In strawberry, BTH induced the accumulation of soluble leaf phenolics and this was augmented by the following inoculation with powdery mildew (**Figure 13A**). Without inoculation, the concentrations of phenolics dropped down to the same level as in the controls nine days after the BTH treatment. Interestingly, the different concentrations of BTH had different effect on the phenolics in arctic bramble (**Figure 13D**). Whereas the treatment with 0.05 g/l of BTH increased the total phenolics 1.3-fold of that of the controls in arctic bramble four days after the treatment, the higher concentration (0.4 g/l) did not have similar influence. However, even higher the levels 1.5-fold (without infection) in comparison to the controls four days after the treatment. Thus, the concentration of BTH can be critical for the induction of specific defence responses and the same dose may have distinct effect in different species of the same plant family.

The trend observed in the concentrations of most individual compounds in strawberry was similar to that of the total phenolics (I: **Table 2**). Among all compounds, ellagitannins showed the highest increase by BTH in comparison to the controls, the difference being sixfold in maximum. Quercetin glycosides and ellagic acid were also increased in BTH-treated plants whereas the levels of ellagic acid derivatives were not different between the BTH-treated and control plants. Smaller increase in ellagic acid derivatives could be partly explained by competition in the synthesis between ellagitannins and other ellagic acid derivatives, with a bias toward the tannins. Only one, unidentified compound was decreased by BTH in strawberry leaves.

In arctic bramble, the higher concentration of BTH (0.4 g/l) caused the accumulation of quercetin triglycoside and unidentified compound 12 while its influence on the level of different phenolics was otherwise absent or negative (III: **supporting information**). The compounds decreased by BTH were unidentified ellagitannins 36 and 38a, unidentified hydroxycinnamate 3, *p*-coumaric acid derivatives 11 and 13 and, to a lesser extent, some other ellagitannins. The lower dose of BTH (0.05 g/l), on the other hand, caused the accumulation of several compounds.



Results and discussion

Kuopio Univ. Publ. C. Nat. and Environ. Sci. 230: 1-98 (2008)

71

Particularly, all quercetin glycosides, kaempferol glucuronide, sanguiin H-10, deHHDP- lambertianin C, tellimagrandin II, unidentified ellagitannin 25 and unidentified hydroxycinnamates 10 and 12 were increased 1.3-3.0-fold.

Increased levels of phenolic compounds have also been found in other plant species treated with BTH, such as cowpea, grapevine, peach and sugarcane, suggesting that one general action mechanism of BTH can be the enhancement of the synthesis of secondary defence metabolites (Latunde-Dadas & Lucas 2001; Ramesh Sundar et al. 2001; Iriti et al. 2005; Liu et al. 2005). In the present study (**III**), BTH concentration was found to affect the outcome of the response in arctic bramble. BTH has been shown to act dose-dependently in many plants, the response improving alongside with the higher doseuntil plateau state is reached or increased phytotoxicity of BTH at high doses start to impair the response (Godard et al. 1999; Eikemo et al. 2002). Schweizer et al. (1999) found in rice that the lowest concentration of BTH tested provided the best protection against the blast fungus, but defence responses using various doses of BTH were not studied. The results imply that the optimal dose of BTH for arctic bramble is below 0.4 g/l.

4.4.3 BTH-induced changes in cell-wall-bound phenolics in strawberry leaves

The cell-wall-bound phenolics were increased by BTH treatment with and without subsequent inoculation in the strawberry leaves. The level of total phenolics measured from the whole fraction before ethyl acetate extraction, increased steadily in the controls during the sampling period, but the highest levels were measured in the inoculated BTH-treated plants nine days after BTH treatment (Figure 13B). The total amount was, however, much lower than that of the soluble phenolics. The increase in cell-wall-bound phenolics in time may partly explain the higher resistance to powdery mildew in older leaves (Peries 1962b). Individual cell-wall-bound phenolics showed distinct patterns of induction (I: Table 3). The unidentified compounds 22 and 23 were significantly increased by BTH while smaller accumulation was found in gallic acid and ellagic acid. The concentrations of kaempferol hexose and p-coumaric acid were not different between BTH-treated plants and the controls. In contrast to the soluble phenolics, the concentrations of the cell-wall-bound phenolics remained at the high level in noninoculated BTH-treated plants. The induction of cell-wall-bound phenolics by BTH is in accordance with the results obtained on other plants (Benhamou & Bélanger 1998b; Stadnik & Buchenauer 2000).

The analysis of cell-wall-bound phenolics is not easy because of the tight and variable bonds present between the different components of the cell walls (Martens 2002; Ralph et al. 2004). Furthermore, strong alkali hydrolysis used in the extraction easily breaks the compounds, and the resulting mixture of unhydrolysed conjugates, aglycones and degradation products is complex. Organic extraction is used to separate (mainly) aglycones from other compounds, but not all aglycones are equally extractable into organic solvents. Therefore, a recovery test with standard compounds was conducted to analyse which compounds survive through the hydrolysis process. Hydroxycinnamic acids, ferulic acid and *p*-coumaric acid, which are considered as
Results and discussion

the main phenolic group present in the cell walls, had high recoveries above 90% as also did hydroxybenzoic acid, showing that the method suits well for the analysis of those compounds. The other compounds tested, namely gallic acid, rutin and (+)catechin, were not recovered after the hydrolysis and extraction, which indicates that they degrade in alkali or are not extractable into ethyl acetate. Despite the results of the recovery test, gallic acid and kaempferol hexose were found in the strawberry extracts, but they may have been released from conjugates more resistant to alkali than the standards used. Considering the limitations of the method, the concentrations of cell-wall-bound phenolics measured should be taken only as indicative.

4.4.4 Influence of BTH on fruit phenolics in strawberry

BTH was also able to increase the content of some individual phenolics in strawberry fruits although there were four weeks between the last BTH application and harvest (I: **Table 4**). The effect of BTH was not seen in the total phenolics (**Figure 13C**), but in certain individual phenolics in inoculated and noninoculated BTH-treated plants when compared to the corresponding water-treated plants. Flavan-3-ols, anthocyanins, kaempferol derivatives and unidentified compounds 28-32 and 37 were accumulated by BTH treatment. According to the present results and similar results from Iriti et al. (2004; 2005), BTH treatment can affect the quality of the edible plant parts. Surprisingly few studies have been conducted on this subject considering that e.g. the nutritional properties of the crops could be improved through standard plant protection practices. It is not known whether the slight increase in the fruit phenolics observed can explain the lower number of infected fruits found in the BTH-treated plants.

4.4.5 Effect of phosphites on phenolics in arctic bramble

Phosphite treatments had no effect on the phenolic content of artic bramble leaves as illustrated by the scattering in PCA (**III**: **Figure 5**). Regression factor scores from the controls and phosphite-treated cv. Pima were clustered together, indicating that there was no difference in the phenolic profiles of these two groups. This was supported by the closer analysis of the concentrations of individual compounds, where no significant increase or decrease was found in comparison to the controls. Similar results were obtained with all phosphite treatments analysed. A slight induction of flavonol glycosides and some ellagitannins was seen by Phosfik, particularly four days after the treatment, but its significance for the disease resistance may be small (**III**: **Supporting information**). Hence, the efficacy of phosphites against downy mildew in arctic bramble is explained by factors other than the accumulation of phenolics, e.g. by direct activity against the pathogen.

4.4.6 Variation of phenolic levels in different arctic bramble cultivars

Several previous studies have shown that phenolic content varies between cultivars (Maas et al. 1991; Anttonen et al. 2005; Hukkanen et al. 2006). The phenolic profiles from leaves of different arctic bramble cultivars also varied quantitatively, but not qualitatively (**III**: **Figure 5**). Cvs Pima, Mespi and the clone 12B14 were separated in

PC1 and PC3, indicating that the compounds clustered under those principal components mainly contribute to the differentiation of phenolic profiles between the cultivars. Cv. Pima was separated from Mespi and 12B14 in both principal components. The analysis of individual compounds shows that in cv. Pima, the level of flavonols and ellagitannins is clearly lower than in Mespi/12B14 (**III**: **supporting information**). Cv. Mespi and 12B14 are separated from each other in PC3, the compounds (flavonol triglycosides, tellimagrandin I and unidentified ellagitannin 25 and hydroxycinnamates 3, 10, 11, 13) being present at higher level in Mespi.

4.4.7 Contribution of phenolics to induced or basal resistance in strawberry and arctic bramble

The results presented above indicate that phenolic compounds, ellagitannins and flavonols in particular, may be involved in the resistance mechanisms of strawberry and arctic bramble to powdery mildew and downy mildew disease, respectively. Ellagitannins were strongly induced by BTH in strawberry at the same time as resistance to powdery mildew was significantly improved. The induction was also sufficiently rapid to be able to affect the early phases of fungal growth, i.e. germination and penetration, which are critical for the initiation of infection. The model plant Arabidopsis and several main crops such as cereals, tobacco, potato, maize and many horticultural crops do not contain ellagitannins, which is probably one reason for the limited information available about the role of ellagitannins in resistance to pathogens. Antimicrobial activity of ellagitannins has been proved in vitro and in few woody species, suggesting that ellagitannins could have activity against microbes in herbaceous plants as well (Cowan 1999; Puupponen-Pimiä et al. 2001; Barry et al. 2001). In addition to tannins, the levels of cell-wall-bound phenolics increased in BTH-treated strawberry and could have affected the penetration of the powdery mildew fungus. In other pathosystems, penetration of biotrophic fungi has been disturbed by the accumulation of phenolic material at the infection site (Dai et al. 1995; Stadnik & Buchenauer 2000; Hückelhoven 2007). An analysis of local responses around the infection sites could perhaps been more informative concerning the effects of phenolics on the penetration than is the analysis of the whole leaves done in the present study. Microscopic analyses gave some indications that phenolic material and/or callose accumulates in the proximity of germinated conidia, but systematic analysis of the deposits in the control and BTHtreated plants was not performed.

An important aspect in the present study was to analyse possible correlation between the concentration of individual phenolics and resistance to downy mildew in arctic bramble, which could reveal the key molecules contributing to the resistance. Thus, the correlation was determined between the amount of individual phenolic compounds and pathogen DNA in different cultivars and treatments. Significant negative correlation was found between the amount of *P. sparsa* DNA and quercetin diglycoside (R= -0.408*), kaempferol diglycoside (R= -0.446*), quercetin glucuronide (R= -0.424*), kaempferol glucuronide (R= -0.477*), sanguiin H-6 (R= -0.357*), sanguiin H-10 (R= -0.285*), lambertianin C (R= -0.339*), roshenin B (R= - Results and discussion

 0.321^*) and unidentified ellagitannin 21 (R= -0.389*) eight days after inoculation. DeHHDP-lambertianin C, which was at the highest level in BTH-treated plants, correlated negatively to pathogen DNA already at the day of inoculation. Although negative correlation was also found between the total phenolics and pathogen DNA at the day of inoculation, similar correlation was not found eight days later, indicating that the induction of specific rather than total phenolics might contribute to the resistance to *P. sparsa*.

The high concentration of flavonols, ellagitannins and some hydroxycinnamic acids in the cultivars more resistant to P. sparsa suggests that those compounds may be involved in the defence against downy mildew in arctic bramble. Flavonols showed the most evident negative correlation to pathogen DNA. They may inhibit the growth of P. sparsa, since flavonols have shown antimicrobial and antifungal activity as well as accumulated as phytoalexins in other plants (Fawe et al. 1998; Curir et al. 2005; Báidez et al. 2006). The role of ellagitannins seems more complicated, since the high total level of ellagitannins could not protect 12B14 from the infection in the plate test. Furthermore, different tannins were elevated in cv. Mespi and BTH-treated cv. Pima, both showing resistance to P. sparsa. The compounds showing negative correlation to the growth of P. sparsa should be analysed in a wider range of plant genotypes together with the analysis of resistance to several pathogen isolates to draw conclusions about the significance of these compounds in disease resistance. Factors other than the accumulation of phenolics, e.g. increase of PR proteins, may explain the resistance induced by BTH, since only the lower concentration of BTH caused the increase in phenolics.

4.5 BTH-induced changes in leaf proteome of arctic bramble

4.5.1 Identified proteins

Two-dimensional protein analysis was performed to study the effects of BTH on leaf proteome of arctic bramble cv. Mespi (**IV**: **Figure 3**). Samples were collected four days after the BTH treatment, which was shown to be the point of maximal induction of PR-1 (**IV**: **Figure 2A**) and, thus, possibly also of other proteins. Altogether 792 valid protein spots were detected, of which 103 were significantly increased or decreased by BTH treatment. Eight spots were detected only in BTH-treated plants, 27 proteins showed at least two-fold increase, 37 less than two-fold increase, 7 at least two-fold decrease and 24 less than two-fold decrease compared to the control plants. The spots significantly affected by the BTH treatment were subjected to MS analysis for identification. Consequently, 18 proteins could be tentatively identified (**IV**: **Table 1**) based on homology to proteins characterized in other species since limited data are available for protein sequences from *Rubus* or other rosaceous plants. Therefore, the majority of the proteins, including many strongly affected ones, could not be identified.

4.5.2 Changes in defence metabolism

Many of the proteins identified could be associated with defence metabolism of plants. In addition to PR-1, which was strongly induced by BTH (IV: Figure 2C), the quantity of PR-10 was increased by BTH (IV: Table 1). The function of PR-10 proteins is not fully known, but their accumulation by SA, BTH or various stresses indicate a role in active defence of plants (Ziadi et al. 2001a; McGee et al. 2001; Poupard et al. 2003). PR-10 proteins have shown ribonuclease activity and they can bind ligands such as flavonoids and cytokinins, and permeabilize membranes (Park et al. 2004; Koistinen et al. 2005; Srivastava et al. 2006; Mogensen et al. 2007). The suggested role as a carrier of flavonoid-type small hydrophobic compounds (Koistinen et al. 2005) is supported by the fact that in white-coloured mutant of strawberry, the PR-10-like allergen protein (birch Bet v 1 homologue) is downregulated together with flavonoid synthesis (Hjernø et al. 2006). Another recent study showed that overexpression of PR-10 leads to elevated levels of cytokinins, which is in line with the ability of PR-10 proteins or their structural homologues to bind cytokinins (Srivastava et al. 2006; Pasternak et al. 2006). Cytokinins are phytohormones, which positively regulate growth, inhibit senescence and may act as antioxidants in oxidative stresses (Gidrol et al. 1994; Srivastava et al. 2006). Considering defence to pathogens, the role of PR-10 proteins seems complicated as Colditz et al. (2007) found higher resistance to oomycete pathogen Aphanomyces euteiches by repressing PR-10 protein in Medicago truncatula. Because the PR-10 family consist of several isoforms, different isoforms may be involved in the different functions.

Supporting the co-regulation with PR-10, two tentatively identified enzymes of the phenylpropanoid pathway, flavanone-3-hydroxylase and caffeoyl-CoA-3 *O*-methyltransferase, were up-regulated by BTH (**IV**: **Table 1**). Particularly, the clear increase in flavanone-3-hydroxylase (no spot detected in the controls) is highly consistent with the observed accumulation of flavonols by BTH in arctic bramble, since the enzyme catalyzes the conversion of naringenin to dihydrokaempferol or eriodictyol to dihydroquercetin in the pathway to flavonols. Caffeoyl-CoA-3 *O*-methyltransferase is involved in the synthesis of lignin (Martz et al. 1998), but the amount of lignin was not determined in this study. Supporting the present results, both enzymes were induced by BTH in wheat (Pasquer et al. 2005).

Alanine aminotransferase (AlaAT) was detected only in the BTH-treated plants (**IV**: **Table 1**). The induction of AlaAT is interesting considering some of its known functions. AlaAT has been found inducible by viral and bacterial pathogens, senescence, SA and ethylene similarly to PR-1, which suggest that it is linked to the SA-mediated defence pathway (Kim et al. 2005). AlaAT catalyzes the production of intermediates of photorespiration in peroxisomes, but may also be located in cytoplasm or mitochondria (Liepman & Olsen 2003). The role of AlaAT in photorespiration is also supported by the activation of other photorespiratory enzymes in transgenic melons carrying either alanine or serine glyoxylate aminotransferase (Taler et al. 2004). Furthermore, AlaAT was classified as enzymatic R protein in melon, providing resistance to downy mildew pathogen. Considering the role of

Results and discussion

photorespiration in defence to pathogens, H_2O_2 generated in the oxidation of glycolate may be used for the development of rapid oxidative burst and activation of HR and downstream defence (Mateo et al. 2004; Taler et al. 2004). Interestingly, SA can induce stomatal closure that leads to reduced gas exchange, subsequent decrease in cellular CO₂ and activation of photorespiration (Mateo et al. 2004). Possible role of photorespiration in SA-mediated defence in general remains to be elucidated.

1-aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylate (ACC) oxidase, which catalyzes the last step in ethylene synthesis, was increased twofold by BTH in comparison to the controls (IV: Table 1). The induction of ACC oxidase by BTH has also been reported in bean (Iriti &Faoro 2003). Ethylene is suggested to act in concert with JA, as both are involved in the resistance against necrotrophs. However, ethylene released during HR may also intensify the local expression of PR proteins in SA-mediated defence and is required for TMV-induced SAR in tobacco (Verberne et al. 2003). In ethyleneinsensitive mutants the local accumulation of SA is normal, but the systemic accumulation of SA and PR proteins is lower than in the control plants, indicating that ethylene is involved in the generation of systemic signal in SA-mediated defence pathway. Despite the observed induction of ethylene synthesis genes, direct increase of ethylene by BTH or SA has not been confirmed (Rao et al. 2002; Iriti & Faoro 2003). SA may prime the production of ethylene by increasing the levels of enzymes required for its synthesis and and the production of ethylene is further activated only when necessary to establish stress-induced cell death, SAR or other defence reactions. It is also possible that ethylene produced after BTH treatment causes the slow accumulation of conjugated SA observed in cv. Mespi.

4.5.3 Changes in energy metabolism

BTH both increased and decreased proteins that are involved in the production of energy. Up-regulated proteins were phosphoglycerate kinase and malate dehydrogenase whereas fructose bisphosphate aldolase, triosephosphate isomerase (chloroplastic) and ATP synthase were down-regulated (**IV**: **Table 1**). These proteins have often been found up-regulated in stressed plants, indicating higher need for energy and metabolites during defence (Curto et al. 2006; Segarra et al. 2007). In the present study, the changes observed in the proteins functioning in glycolysis, citric acid cycle and photosynthesis were relatively small (0.8/1.2) and their significance remains unclear as only a small group of proteins affected by BTH could be identified.

The most evident decrease observed in ATP synthase is consistent with the reduction of vegetative growth by BTH in arctic bramble. Cell culture studies have also shown that SA can inhibit respiration and ATP synthesis in mitochondria (Norman et al. 2004), which supports the observed decline in ATP synthase by BTH in the present study.

4.5.4 Changes in other proteins

Some of the proteins affected by BTH are involved in the degradation, folding or transport of proteins. The amount of nascent polypeptide-associated complex α chain

 (αNAC) and 20S proteasome α subunit were increased by BTH (**IV**: **Table 1**). αNAC may function in the transport and targeting of nascent peptides from ribosomes or in the transport of proteins into mitochondria while 20S proteasome α subunit is a part of the large ATP/ubiquitin-dependent 26S proteolytic complex (Wang et al. 1995; Funfschilling & Rospert 1999). The activation of protein processing in the cells may be caused by the redirection of protein synthesis from basic metabolism to defence. Proteasome subunit has also shown responsiveness to SA and stresses in other studies (Etienne et al. 2000). The down-regulation of heat shock protein (HSP) 70 was quite unexpected considering that, similarly to αNAC , it is involved in the quality control of proteins together with other heat shock proteins and is often increased by stresses (Hartl & Hayer-Hartl 2002). Kanzaki et al. showed that HSP70 is also connected to the development of non-host resistance and HR in *Nicotiana benthamiana* (Kanzaki et al. 2003). The reason for the down-regulation of HSP70 by BTH in arctic bramble remains unclear.

The other proteins identified are related to diverse functions in plants. BTH increased the amount of reversibly glycosylated protein (RGP), the function of which is unclear. The protein is located in plasmodesmata, can presumably self-glycosylate and participate in cell division and the development of cell walls (Sagi et al. 2005; Drakaki et al. 2006). The other two proteins, i.e. 1-deoxy-D-xylulose 5-phosphate reductoisomerase (DXR) and glutamine synthetase, were slightly decreased by BTH (**IV: Table 1**). DXR is involved in the synthesis of isoprenoid-derived molecules such as chlorophyll, plastoquinones, carotenoids and terpenes in plastids. The pathway is responsive to abiotic and biotic stresses, but it is unclear how the down-regulation of the pathway is related to SA-mediated defence, particularly considering the high number of different products coming from the pathway (Lichtenthaler 1999; Carretero-Paulet et al. 2002). The down-regulation of glutamine synthetase may be linked to the reduced vegetative growth observed in BTH-treated arctic bramble as glutamine synthetase regulates nitrogen metabolism by assimilating ammonium (Tabuchi et al. 2007).

5. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

The aim of this work was to evaluate the efficacy and applicability of induced resistance against powdery mildew and downy mildew diseases of strawberry and arctic bramble, respectively. The second aim was to analyse specific defence-related biochemical and chemical changes during the development of resistance and, thus, possibly find compounds, which are important for the resistance against the pathogens.

Quantitative real-time PCR and *in vitro* plate test for the analysis of arctic bramble-*P. sparsa* interaction

Two methods were developed for the analysis of arctic bramble-*Peronospora sparsa* interaction. Quantitative real-time PCR proved to be specific, sensitive and reproducible, enabling the quantification of low amounts of *P. sparsa* DNA from the samples showing no visible symptoms of the disease. The primers designed can also be used for the analysis of downy mildew in other *Rubus* or *Rosa* species. A simple and fast *in vitro* plate test was developed for the pre-screening of resistance in different genotypes and agrochemical treatments before executing larger experiments in the greenhouse or in the field. Both methods can be used in the evaluation of breeding material and efficacy of plant protection practices.

Resistance to pathogens was improved by BTH and other agrochemicals

BTH treatment improved resistance to both powdery and downy mildew diseases in the greenhouse when applied prior to inoculation. Induction of resistance by BTH lowered the weight of foliage in both plants, but at least under the conditions used, no reduction in fruit yield was observed. Of the two registered fungicides against *P. sparsa* in Finland, Euparen M was more efficient than Aliette. Phosphite-based products Aliette, Phosfik and Phostrol also gave moderate level of protection against *P. sparsa*. Phosphites might be a useful option for the protection of arctic bramble due to their low toxicity and short withholding periods, but their efficacy has yet to be proven under field conditions. In general, induced resistance was found as a promising means for the protection of arctic bramble and greenhouse-grown strawberry.

Differences in the basal resistance to *P. sparsa* were found in three arctic bramble cultivars. Cv. Mespi was most resistant to the pathogen isolate used, but resistance of cultivars still needs to be analysed against several pathogen isolates.

BTH activates SA-mediated defence pathway despite of high endogenous SA levels

Exceptionally high basal concentrations of SA were found in strawberry and arctic bramble leaves. BTH was shown to activate SA-mediated defence in arctic bramble, as evidenced by the accumulation of the marker protein PR-1. BTH also induced slow accumulation of SA in both species. However, the induction of PR-1 was not related to the accumulation of conjugated SA in arctic bramble, suggesting that the increase

in SA is not for signalling purpose. Because the induction of SA highly resembled that of other phenolic compounds, SA may have similar functions to those found for other phenolics.

Accumulation of phenolic compounds may be involved in the resistance to pathogens

Ellagitannins were the most abundant phenolics identified in strawberry and arctic bramble leaves, but only a few compounds identical between the species were found. Besides ellagitannins, flavonol glycosides and ellagic acid derivatives were common in strawberry whereas flavonol glycosides, hydroxycinnamates and galloyl glucoses were common in arctic bramble. Cell-wall-bound phenolics were characterised in strawberry for the first time.

BTH induced the accumulation of ellagitannins, ellagic acid and flavonol glycosides in strawberry whereas the amount of individual phenolics was increased or decreased by BTH in arctic bramble. Phosphites did not affect the phenolics in arctic bramble. Ellagitannins may be important in the resistance to powdery mildew in strawberry as their accumulation was strong and rapid enough to inhibit the initial phases of infection. The increase in cell-wall-bound phenolics may also be involved in the restriction of infection. In arctic bramble, flavonols and some ellagitannins showed negative correlation to the amount of pathogen DNA, indicating that those compounds may be effective against *P. sparsa*. However, other factors such as defence proteins are also likely to contribute to induced resistance in both plant species.

BTH affects the leaf proteome in arctic bramble

BTH increased or decreased the amount of 103 proteins in arctic bramble cv. Mespi leaves. From the 18 tentatively identified proteins, 10 were increased and 8 decreased by BTH. Among the increased proteins, PR-10, flavanone-3-hydroxylase, ACC oxidase and AlaAT were the most interesting ones in terms of defence. Decrease in ATP synthase may explain the observed reduction in vegetative growth. Since only a small fraction of the proteins affected by BTH could be identified, overview of the metabolic changes remained quite limited. However, several proteins possibly important for defence in arctic bramble were found.

Conclusion

The application of chemically induced resistance against two diseases of strawberry and arctic bramble gave promising results, which encourages evaluating further the effectiveness of the approach in the field. Several phenolic compounds and proteins possibly involved in the resistance to powdery and downy mildew pathogens were found. The identified compounds can be isolated and further tested against the pathogens. The information about the phenolic composition in the leaves or fruits can also be used for the isolation of bioactive compounds for other purposes. New information was obtained and methods developed for more efficient and targeted analysis of arctic bramble-*P. sparsa* interaction.

6. REFERENCES

- Aaby K., Skrede G., Wrolstad E. 2005. Phenolic composition and antioxidant activities in flesh and achenes of strawberries (*Fragaria ananassa*). J. Agric. Food Chem. 53: 4032-4040.
- **Aaby K., Ekeberg D., Skrede G.** 2007. Characterization of phenolic compounds in strawberry (*Fragaria* × *ananassa*) fruits by different HPLC detectors and contribution of individual compounds to total antioxidant capacity. J. Agric. Food Chem. 55: 4395-4406.
- Achuo E.A., Audenaert H., Meziane H., Höfte M. 2004. The salicylic acid-dependent defence pathway is effective against different pathogens in tomato and tobacco. Plant Pathol. 53: 65-72.
- Aegerter B.J., Nuñez J.J., Davis R.M. 2002. Detection and management of downy mildew in rose rootstock. Plant Dis. 86: 1363-1368.
- Agnola B., Boury S., Monot C., Quillévéré A., Hervé Y., Silué D. 2003. Evidence that a leaf-disk test allows assessment of isolate-specific resistance in *Brassica oleracea* crops against downy mildew (*Peronospora parasitica*). Eur. J. Plant Pathol. 109: 471-478.
- Agrios G.N. 2005. Plant Pathology, Elsevier Academic Press, San Diego, California, USA.
- Ahn Y.-J., Lee H.-S., Oh H.-S., Kim H.-T., Lee Y.-H. 2005. Antifungal activity and mode of action of Galla rhois-derived phenolics against phytopathogenic fungi. Pestic. Biochem. Physiol. 81: 105-112.
- Alcerito T., Barbo F.E., Negri G., Santos D.Y.A.C., Meda C.I., Young M.C.M., Chávez D., Blatt C.T.T. 2002. Foliar epicuticular wax of *Arrabidaea brachypoda*: flavonoids and antifungal activity. Biochem. Syst. Ecol. 30: 677-683.
- Alexander D., Goodman R.M., Gut-Rella M., Glascock C., Weymann K., Friedrich L., Maddox D., Ahl-Goy P., Luntz T., Ward E., Ryals J. 1993. Increased tolerance to two oomycete pathogens in transgenic tobacco expressing pathogenesis-relatesd protein 1a. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci USA 90: 7327-7331.
- Amzalek E., Cohen Y. 2007. Comparative efficacy of systemic acquired resistance-inducing compounds against rust infection in sunflower plants. Phytopathology 97: 179-186.
- Andreu A.B., Daleo G.R., Caldiz D.O., Guevara M.G., Wolski E.A. 2006. Enhancement of natural disease resistance in potatoes by chemicals. Pest Manag. Sci. 62: 162-170.
- Aneja M., Gianfagna T. 2001. Induction and accumulation of caffeine in young, actively growing leaves of cocoa (*Theobroma cacao* L.) by wounding or infection with *Crinipellis perniciosa*. Physiol. Mol. Plant Pathol. 59: 13-16.
- Anfoka G.H. 2000. Benzo-(1,2,3)-thiadiazole-7-carbothioic acid S-methyl ester induces systemic resistance in tomato (*Lycopersicon esculentum* Mill cv. Vollendung) to *Cucumber mosaic virus*. Crop Prot. 19: 401-405.
- Anttonen M., Karjalainen R. 2005. Environmental and genetic variation of phenolic compounds in red raspberry. J. Food Compost. Anal. 18: 759-769.
- Apel K., Hirt H. 2004. Reactive oxygen species: metabolism, oxidative stress, and signal transduction. Annu. Rev. Plant Biol. 55: 373-399.
- Ardi R., Kobiler I., Jacoby B., Keen N.T., Prusky D. 1998. Involvement of epicatechin biosynthesis in the activation of the mechanism of resistance of avocado fruits to *Colletotrichum* gloeosporioides. Physiol. Mol. Plant Pathol. 53: 269-285.
- Babu R.M., Sajeena A., Samundeeswari A.V., Sreedhar A., Vidhyasekeran P., Reddy M.S. 2003. Induction of bacterial blight (*Xanthomonas oryzae* pv. oryzae) resistance in rice by treatment with acibenzolar-S-methyl. Ann. Appl. Biol. 143: 333-340.
- Báidez A.G., Gómez P., Del Río J.A., Ortuño A. 2006. Antifungal capacity of major phenolic compounds of *Olea europaea* L. against *Phytophthora megasperma* Drechsler and Cylindrocarpon destructans (Zinssm.) Scholten. Physiol. Mol. Plant Pathol. 69: 224-229.
- Baillieul F., Genetet I., Kopp M., Saindrenan P., Fritig B., Kauffmann S. 1995. A new elicitor of the hypersensitive response in tobacco: a fungal glycoprotein elicits cell death, expression of defence genes, production of salicylic acid, and induction of systemic acquired resistance. Plant J. 8: 551-560.

- Ball L., Accotto G.-P., Bechtold U., Creissen G., Funck D., Jimenez A., Kular B., Leyland N., Mejia-Carranza J., Reynolds H., Karpinski S., Mullineaux P.M. 2004. Evidence for a direct link between glutathione biosynthesis and stress defense gene expression in Arabidopsis. Plant Cell 16: 2448-2462.
- Balmer, Y., Vensel W.H., Tanaka C.K., Hurkman W.J., Gelhaye E., Rouhier N., Jacquot J.-P., Manieri W., Schürmann P., Droux M., Buchanan B.B. 2004. Thioredoxin links redox to the regulation of fundamental processes of plant mitochondria. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci USA 101: 2642-2647.
- **Barry K.M., Davies N.W., Mohammed C.L.** 2001. Identification of hydrolysable tannins in the reaction zone of *Eucalyptus nitens* wood by high performance liquid chromatography electrospray ionisation mass spectrometry. Phytochem. Anal. 12: 120-127.
- **Baysal Ö., Soylu E.M., Soylu S.** 2003. Induction of defence-related enzymes and resistance by the plant activator acibenzolar-S-methyl in tomato seedlings against bacterial canker caused by *Clavibacter michiganensis* ssp. *michiganensis*. Plant Pathol. 52: 747-753.
- Beckers G.J.M., Conrath U. 2007. Priming for stress resistance: from the lab to the field. Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. 10: 425-431.
- **Bécot S., Pajot E., Le Core D., Monot C., Silué D.** 2000. Phytogard[®] (K₂HPO₃) induces localized resistance in cauliflower to downy mildew of crucifers. Crop Prot 19: 417-425.
- Benhamou N., Bélanger R.R. 1998a. Benzothiadiazole-mediated induced resistance to Fusarium oxysporum f.sp. radicis-lycopersici in tomato. Plant Physiol. 118: 1203-1212.
- **Benhamou N., Bélanger R.R.** 1998b. Induction of systemic resistance to *Pythium* damping-off in cucumber plants by benzothiadiazole: ultrastructure and cytochemistry of the host response. Plant J. 14: 13-21.
- **Benhamou N., Nicole M.** 1999. Cell biology of plant immunization against microbial infection: the potential of induced resistance in controlling plant diseases. Plant Physiol. Biochem. 37: 703-719.
- Bhat T.K., Singh B., Sharma O.P. 1998. Microbial degradation of tannins a current perspective. Biodegradation 9: 343-357.
- **Bigirimana J., Höfte M.** 2002. Induction of systemic resistance to *Colletotrichum lindemuthianum* in bean by a benzothiadiazole derivative and rhizobacteria. Phytoparasitica 30: 1-10.
- Bisogno F., Mascoti L., Sanchez C., Garibotto F., Giannini F., Kurina-Sanz M., Enriz R. 2007. Structure-antifungal activity relationship of cinnamic acid derivatives. J. Agric. Food Chem. 55: 10635-10640.
- **Bokshi A.I., Morris S.C., Deverall B.J.** 2003. Effects of benzothiadiazole and acetylsalicylic acid on β-1,3-glucanase activity and disease resistance in potato. Plant Pathol. 52: 22-27.
- **Bokshi A.I., Morris S.C., McConchie R.M., Deverall B.J.** 2006. Pre-harvest application of 2,6dichloroisonicotinic acid, beta-aminobutyric acid or benzothiadiazole to control post-harvest diseases of melons by inducing systemic acquired resistance (SAR). J. Hortic. Sci. Technol. 81: 700-706.
- **Borges A.A., Cools H.J., Lucas J.A.** 2003. Menadione sodium bisulphite: a novel plant defence activator which enhances local and systemic resistance to infection by *Leptosphaeria maculans* in oilseed rape. Plant Pathol. 52: 429-436.
- **Bostock R.M.** 2005. Signal crosstalk and induced resistance: straddling the line between cost and benefit. Annu. Rev. Phytopathol. 43: 545-580.
- **Bovie C., Ongena M., Thonart P., Dommes J.** 2004. Cloning and expression analysis of cDNAs corresponding to genes activated in cucumber showing systemic acquired resistance after BTH treatment. BMC Plant Biol. 4: 15.
- Bowling S., Guo A., Cao H., Gordon A.S., Klessig D.F., Dong X. 1994. A Mutation in Arabidopsis that leads to constitutive expression of systemic acquired resistance. Plant Cell 6: 1845-1857.
- Breese W.A., Shattock R.C., Williamson B., Hackett C. 1994. *In vitro* spore germination and infection of cultivars of *Rubus* and *Rosa* by downy mildews from both hosts. Ann. Appl. Biol. 125: 73-85.

- **Brisset M.-N., Cesbron S., Thomson S.V., Paulin J.-P.** 2000. Acibenzolar-S-methyl induces the accumulation of defense-related enzymes in apple and protects from fire blight. Eur. J. Plant Pathol. 106: 529-536.
- Brodersen P., Petersen M., Nielsen H.B., Zhu S., Newman M.-A., Shokat K.M., Rietz S., Parker J., Mundy J. 2006. Arabidopsis MAP kinase 4 regulates salicylic acid- and jasmonic acid/ethylene-dependent responses via EDS1 and PAD4. Plant J. 47: 532-546.
- Broglie K., Chet I., Holliday M., Cressman R., Biddle P., Knowlton S., Mauvais C.J., Broglie R. 1991. Transgenic plants with enhanced resistance to the fungal pathogen *Rhizoctonia solani*. Science 254: 1194-1197.
- Brown S., Koike S.T., Ochoa O.E., Laemmlen F., Michelmore R.W. 2004. Insensitivity to the fungicide fosetyl-aluminum in California isolates of the lettuce downy mildew pathogen, *Bremia lactucae*. Plant Dis. 88: 502-508.
- Buzi A., Chilosi G., De Sillo D., Magro P. 2004. Induction of resistance in melon to *Didymella bryoniae* and *Sclerotinia sclerotiorum* by seed treatments with acibenzolar-S-methyl and methyl jasmonate but not with salicylic acid. J. Phytopathol. 152: 34-42.
- Cameron R.K., Paiva N.L., Lamb C.J., Dixon R.A. 1999. Accumulation of salicylic acid and PR-1 transcripts in relation to the systemic acquired resistance (SAR) response induced by *Pseudomonas syringae* pv. tomato in Arabidopsis. Physiol. Mol. Plant Pathol. 55: 121-130.
- **Cameron R.K.** 2000. Salicylic acid and its role in plant defense responses: what do we really know? Physiol. Mol. Plant Pathol. 56: 91-93.
- Cao J., Jiang W. 2006. Induction of resistance in Yali pear (*Pyrus bretschneideri* Rehd.) fruit against postharvest diseases by acibenzolar-S-methyl sprays on trees during fruit growth. Sci. Hortic. 110: 181-186.
- Carretero-Paulet L., Ahumada I., Cunillera N., Rodriguez-Concepción M., Ferrer A., Boronat A., Campos N. 2002. Expression and molecular analysis of the Arabidopsis DXR gene encoding 1-deoxy-D-xylulose 5-phosphate reductoisomerase, the first committed enzyme of the 2-C-methyl-D-erythritol 4-phosphate pathway. Plant Physiol. 129: 1581-1591.
- **Chaves F.C., Gianfagna T.J.** 2007. Cacao leaf procyanidins increase locally and systemically in response to infection by *Moniliophthora perniciosa* basidiospores. Physiol. Mol. Plant Pathol. 70: 174-179.
- **Chen S.X., Schopfer P.** 1999. Hydroxyl radical production in physiological reactions. A novel function of peroxidase. Eur. J. Biochem. 260:726-35.
- Chin K.M., Chavaillaz D., Kaesbohrer M., Staub T., Felsenstein F.G. 2001. Characterizing resistance risk of *Erysiphe graminis* f.sp. *tritici* to strobilurins. Crop Prot. 20: 87-96.
- Cho M.J., Howard L.R., Prior R.L., Clark J.R. 2004. Flavonoid glycosides and antioxidant capacity of various blackberry, blueberry and red grape genotypes determined by high-performance liquid chromatography/mass spectrometry. J. Sci. Food Agric. 84: 1771-1782.
- Choi Y.H., Tapias E.C., Kim H.K., Lefeber A.W.M., Erkelens C., Verhoeven J.Th.J., Brzin J., Zel J., Verpoorte R. 2004. Metabolic discrimination of *Catharanthus roseus* leaves infected by phytoplasma using 1H-NMR spectroscopy and multivariate data analysis. Plant Physiol. 135: 2398-2410.
- Chong J., Pierrel M.-A., Atanassova R., Werck-Reichhart D., Fritig B., Saindrenan P. 2001. Free and conjugated benzoic acid in tobacco plants and cell cultures. Induced accumulation upon elicitation of defense responses and role as salicylic acid precursors. Plant Physiol. 125: 318-328.
- Clifford M.N. 1999. Chlorogenic acids and other cinnamates nature, occurrence and dietary burden. J. Sci. Food Agric. 79: 362-372.
- Clifford M.N. 2000. Anthocyanins nature, occurrence and dietary burden. J. Sci. Food Agric. 80: 1063-1072.
- Cohen Y., Coffey M.D. 1986. Systemic fungicides and the control of oomycetes. Annu. Rev. Phytopathol. 24: 311-338.

- **Colditz F., Niehaus K., Krajinski F.** 2007. Silencing of PR-10-like proteins in *Medicago truncatula* results in an antagonistic induction of other PR proteins and in an increased tolerance upon infection with the oomycete *Aphanomyces euteiches*. Planta 226: 57-71.
- **Cole D.L.** 1999. The efficacy of acibenzolar-S-methyl, an inducer of systemic acquired resistance, against bacterial and fungal diseases of tobacco. Crop Prot. 18: 267-273.
- **Colson-Hanks E.S., Deverall B.J.** 2000a. Effect of 2,6-isochloronicotinic acid, its formulation materials and benzothiadiazole on systemic resistance to alternaria leaf spot in cotton. Plant Pathol. 49: 171-178.
- **Colson-Hanks E.S., Allen S.J., Deverall B.J.** 2000b. Effect of 2,6-isochloronicotinic acid or benzothiadiazole on *Alternaria* leaf spot, bacterial blight and *Verticillium* wilt in cotton under field conditions. Australas. Plant Pathol. 29: 170-177.
- Cooke D.E.L, Drenth A., Duncan J.M., Wagels G., Brasier C.M. 2000. A molecular phylogeny of *Phytophthora* and related oomycetes. Fungal Genet. Biol. 30: 17-32.
- **Cools H.J., Ishii H.** 2002. Pre-treatment of cucumber plants with acibenzolar-S-methyl systemically primes a phenylalanine ammonia lyase gene (*PAL1*) for enhanced expression upon attack with a pathogenic fungus. Physiol. Mol. Plant Pathol. 61: 273-280.
- Coquoz J.-L., Buchala A., Métraux J.-P. 1998. The biosynthesis of salicylic acid in potato plants. Plant Physiol. 117: 1095-1101.
- Cowan M.M. 1999. Plant products as antimicrobial agents. Clin. Microbiol. Rev. 12: 564-582.
- Csinos A.S., Pappu H.R., McPherson R.M., Stephenson M.G. 2001. Management of *Tomato* spotted wilt virus in flue-cured tobacco with acibenzolar-S-methyl and imidacloprid. Plant Dis. 85: 292-296.
- Curir P., Dolci M., Galeotti F. 2005. A phytoalexin-like flavonol involved in the carnation (*Dianthus caryophyllus*) *Fusarium oxysporum* f. sp. *Dianthi* pathosystem. J. Phytopathol. 153: 65-67.
- Curto M., Camafeita E., Lopez J.A., Maldonado A.M., Rubiales D., Jorrín J.V. 2006. A proteomic approach to study pea (*Pisum sativum*) responses to powdery mildew (*Erysiphe pisi*). Proteomics 6: S163-S174.
- Daayf F., Bel-Rhlid R., Bélanger R.R. 1997. Methyl ester of p-coumaric acid: a phytoalexin-like compound from long English cucumber leaves. J. Chem. Ecol. 23: 1517-1526.
- Daayf F., El Bellaj M., El Hassni M., J'aiti F., El Hadrami I. 2003. Elicitation of soluble phenolics in date palm (*Phoenix dactylifera*) callus by *Fusarium oxysporum* f. sp. albedinis culture medium. Environ. Exp. Bot. 49: 41-47.
- Dai G.H., Andary C., Mondolot-Cosson L., Boubals D. 1995. Histochemical studies on the interaction between three species of grapevine, *Vitis vinifera*, V. rupestris and V. rotundifolia and the downy mildew fungus, *Plasmopara viticola*. Physiol. Mol. Plant Pathol. 46: 177-188.
- Dai G.H., Nicole M., Andary C., Martinez C., Bresson E., Boher B., Daniel J.F., Geiger J.P. 1996. Flavonoids accumulate in cell walls, middle lamellae and callose-rich papillae during an incompatible interaction between *Xanthomonas campestris* pv. *Malvacearum* and cotton. Physiol. Mol. Plant Pathol. 49: 285-306.
- Daniel R., Guest D. 2006. Defence responses induced by potassium phosphonate in *Phytophthora palmivora*-challenged *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Physiol. Mol. Plant. Pathol. 67: 194-201.
- **Dann E., Diers B., Byrum J., Hammerschmidt R.** 1998. Effect of treating soybean with 2,6dichloroisonicotinic acid (INA) and benzothiadiazole (BTH) on seed yields and the levels of disease caused by *Sclerotinia sclerotiorum* in field and greenhouse studies. Eur. J. Plant Pathol. 104: 271-278.
- **Dann E.K., Deverall B.J.** 2000. Activation of systemic disease resistance in pea by an avirulent bacterium or a benzothiadiazole, but not by a fungal leaf spot pathogen. Plant Pathol. 49: 324-332.
- **Dat J.F., Foyer C.H., Scott I.M.** 1998a. Changes in salicylic acid and antioxidants during induced thermotolerance in mustard seedlings. Plant Physiol. 118: 1455-1461.
- **Dat J.F., Lopez-Delgado H., Foyer C.H., Scott I.M.** 1998b. Parallel changes in H₂O₂ and catalase during thermotolerance induced by salicylic acid or heat acclimation in mustard seedlings. Plant Physiol. 116: 1351-1357.

ъ	C		
Re	2ter	'n	Ces
1//	101	UII	cco

- Davik J., Honne B.I. 2005. Genetic variance and breeding values for resistance to a wind-borne disease [Sphaerotheca macularis (Wallr. ex Fr.)] in strawberry (Fragaria × ananassa Duch.) estimated by exploring mixed and spatial models and pedigree information. Theor. Appl. Genet. 111: 256-264.
- Dean J.V., Mohammed L.A., Fitzpatrick T. 2005. The formation, vacuolar localization, and tonoplast transport of salicylic acid glucose conjugates in tobacco cell suspension cultures. Planta 221: 287-296.
- Delaney T.P., Uknes S., Vernooij B., Friedrich L., Weymann K., Negrotto D., Gaffney T., Gut-Rella M., Kessmann H., Ward E., Ryals J. 1994. A central role of salicylic acid in plant disease resistance. Science 266: 1247-1250.
- De Nardi B., Dreos R., Del Terra L., Martellossi C., Asquini E., Tornincasa P., Gasperini D., Pacchioni B., Rathinavelu R., Pallavicini A., Graziosi G. 2006. Differential responses of *Coffea arabica* L. leaves and roots to chemically induced systemic acquired resistance. Genome 49: 1594-1605.
- Desveaux D., Subramaniam R., Després C., Mess J.N., Lévesque C., Fobert P.R., Dangl J.F., Brisson N. 2004. A "Whirly" transcription factor is required for salicylic acid-dependent disease resistance in Arabidopsis. Dev. Cell 6: 229-40.
- Dietrich R., Ploss K., Heil M. 2005. Growth responses and fitness costs after induction of pathogen resistance depend on environmental conditions. Plant Cell Environ. 28: 211-222.
- Dixon R., Paiva N. 1995. Stress-induced phenylpropanoid metabolism. Plant Cell 7: 1085-1097.
- Dixon R.A. 2001. Natural products and plant disease resistance. Nature 411: 843-847.
- Dixon R.A., Xie D.-Y., Sharma S.B. 2005. Proanthocyanidins a final frontier in flavonoid research? New Phytol. 165: 9-28.
- Dong X. 2004. NPR1, all things considered. Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. 7: 547-552.
- Doyle J.J., Doyle J.L. 1990. Isolation of plant DNA from fresh tissue. Focus 12: 13-15.
- **Drakakaki G., Zabotina O., Delgado I., Robert S., Keegstra K., Raikhel N.** 2006. Arabidopsis reversible glycosylated polypeptides 1 and 2 are essential for pollen development. Plant Physiol. 142: 1480-1492.
- Du H., Klessig D.F. 1997. Identification of a soluble, high-affinity salicylic acid-binding protein in tobacco. Plant Physiol. 113: 1319-1327.
- Edreva A. 2005. The importance of non-photosynthetic pigments and cinnamic acid derivatives in photoprotection. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 106: 135-146.
- Ehret D.L., Menzies J.G., Bogdanoff C., Ukthede R.S., Frey B. 2002. Foliar applications of fertilizer salts inhibit powdery mildew on tomato. Can. J. Plant Pathol. 24: 437-444.
- Eikemo H., Stensvand A., Tronsmo A.M. 2003. Induced resistance as a possible means to control diseases of strawberry caused by *Phytophthora* spp. Plant Dis. 87: 345-350.
- Ellis M.A., Converse R.H., Williams R.N., Williamson B. 1991. Compendium of raspberry and blackberry diseases and insects, APS Press, St. Paul, Minnesota, USA.
- Elmer W.H. 2006. Effects of acibenzolar-S-methyl on the suppression of Fusarium wilt of cyclamen. Crop Prot. 25: 671-676.
- Etienne P., Petitot A.-S., Houot V., Blein J.-P., Suty L. 2000. Induction of tcI7, a gene encoding a b-subunit of proteasome, in tobacco plants treated with elicitins, salicylic acid or hydrogen peroxide. FEBS Lett. 466: 213-218.
- **EulgemT., Somssich I.E.** 2007. Networks of WRKY transcription factors in defense signaling. Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. 10: 366-371.
- Fawe A., Abou-Zaid M., Menzies J.G., Bélanger R.R. 1998. Silicon-mediated accumulation of flavonoid phytoalexins in cucumber. Phytopathology 88: 396-401.
- Feechan A., Kwon E., Yun B.W., Wang Y., Pallas J.A., Loake G.J. 2005. A central role for Snitrosothiols in plant disease resistance. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci USA 102: 8054-8059.
- Fenn M.E., Coffey M.D. 1984. Studies on the in vitro and in vivo antifungal activity of fosetyl-Al and phosphorous acid. Phytopathology 74: 606-611.
- Field B., Jordán F., Osbourn A. 2006. First encounters deployment of defence-related natural products by plants. New Phytol. 172: 193-207.

- Fischbach R.J., Kossmann B., Panten H., Steinbrecher R., Heller W., Seidlitz H.K., Sandermann H., Hertkorn N., Schnitzler J.-P. 1999. Seasonal accumulation of ultraviolet-B screening pigments in needles of Norway spruce (*Picea abies* (L.) Karst.). Plant Cell Environ. 22: 27-37.
- Fofana B., Benhamou N., McNally D.J., Labbé C., Séguin A., Bélanger R.R. 2005. Suppression of induced resistance in cucumber through disruption of the flavonoid pathway. Phytopathology 95: 114-123.
- Friedrich L., Lawton K., Ruess W., Masner P., Specker N., Gut Rella M., Meier B., Dincher S., Staub T., Uknes S., Métraux J.P., Kessmann H., Ryals J. 1996. A benzothiadiazole derivative induces systemic acquired resistance in tobacco. Plant J. 10: 61-70.
- Fujita M., Fujita Y., Noutoshi Y., Takahashi F., Narusaka Y., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K., Shinozaki K. 2006. Crosstalk between abiotic and biotic stress responses: a current view from the points of convergence in the stress signaling networks. Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. 9: 436-442.
- Fumagalli F., Rossoni M., Iriti M., Di Gennaro A., Faoro F., Borroni E., Borgo M., Scienza A., Sala A., Folco G. 2006. From field to health: a simple way to increase the nutraceutical content of grape as shown by NO-dependent vascular relaxation. J. Agric. Food Chem. 54: 5344-5349.
- Funfschilling U., Rospert S. 1999. Nascent polypeptide-associated complex stimulates protein import into yeast mitochondria. Mol. Biol. Cell 10: 3289-3299.
- Gachon C., Saindrenan P. 2004. Real-time PCR monitoring of fungal development in *Arabidopsis* thaliana infected by Alternaria brassicicola and Botrytis cinerea. Plant Physiol. Biochem. 42: 367-371.
- Gaffney T., Friedrich L., Vernooij B., Negrotto D., Nye G., Uknes S., Ward E., Kessmann H., Ryals J. 1993. Requirement of salicylic acid for the induction of systemic acquired resistance. Science 261: 754-756.
- Gandikota M., de Kochko A., Chen L., Ithal N., Fauquet C., Reddy A.R. 2001. Development of transgenic rice plants expressing maize anthocyanin genes and increased blast resistance. Mol. Breed. 7: 73-83.
- Garretón V., Carpinelli J., Jordana X., Holuigue L. 2002. The *as-1* promoter element is an oxidative stress-responsive element and salicylic acid activates it via oxidative species. Plant Physiol. 130: 1516-1526.
- **Geetha H.M., Shetty H.S.** 2002. Induction of resistance in pearl millet against downy mildew disease caused by *Sclerospora graminicola* using benzothiadiazole, calcium chloride and hydrogen peroxide a comparative evaluation. Crop Prot. 21: 601-610.
- Gidrol X., Lin W.S., Dégoustrée N., Yip S.F., Kush A. 1994. Accumulation of reactive oxygen species and oxidation of cytokinin in germinating soyean seeds. Eur. J. Biochem. 224: 21-28.
- Godard J.-F., Ziadi S., Monot C., Le Corre D. and Silue D. 1999. Benzothiadiazole (BTH) induces resistance in cauliflower (*Brassica oleracea* var *botrytis*) to downy mildew of crucifers (*Peronospora parasitica*). Crop Prot. 18: 397-405.
- Goetz G., Fkyerat A., Métais N., Kunz M., Tabacchi R., Pezet R., Pont V. 1999. Resistance factors to grey mould in grape berries: identification of some phenolics inhibitors of *Botrytis cinerea* stilbene oxidase. Phytochemistry 52: 759-767.
- González de Colmenares N., Ramírez-Martínez J.R., Aldana J.O., Ramos-Niño M.E., Clifford M.N., Pékerar S., Méndez B. 1998. Isolation, characterisation and determination of biological activity of coffee proanthocyanidins. J. Sci. Food Agric. 77: 368-372.
- **Gozzo F.** 2003. Systemic acquired resistance in crop protection: from nature to a chemical approach. J. Agric. Food Chem. 51: 4487-4503.
- Grace S.C., Logan B.A. 2000. Energy dissipation and radical scavenging by the plant phenylpropanoid pathway. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond., B, Biol. Sci. 355: 1499-1510.
- Grayer R.J., Kimmins F.M., Padgham D.E., Harborne J.B., Ranga Rao D.V. 1992. Condensed tannin levels and resistance of groundnuts (*Arachis hypogaea*) against *Aphis craccivora*. Phytochemistry 31: 3795-3800.
- Görlach J., Volrath S., Knauf-Beiter G., Hengy G., Beckhove U., Kogel K.-H., Oostendorp M., Staub T., Ward E., Kessmann H., Ryals J. 1996. Benzothiadiazole, a novel class of inducers

of systemic acquired resistance, activates gene expression and disease resistance in wheat. Plant Cell 8: 629-643.

- Hacisalihoglu G., Jib P., Longoc L.M., Olsonb S., Momol T.M. 2007. Bacterial wilt induced changes in nutrient distribution and biomass and the effect of acibenzolar-S-methyl on bacterial wilt in tomato. Crop Prot. 26: 978-982.
- Hakulinen J., Julkunen-Tiitto R., Tahvanainen J. 1995. Does nitrogen fertilization have an impact on the trade-off between willow growth and defensive secondary metabolism? Trees 9: 235-240.
- Hall G. 1989. Peronospora rubi. CMI descriptions of pathogenic fungi and bacterial no. 976. Mycopathologia 106: 195-197.
- Hammerschidt R. 1999. Phytoalexins: what have we learned after 60 years? Annu. Rev. Phytopathol. 37: 285-306.
- Hartl F.U., Hayer-Hartl M. 2002. Molecular chaperones in the cytosol: from nascent chain to folded protein. Science 295: 1852-1858.
- Heck S., Grau T., Buchala A., Métraux J.-P., Nawrath C. 2003. Genetic evidence that expression of NahG modifies defence pathways independent of salicylic acid biosynthesis in the Arabidopsis-Pseudomonas syringae pv. tomato interaction. Plant J. 36: 342-352.
- Heil M., Hilpert A., Kaiser W., Linsenmair K.E. 2000. Reduced growth and seed set following chemical induction of pathogen defence: does systemic acquired resistance (SAR) incur allocation costs? J. Ecol. 88: 645-654.
- Hipskind J., Wood K., Nicholson R.L. 1996. Localized stimulation of anthocyanin accumulation and delineation of pathogen ingress in maize genetically resistant to *Bipolaris maydis* race O. Physiol. Mol. Plant Pathol. 49: 247-256.
- Hiraga S., Sasaki K., Ito H., Ohashi Y., Matsui H. 2001. A large family of class III plant peroxidases. Plant Cell Physiol. 42: 462-468.
- Hjernø K., Alm R., Canbäck B., Matthiesen R., Trajkovski K., Björk L., Roepstorff P., Emanuelsson C. 2006. Down-regulation of the strawberry Bet v 1-homologous allergen in concert with the flavonoid biosynthesis pathway in colorless strawberry mutant. Proteomics 6: 1574-1587.
- Hooper L., Cassidy A. 2006. A review of the health care potential of bioactive compounds. J. Sci. Food Agric. 86: 1805-1813.
- Hückelhoven R. 2007. Cell wall-associated mechanisms of disease resistance and susceptibility. Annu. Rev. Plant Phytopathol. 45: 1-27.
- Hukkanen A., Pölönen S., Kärenlampi S., Kokko H. 2006. Antioxidant capacity and phenolic content of sweet rowanberries. J. Agric. Food Chem. 54: 112-119.
- Inbar M., Doostdar H., Sonoda R.M., Leibee G.L., Mayer R.T. 1998. Elicitors of plant defensive systems reduce insect densities and disease incidence. J. Chem. Ecol. 24: 135-149.
- Iriti M., Faoro F. 2003. Benzothiadiazole (BTH) induces cell-death independent resistance in Phaseolus vulgaris against Uromyces appendiculatus. J. Phytopathol. 151: 171-180.
- Iriti M., Rossoni M., Borgo M., Ferrara L., Faoro F. 2005. Induction of resistance to gray mold with benzothiadiazole modifies amino acid profile and increases proanthocyanidins in grape: primary versus secondary metabolism. J. Agric. Food Chem. 53: 9133-9139.
- Iriti M., Mapelli S., Faoro F. 2007. Chemical-induced resistance against post-harvest infection enhances tomato nutritional traits. Food Chem. 105: 1040-1046.
- Ishii H., Tomita Y., Horio T., Narusaka Y., Nakazawa Y., Nishimura K., Iwamoto S. 1999. Induced resistance of acibenzolar-S-methyl (CGA 245704) to cucumber and Japanese pear diseases. Eur. J. Plant Pathol. 105: 77-85.
- Jansen C., Korell M., Eckey C., Biedenkopf D., Kogel K.-H. 2005. Identification and transcriptional analysis of powdery mildew-induced barley genes. Plant Sci. 168: 373-380.
- Jirage D., Zhou N., Cooper B., Clarke J.D., Dong X., Glazebook J. 2001. Constitutive salicylic acid-dependent signaling in *cpr1* and *cpr6* mutants requires PAD4. Plant J. 26: 395-407.
- Julkunen-Tiitto R. 1989. Phenolic constituents of Salix: a chemotaxonomic survey of further Finnish species. Phytochemistry 28: 2115-2125.

- Juntheikki M.-R. 1996. Comparison of tannin-binding proteins in saliva of Scandinavian and North American moose (*Alces alces*). Biochem. Syst. Ecol. 24: 595-601.
- Kangatharalingam N., Pierce M.L., Bayles M.B., Essenberg M. 2002. Epidermal anthocyanin production as an indicator of bacterial blight resistance in cotton. Physiol. Mol. Plant Pathol. 61: 189-195.
- Kanto T., Miyoshi A., Ogawa T., Maekawa K., Aino M. 2004. Suppressive effect of potassium silicate on powdery mildew of strawberry in hydroponics. J. Gen. Plant Pathol. 70: 207-211.
- Kanzaki H., Saitoh H., Ito A., Fujisawa S., Kamoun S., Katou S., Yoshioka H., Terauchi R. 2003. Cytosolic HSP90 and HSP70 are essential components of INF1-mediated hypersensitive response and non-host resistance to *Pseudomonas cichorii* in *Nicotiana benthamiana*. Mol. Plant Pathol. 4: 383-391.
- Keinänen M., Oldham N.J., Baldwin I.T. 2001. Rapid HPLC screening of jasmonate-induced increases in tobacco alkaloids, phenolics, and diterpene glycosides in *Nicotiana attenuata*. J. Agric. Food Chem. 49: 3553-3558.
- Keller H., Hohlfeld H., Wray V., Hahlbrock K., Scheel D., Strack D. 1996. Changes in the accumulation of soluble and cell wall-bound phenolics in elicitor-treated cell suspension cultures and fungus-infected leaves of *Solanum tuberosum*. Phytochemistry 42: 389-396.
- Khan J., Ooka J.J., Miller S.A., Madden L.V., Hoitink H.A. 2004. Systemic resistance induced by *Trichoderma hamatum* 382 in cucumber against *Phytophthora* crown rot and leaf blight. Plant Dis. 88: 280-286.
- Khurana J.P., Cleland C.F. 1992. Role of salicylic acid and benzoic acid in flowering of a photoperiod-insensitive strain, *Lemna paucicostata* LP6. Plant Physiol. 100: 1541-1546.
- Kilic-Ekici O., Yuen G.Y. 2004. Comparison of strains of Lysobacter enzymogenes and PGPR for induction of resistance against *Bipolaris sorokiniana* in tall fescue. Biol. Control 30: 446-455.
- Kim H.J., Triplett B.A., 2004. Cotton fiber germin-like protein. I. Molecular cloning and gene expression. Planta 218: 516-524.
- Kim K.-J., Park C.-J., An J.-M., Ham B.-K., Lee B.-J., Pack K.-H. 2005. CaAlaAT1 catalyzes the alanine: 2-oxoglutarate aminotransferase reaction during the resistance response against Tobacco mosaic virus in hot pepper. Planta 221: 857-867.
- Kohler A., Schwindling S., Conrath U. 2002. Benzothiadiazole-induced priming for potentiated responses to pathogen infection, wounding, and infiltration of water into leaves requires the NPR1/NIM1 gene in Arabidopsis. Plant Physiol. 128: 1046-1056.
- Koistinen K.M., Hassinen V.H., Gynther P.A.M., Lehesranta S.J., Keinänen S.I., Kokko H.I., Oksanen E., Tervahauta A.I., Auriola S., Kärenlampi S. 2002. Birch PR-10C is induced by factors causing oxidative stress but appears not to confer tolerance to these agents. New Phytol. 155: 381-391.
- Koistinen K.M., Soininen P., Venäläinen T.A., Häyrinen J., Laatikainen R., Peräkylä M., Tervahauta A.I., Kärenlampi S. 2005. Birch PR-10c interacts with several biologically important ligands. Phytochemistry 66: 2524-2533.
- **Kortekamp A.** 2006. Expression analysis of defence-related genes in grapevine leaves after inoculation with a host and a non-host pathogen. Plant Physiol. Biochem. 44: 58-67.
- Kragh K.M., Hendriks T., de Jong A.J., Lo Schiavo F., Bucherna N., Hjrup P., Mikkelsen J.D., de Vries S.C. 1996. Characterization of chitinases able to rescue somatic embryos of the temperature-sensitive carrot variant *ts11*. Plant Mol. Biol. 31: 631-645.
- Kutchan T.M. 2005. A role for intra- and intercellular translocation in natural product biosynthesis. Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. 8: 292-300.
- Lagrange H., Jay-Allgmand C., Lapeyrie F. 2001. Rutin, the phenolglycoside from eucalyptus root exudates, stimulates *Pisolithus* hyphal growth at picomolar concentrations. New Phytol. 149: 349-355.
- Latté K.P., Kolodziej H. 2000. Antifungal effects of hydrolysable ellagitannis and related compounds on dermatophytes, mould fungi and yeasts. Z. Naturforsch. 55: 467-472.

References
Latunde-Dada A.O., Lucas J.A. 2001. The plant defence activator acibenzolar-S-methyl primes
cowpea (Vigna unguiculata (L.) Walp.) seedlings for rapid induction of resistance. Physiol.
Mol. Plant Pathol. 58: 199-208.
Laun N., Zinkernagel V., Treutter D., Feucht W. 1994. Effect of fungal infection on ellagitannins
and flavanols of raspberry roots (<i>Rubus idaeus</i> L.). Acta Hortic. 381: 771-774.

- Laurie-Berry N., Joardar V., Street I.H., Kunkel B.N. 2006. The Arabidopsis thaliana JASMONATE INSENSITIVE 1 gene is required for suppression of salicylic acid-dependent defenses during infection by Pseudomonas syringae. Mol. Plant-Microbe Interact. 19: 789-800.
- Lawton K., Weymann K., Friedrich L., Vernooij B., Uknes S., Ryals J. 1995. Systemic acquired resistance in Arabidopsis requires salicylic acid but not ethylene. Mol. Plant-Microbe Interact. 8:863-870.
- Lawton K.A., Friedrich L., Hunt M., Weymann K., Delaney T., Kessmann H., Staub T., Ryals J. 1996. Benzothiadiazole induces disease resistance in Arabidopsis by activation of the systemic acquired resistance signal transduction pathway. Plant J. 10: 71-82.
- Lehesranta S.J., Davies H.V., Shepherd L.V.T., Koistinen K.M., Massat N., Nunan N., McNicol J.W., Kärenlampi S.O. 2006. Proteomic analysis of the potato tuber life cycle. Proteomics 6: 6042-6052.
- Lehesranta S.J., Koistinen K.M., Massat N., Davies H.V., Shepherd L.V.T., McNicol J.W., Cakmak I., Cooper J., Lück L., Kärenlampi S.O., Leifert C. 2007. Effects of agricultural production systems and their components on protein profiles of potato tubers. Proteomics 7: 597-604.
- Leskovar D.I., Kolenda K. 2002. Strobilurin + acibenzolar-S-methyl controls white rust without inducing leaf chlorosis in spinach. Ann. Appl. Biol. 140: 171-175.
- Li J., Brader G., Palva E.T. 2004. The WRKY70 transcription factor: a node of convergence for jasmonate-mediated and salicylate-mediated signals in plant defense. Plant Cell 16:319-31.
- Li H., Tanaka T., Zhang Y.-J., Yang C.-R., Kouno I. 2007. Rubusuaviins A-F, monomeric and oligometric ellagitannins from Chinese sweet tea and their α -amylase inhibitory activity. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 55: 1325-1331.
- Lichtenthaler H.K. 1999. The 1-deoxy-D-xylulose-5-phosphate pathway of isoprenoid biosynthesis in plants. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol. 50: 47-65.
- Liepman A.H., Olsen L.J. 2003. Alanine aminotransferase homologs catalyze the glutamate:glyoxylate aminotransferase reaction in peroxisomes of Arabidopsis. Plant Physiol. 131: 215-227.
- Lindqvist H., Koponen H., Valkonen J. 1998. Peronospora sparsa on cultivated Rubus arcticus and its detection by PCR based on ITS sequences. Plant Dis. 82: 1304-1311.
- Liu D., Raghothama K.G., Hasegawa P.M., Bressan R.A. 1994. Osmotin overexpression in potato delays development of disease symptoms. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 91: 1888-1892.
- Liu Y., Schiff M., Marathe R., Dinesh-Kumar S.P. 2002. Tobacco Rar1, EDS1 and NPR1/NIM1 like genes are required for N-mediated resistance to tobacco mosaic virus. Plant J. 30: 415-429.
- Liu H., Jiang W., Bi Y., Luo Y. 2005. Postharvest BTH treatment induces resistance of peach (Prunus persica L. cv. Jiubao) fruit to infection by Penicillium expansum and enhances activity of fruit defense mechanisms. Postharv. Biol. Technol. 35: 263-269.
- Livak K.J., Schmittgen T.D. 2001. Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the $2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$ method. Methods 25: 402-408.
- Lo S.-C.C., Nicholson R.L. 1998. Reduction of light-induced anthocyanin accumulation in inoculated sorghum mesocotyls. Plant Physiol. 116: 979-989.
- Loake G., Grant M. 2007. Salicylic acid in plant defence the players and protagonists. Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. 10: 466-472.
- Lois R., Buchanan B.B. 1994. Severe sensitivity to ultraviolet radiation in an Arabidopsis mutant deficient in flavonoid accumulation. Planta 194: 504-509.
- Lopez A.M.Q., Lucas J.A. 2002. Effects of plant defence activators on anthracnose disease of cashew. Eur. J. Plant Pathol. 108: 409-420.

- Louws F.J., Wilson M., Campbell H.L., Cuppels D.A., Jones J.B., Shoemaker P.B., Sahin F., Miller S.A. 2001. Field control of bacterial spot and bacterial speck of tomato using a plant activator. Plant Dis. 85: 481-488.
- Luzzatto T., Yishay M., Lipsky A., Ion A., Belausov E., Yedidia I. 2007. Efficient, long-lasting resistance against the soft rot bacterium *Pectobacterium carotovorum* in calla lily provided by the plant activator methyl jasmonate. Plant Pathol. 56: 692–701.
- Maas J.L., Wang S.Y., Galletta G.J. 1991. Evaluation of strawberry cultivars for ellagic acid content. HortScience 26: 66-68.
- Maas J.L. 1998. Compendium of strawberry diseases, APS Press, St. Paul, Minnesota, USA.
- Maher E.A., Bate N.J., Ni W., Elkind Y., Dixon R.A., Lamb C.J. 1994. Increased disease susceptibility of transgenic tobacco plants with suppressed levels of preformed phenylpropanoid products. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 91: 7802-7806.
- **Makkar H.P.S.** 2003. Effects and fate of tannins in ruminant animals, adaptation to tannins, and strategies to overcome detrimental effects of feeding tannin-rich feeds. Small Rum. Res. 49: 241-256.
- Malamy J., Carr J.P., Klessig D.F., Raskin I. 1990. Salicylic acid: a likely endogenous signal in the resistance response of tobacco to viral infection. Science 250: 1002-1004.
- Malolepsza U. 2006. Induction of disease resistance by acibenzolar-S-methyl and ohydroxyethylorutin against *Botrytis cinerea* in tomato plants. Crop. Prot. 25: 956-962.
- Manandhar H.K., Lyngs Jorgensen H.J., Mathur S.B., Smedegaard-Petersen V. 1998. Resistance to rice blast induced by ferric chloride, di-potassium hydrogen phosphate and salicylic acid. Crop. Prot. 17: 323-329.
- Markham K.R., Ryan K.G., Gould K.S., Rickards G.F. 2000. Cell wall sited flavonoids in lisianthus flower petals. Phytochemistry 54: 681-687.
- Martens D.A. 2002. Identification of phenolic acid composition of alkali-extracted plants and soils. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 66: 1240-1248.
- Martin D.M., Gershenzon J., Bohlmann J. 2003a. Induction of volatile terpene biosynthesis and diurnal emission by methyl jasmonate in foliage of Norway spruce. Plant Physiol. 132: 1586-1599.
- Martin G.B., Bogdanove A.J., Sessa G. 2003b. Understanding the functions of plant disease resistance proteins. Annu. Rev. Plant Biol. 54: 23-61.
- Martinez C., Pons E., Prats G., Leon, J. 2004. Salicylic acid regulates flowering time and links defence responses and reproductive development. Plant J. 37: 209-217.
- Martínez Zamora M.G., Castagnaro A.P., Díaz Ricci J.C. 2004. Isolation and diversity analysis of resistance gene analogues (RGAs) from cultivated and wild strawberries. Mol. Gen. Genomics 272: 480-487.
- Martz F., Maury S., Pinon G., Legrand M. 1998. cDNA cloning, substrate specificity and expression study of tobacco caffeoyl-CoA 3-O-methyltransferase, a lignin biosynthetic enzyme. Plant Mol. Biol. 36: 427-437.
- Mateo A., Mühlenbock P., Rustérucci C., Chi-Chen Chang C., Miszalski Z., Karpinska B., Parker J.E., Mullineaux P.M., Karpinski S. 2004. LESION SIMULATING DISEASE 1 is required for acclimation to conditions that promote excess excitation energy. Plant Physiol. 136: 2818-2830.
- Mateo A., Funck D., Mühlenbock P., kular B., Mullineaux P.M., Karpinski S. 2006. Controlled levels of salicylic acid are required for optimal photosynthesis and redox homeostasis. J. Exp. Bot. 57: 1795-1807.
- Matheron M.E., Porchas M. 2002. Suppression of Phytophthora root and crown rot on pepper plants treated with acibenzolar-S-methyl. Plant Dis. 86: 292-297.
- Mauch-Mani B., Slusarenko A.J. 1994. Systemic acquired resistance in Arabidopsis thaliana induced by a predisposing infection with a pathogenic isolate of Fusarium oxysporum. Mol. Plant-Microbe Interact. 7: 378-383.

D	C		
P 4	atai	on	COC
1.1		UII	ししつ

- Mauch-Mani B., Slusarenko A.J. 1996. Production of salicylic acid precursors is a major function of phenylalanine ammonia–lyase in the resistance of Arabidopsis to *Peronospora parasitica*. Plant Cell 8: 203-212.
- McDonald A.E., Grant B.R., Plaxton W.C. 2001. Phosphite (phosphorous acid): Its relevance in the environment and agriculture and influence on plant phosphate starvation response. J. Plant Nutr. 24: 1505-1519.
- McGee J.D., Hamer J.E., Hodges T.K. 2001. Characterization of a PR-10 pathogenesis-related gene family induced in rice during infection with Magnaporthe grisea. Mol. Plant Microbe Interact. 14: 877-886.
- McGrath M.T. 2001. Fungicide resistance in cucurbit powdery mildew: experiences and challenges. Plant Dis. 81: 236-245.
- McKeown B. 1988. Downy mildew of boysenberry and tummelberry in the UK. Plant Pathol. 37: 281-284.
- McLusky S.R., Bennett M.H., Beale M.H., Lewis M.J., Gaskin P., Mansfield J.W. 1999. Cell wall alterations and localized accumulation of feruloyl-3'-methoxytyramine in onion epidermis at sites of attempted penetration by *Botrytis allii* are associated with actin polarisation, peroxidase activity and suppression of flavonoid biosynthesis. Plant J. 17: 523-534.
- McNally D.J., Wurms K.V., Labbé C., Bélanger R.R. 2003. Synthesis of C-glycosyl flavonoid phytoalexins as a site-specific response to fungal penetration in cucumber. Physiol. Mol. Plant Pathol. 63: 293-303.
- Métraux J.-P., Signer H., Ryals J., Ward E., Wyss-Benz M., Gaudin J., Raschdorf K., Schmid E., Blum W., Inverardi B. 1990. Increase in salicylic acid at the onset of systemic acquired resistance in cucumber. Science 250: 1004-1006.
- Métraux J.-P. 2002. Recent breakthroughs in the study of salicylic acid biosynthesis. Trends Plant Sci. 7: 332-334.
- **Meuwly P., Métraux J.P.** 1993. Ortho-anisic acid as internal standard for the simultaneous quantification of salicylic acid and its putative biosynthetic precursors in cucumber leaves. Anal. Biochem. 214: 500-505.
- Meuwly P., Mölders W., Buchala A., Métraux J.P. 1995. Local and systemic biosynthesis of salicylic acid in infected cucumber plants. Plant Physiol. 109: 1107-1114.
- Mikkelsen M.D., Petersen B.L., Glawischnig E., Jensen A.B., Andreasson E., Halkier B.A. 2003. Modulation of CYP79 genes and glucosinolate profiles in Arabidopsis by defense signaling pathways. Plant Physiol. 131: 298-308.
- Mishina T.E., Zeier J. 2007. Pathogen-associated molecular pattern recognition rather than development of tissue necrosis contributes to bacterial induction of systemic acquired resistance in *Arabidopsis*. Plant J. 50: 500-513.
- Mitchell A.F., Walters D.R. 2004. Potassium phosphate induces systemic protection in barley to powdery mildew infection. Pest Manag. Sci. 60: 126-134.
- Mo Y.-Y., Geibel M., Bonsall R.F., Gross D.C. 1995. Analysis of sweet cherry (*Prunus avium* L.) leaves for plant signal molecules that activate the *syrB* gene required for synthesis of the phytotoxin, syringomycin. Plant Physiol. 107: 603-612.
- Mogensen J.E., Ferreras M., Wimmer R., Petersen S.V., Enghild J.J., Otzen D.E. 2007. The major allergen from birch tree pollen, Bet v 1, binds and permeabilizes membranes. Biochemistry 46: 3356-3365.
- Molina A., Hunt M.D., Ryals J.A. 1998. Impaired fungicide activity in plants blocked in disease resistance signal transduction. Plant Cell 10: 1903-1914.
- Morris S.W., Vernooij B., Titatarn S., Starrett M., Thomas S., Wiltse C.C., Frederiksen R.A., Bhandhufalck A., Hulbert S., Uknes S. 1998. Induced resistance responses in maize. Mol. Plant-Microbe Interact. 11: 643-658.
- Morris K., MacKerness S.A., Page T., John C. F., Murphy A. M., Carr J. P., Buchanan-Wollaston V. 2000. Salicylic acid has a role in regulating gene expression during leaf senescence. Plant J. 23: 677–685.

- Mou Z., Fan W., Dong X. 2003. Inducers of plant systemic acquired resistance regulate NPR1 function through redox changes. Cell 113: 935-944.
- Mullen W., McGinn J., Lean M.E.J., MacLean M.R., Gardner P., Duthie G.G., Yokota T., Crozier A. 2002. Ellagitannins, flavonoids, and other phenolics in red reaspberries and their contribution to antioxidant capacity and vasorelaxation properties. J. Agric. Food Chem. 50: 5191-5196.
- Mullen W., Yokota T., Lean M.E.J., Crozier A. 2003. Analysis of ellagitannins and conjugates of ellagic acid and quercetin in raspberry fruits by LC-MS. Phytochemistry 64: 617-624.
- Munné-Bosch S., Peñuelas J. 2003. Photo- and antioxidative protection, and a role for salicylic acid during drought and recovery in field-grown *Phillyrea angustifolia* plants. Planta 217: 758-766.
- Murashige T., Skoog F. 1962. A revised medium for rapid growth and bioassays with tobacco tissue culture. Physiol. Plant. 15: 473-497.
- Määttä-Riihinen K.R., Kamal-Eldin A., Törrönen A.R. 2004. Identification and quantification of phenolic compounds in berries of *Fragaria* and *Rubus* species (Family Rosaceae). J. Agric. Food Chem. 52: 6178-6187.
- Narusaka Y., Narusaka M., Horio T., Ishii H. 1999. Comparison of local and systemic induction of acquired disease resistance in cucumber plants treated with benzothiadiazoles or salicylic acid. Plant Cell Physiol. 40: 388-395.
- Navarre D.A., Mayo D. 2004. Differential characteristics of salicylic acid-mediated signaling in potato. Physiol. Mol. Plant Pathol. 64: 179-188.
- Nawrath C., Métraux J.-P. 1999. Salicylic acid induction-deficient mutants of Arabidopsis express *PR-2* and *PR-5* and accumulate high levels of camalexin after pathogen inoculation. Plant Cell 11: 1393-1404.
- Nicholson R.L., Hammerschmidt R. 1992. Phenolic compounds and their role in disease resistance. Annu. Rev. Phytopathol. 30: 369-389.
- Niere J.O., DeAngelis G., Grant B.R. 1994. The effect of phosphonate on the acid-soluble phosphorus components in the genus *Phytophthora*. Microbiology 140: 1661-1670.
- **Noctor G.** 2006. Metabolic signalling in defence and stress: the central roles of soluble redox couples. Plant Cell Environ. 29: 409-425.
- Norman C., Howell K.A., Millar H., Whelan J.M., Day D.A. 2004. Salicylic acid is an uncoupler and inhibitor of mitochondrial electron transport. Plant Physiol. 134: 492-501.
- **Oertel B., Keutgen N., Lenz F.** 2001 Responses of strawberry to long-term elevated atmospheric ozone concentrations. II. Changes of soluble phenol contents in leaves. Gartenbauwissenschaft 66: 164-171.
- Okuda T., Yoshida T., Hatano T., Iwasaki M., Kubo M., Orime T., Yoshizaki M., Naruhashi N. 1992. Hydrolysable tannins as chemotaxonomic markers in the rosaceae. Phytochemistry 31: 3091-3096.
- **Oliver R.P., Ipcho S.V.S.** 2004. *Arabidopsis* pathology breathes new life into the necrotrophs-vs.biotrophs classification of fungal pathogens. Mol. Plant Pathol. 5: 347-352.
- **Oostendorp M., Kunz W., Dietrich B., Staub T.** 2001. Induced disease resistance in plants by chemicals. Eur. J. Plant Pathol. 107: 19-28.
- Orober M., Siegrist J., Buchenauer H. 2002. Mechanism of phosphate-induced disease resistance in cucumber. Eur. J. Plant Pathol. 108: 345-353.
- **Osbourn A.E.** 1999. Antimicrobial phytoprotectants and fungal pathogens: a commentary. Fungal Genet. Biol. 26: 163-168.
- **Ossipov V., Haukioja E., Ossipova S., Hanhimäki S., Pihlaja K.** 2001. Phenolic and phenolicrelated factors as determinants of suitability of mountain birch leaves to an herbivorous insect. Biochem. Syst. Ecol. 29: 223-240.
- **Ossipov V., Salminen J.-P., Ossipova S., Haukioja E., Pihlaja K.** 2003. Gallic acid and hydrolysable tannins are formed in birch leaves from an intermediate compound of the shikimate pathway. Biochem. Syst. Ecol. 31: 3-16.

Ref	eren	ces

- Park C.-J., Kim K.-J., Park J.M., Shin Y.-C., Paek K.-H. 2004. Pathogenesis-related protein 10 isolated from hot pepper functions as a ribonuclease in an antiviral pathway. Plant J. 37: 186-198.
- Park S.-W., Kaimoyo E., Kumar D., Mosher S., Klessig D. 2007. Methyl salicylate is a critical mobile signal for plant systemic acquired resistance. Science 318: 113-116.
- **Parr A.J., Bolwell G.P.** 2000. Phenols in the plant and in man. The potential for possible nutritional enhancement of the diet by modifying the phenols content or profile. J. Sci. Food Agric. 80: 985-1012.
- Pasquer F., Isidore E., Zarn J., Keller B. 2005. Specific patterns of changes in wheat gene expression after treatment with three antifungal compounds. Plant Mol. Biol. 57: 693-707.
- Pasternak O., Bujacz G.D., Fujimoto Y., Hashimoto Y., Jelen F., Otlewski J., Sikorski M.M., Jaskolski M. 2006. Crystal structure of *Vigna radiata* cytokinin-specific binding protein in complex with zeatin. Plant Cell 18: 2622-2634.
- Pedley K.F., Martin G.B. 2005. Role of mitogen-activated protein kinases in plant immunity. Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. 8: 541-547.
- Perez L., Rodriguez M.E., Rodriguez F., Roson C. 2003. Efficacy of acibenzolar-S-methyl, an inducer of systemic acquired resistance against tobacco blue mold caused by *Peronospora hyoscyami* f. sp. *tabacina*. Crop Prot. 22: 405-413.
- Perfect S.E., Green J.R. 2001. Infection structures of biotrophic and hemibiotrophic fungal plant pathogens. Mol. Plant Pathol. 2: 101-108.
- Peries O.S. 1962a. Studies on strawberry mildew, caused by *Sphaerotheca macularis* (Wallr. Ex Fries) Jaczewski. I. Biology of the fungus. Ann. Appl. Biol. 50: 211-224.
- **Peries O.S.** 1962b. Studies on strawberry mildew, caused by *Sphaerotheca macularis* (Wallr. Ex Fries) Jaczewski. II. Host-parasite relationships on foliage of strawberry varieties. Ann. Appl. Biol. 50: 225-233.
- Peyron S., Abecassis J., Autran J.-C., Rouau X. 2002. Influence of UV exposure on phenolic acid content, mechanical properties of bran, and milling behaviour of durum wheat (*Triticum durum* Desf.). Cereal Chem. 79: 726-731.
- Pieterse C.M.J., Van Pelt J.A., Van Wees S.C.M., Ton J., Leon-Kloosterziel K.M., Keurentjes J.J.B., Verhagen B.W.M., Knoester M., Van der Sluis I., Bakker P.A.H.M., Van Loon L.C. 2001. Rhizobacteria-mediated induced systemic resistance: triggering, signalling and expression. Eur. J. Plant Pathol. 107: 51-61.
- Plumb G.W., De Pascual-Teresa S., Santos-Buelga C., Cheynier V., Williamson G. 1998. Antioxidant properties of catechins and proanthocyanidins: effect of polymerisation, galloylation and glucosylation. Free Radic. Res. 29: 351-358.
- Poupard P., Parisi L., Campion C., Ziadi S., Simoneau P. 2003. A wound- and etephon-inducible PR-10 subclass from apple is differentially expressed during infection with a compatible and an incompatible race of Venturia inaequalis. Physiol. Mol. Plant Pathol. 62: 3-12.
- Punyasiri P.A.N., Abeysinghe S.B., Kumar V. 2005. Preformed and induced chemical resistance of the leaf against *Exobasidium vexans* infection. J. Chem. Ecol. 31: 1315-1324.
- Puupponen-Pimiä R., Nohynek L., Meier C., Kähkönen M., Heinonen M., Hopia A., Oksman-Caldentey K.-M. 2001. Antimicrobial properties of phenolic compounds from berries. J. Appl. Microbiol. 90: 494-507.
- Qiu X., Guan P., Wang M.-L., Moore P.H., Zhu Y.J., Hu J., Borth W., Albert H.H. 2004. Identification and expression analysis of BTH induced genes in papaya. Physiol. Mol. Plant Pathol. 65: 21-30.

Quideau S., Feldman K.S. 1996. Ellagitannin chemistry. Chem. Rev. 96: 475-503.

- Ralph J., Bunzel M., Marita J.M., Hatfield R.D., Lu F., Kim H., Schatz P.F., Grabber J.H., Steinhart H. 2004. Peroxidase-dependent cross-linking reactions of *p*-hydroxycinnamates in plant cell walls. Phytochem. Rev. 3: 79-96.
- Ramesh Sundar A., Velazhahan R., Viswanathan R., Padmanaban P., Vidhyasekaran P. 2001. Induction of systemic resistance to *Colletotrichum falcatum* in sugarcane by a synthetic signal molecule, acibenzolar-S-methyl (CGA-245704). Phytoparasitica 29: 231-242.

- Rao M.V., Paliyath G., Ormrod D.P., Murr D.P., Watkins C.B. 1997. Influence of salicylic acid on H₂O₂ production, oxidative stress, and H₂O₂-metabolizing enzymes. Plant Physiol. 115: 137-149.
- Rao M.V., Lee H., Davis K.R. 2002. Ozone-induced ethylene production is dependent on salicylic acid, and both salicylic acid and ethylene act in concert to regulate ozone-induced cell death. Plant J. 32: 447-456.
- Raskin I., Skubatz H., Tang W., Meeuse B.J.D. 1990. Salicylic acid levels in thermogenic and nonthermogenic plants. Ann. Bot. 66: 369-373.
- Raskin I. 1992a. Salicylate, a new plant hormone. Plant Physiol. 99: 799-803.
- Raskin I. 1992b. Role of salicylic acid in plants. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol. 43: 439-463.
- Rauscher M., Ádám A.L., Wirtz S., Guggenheim R., Mendgen K., Deising H.B. 1999. PR-1 protein inhibits the differentiation of rust infection hyphae in leaves of acquired resistant broad bean. Plant J. 19: 625-633.
- **Reuveni R., Reuveni M., Agapov V.** 1996. Foliar sprays of NPK fertilizers induce systemic protection against *Puccinia sorghi* and *Exserohilum turcicum* and growth response in maize. Eur. J. Plant Pathol. 102: 339-348.
- **Reuveni R., Dor G., Reuveni M.** 1998. Local and systemic control of powdery mildew (*Leveillula taurica*) on pepper plants by foliar spray of mono-potassium phosphate. Crop Prot. 17: 703-709.
- Reuveni R., Dor G., Raviv M., Reuveni M., Tuzun S. 2000. Systemic resistance against Sphaerotheca fuliginea in cucumber plants exposed to phosphate in hydroponics system, and its control by foliar spray of mono-potassium phosphate. Crop Prot. 19: 355-361.
- Roldán Serrano A., Luna Del Castillo J., Jorrín Novo J., Fernández Ocaña A., Gómez Rodriquéz M.V. 2007. Chitinase and peroxidase activities in sunflower hypocotyls: effects of BTH and inoculation with *Plasmopara halstedii*. Biol. Plant. 51: 149-152.
- Romero A.M., Kousik C.S., Ritchie D.F. 2001. Resistance to bacterial spot in bell pepper induced by acibenzolar-S-methyl. Plant Dis. 85: 189-194
- Ross J.A., Kasum C.M. 2002. Dietary flavonoids: bioavailability, metabolic effects and safety. Annu. Rev. Nutr. 22: 19-34.
- Rumbolz J., Wirtz S., Kassemeyer H.-H., Guggenheim R., Schäfer E., Büche C. 2002. Sporulation of *Plasmopara viticola*: differentiation and light regulation. Plant Biol. 4: 413-422.
- von Röpenack E., Parr A., Schulze-Lefert P. 1998. Structural analyses and dynamics of soluble and cell wall-bound phenolics in a broad spectrum resistance to the powdery mildew fungus in barley. J. Biol. Chem. 273: 9013-9022.
- Sagi G., Katz A., Guenoune-Gelbart D., Epel B.L. 2005. Class 1 reversibly glycosylated polypeptides are plasmodesmal-associated proteins delivered to plasmodesmata via the Golgi apparatus. Plant Cell 17: 1788-1800.
- Salminen J.-P., Ossipov V., Loponen J., Haukioja E., Pihlaja K. 1999. Characterisation of hydrolysable tannins from leaves of *Betula pubescens* by high-performance liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry. J. Chromatogr. A 864: 283-291.
- Sander J.-F., Heitefuss R. 1998. Susceptibility to *Erysiphe graminis* f. sp. *tritici* and phenolic acid content of wheat as influenced by different levels of nitrogen fertilization. J. Phytopathol. 146: 495-507.
- Sánchez-Casas P., Klessig D.F. 1994. A salicylic acid-binding activity and a salicylic acid-inhibitable catalase activity are present in a variety of plant species. Plant Physiol. 106: 1675-1679.
- Sauerborn J., Buschmann H., Ghiasvand Ghiasi K., Kogel K.-H. 2002. Benzothiadiazole activates resistance in sunflower (*Helianthus annuus*) to the root-parasitic weed *Orobanche cumana*. Phytopathology 92: 59-64.
- Schena L., Nigro F., Ippolito A., Gallitelli D. 2004. Real-time quantitative PCR: a new technology to detect and study phytopathogenic and antagonistic fungi. Eur. J. Plant Pathol. 110: 893-908.
- Schneider M., Schweizer P., Métraux J.-P. 1996. Systemic acquired resistance in plants. Int. Rev. Cytol. 168: 303-340.

References
Schweizer P., Schlagenhauf E., Schaffrath U., Dudler R. 1999. Different patterns of host genes are
induced in rice by Pseudomonas syringae, a biological inducer of resistance, and the chemical
inducer benzothiadiazole (BTH). Eur. J. Plant Pathol. 105: 659-665.
Scott I.M., Clarke S.M., Wood J.E., Mur L.A.J. 2004. Salicylate accumulation inhibits growth at

- chilling temperature in Arabidopsis. Plant Physiol. 135: 1040-1049. Seeram N.P., Lee R., Scheuller H.S., Heber D. 2006. Identification of phenolic compounds in
- strawberries by liquid chromatography electrospray ionization mass spectroscopy. Food Chem. 97: 1-11.
- Segarra G., Casanova E., Bellido D., Odena M.A., Oliveira E., Trillas I. 2007. Proteome, salicylic acid, and jasmonic acid changes in cucumber plants inoculated with Trichoderma asperellum strain T34. Proteomics 7: 3943-3952.
- Senaratna T., Touchell D., Bunn E., Dixon K. 2000. Acetyl salicylic acid (Aspirin) and salicylic acid induce multiple stress tolerance in bean and tomato plants. Plant Growth Regul. 30: 157-161.
- Shah J., Klessig D.F. 1996. Identification of a salicylic acid-responsive element in the promoter of the tobacco pathogenesis-related β-1,3-glucanase gene, *PR-2d*. Plant J. 10: 1089-1101.
- Shah J. 2003. The salicylic acid loop in plant defense. Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. 6: 365-371.
- Shirasu K., Nakajima H., Rajasekhar V.K., Dixon R.A., Lamb C.J. 1997. Salicylic acid potentiates an agonist-dependent gain control that amplifies pathogen signals in the activation of defense mechanisms. Plant Cell 9: 261-270.
- Shulaev V., Silverman P., Raskin I. 1997. Airborne signalling by methyl salicylate in plant pathogen resistance. Nature 385: 718-721.
- Si-Ammour A., Mauch-Mani B., Mauch F. 2003. Quantification of induced resistance against *Phytophthora* species expressing GFP as a vital marker: β-aminobutyric acid but not BTH protects potato and *Arabidopsis* from infection. Mol. Plant Pathol. 4: 237-248.
- Silverman P., Seskar M., Kanter D., Schweizer P., Métraux J.-P., Raskin I. 1995. Salicylic acid in rice: biosynthesis, conjugation, and possible role. Plant Physiol. 108: 633-639.
- Silverman F.P., Petracek P.D., Heiman D.F., Fledderman C.M., Warrior P. 2005. Salicylate activity. 3. Structure relationship to systemic acquired resistance. J. Agric. Food Chem. 53: 9775-9780.
- Šindelářova M., Šindelář L., Burketová L. 2002. Glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase, ribonuclease and

esterases upon tobacco mosaic virus infection and benzothiadiazole treatment in tobacco. Biol. Plant. 45: 423-432.

- Singleton V.L., Rossi J. 1965. Colorymetry of total phenolics with phosphomolybdicphosphothungstic acid reagents. Am. J. Enol. Vitic. 16: 144-158.
- Slusarenko A.J., Schlaich N.L. 2003. Downy mildew of *Arabidopsis thaliana* caused by *Hyaloperonospora parasitica* (formerly *Peronospora parasitica*). Mol. Plant Pathol. 4: 159-170.
- Smillie R., Grant B.R., Guest D. 1989. The mode of action of phosphite: evidence for both direct and indirect modes of action on three *Phytophthora* spp. in plants. Phytopathology 79: 921-926.
- Somssich I.E., Hahlbrock K. 1998. Pathogen defence in plants a paradigm of biological complexity. Trends Plant Sci. 3: 86-90.
- Song F., Goodman R.M. 2002. OsBIMK1, a rice MAP kinase gene involved in disease resistance responses. Planta 215: 997-1005.
- Sparla F., Rotino L., Valgimigli M.C., Pupillo P., Trost P. 2004. Systemic resistance induced by benzothiadiazole in pear inoculated with the agent of fire blight (*Erwinia amylovora*). Sci. Hortic. 101: 269-279.
- Spoel S.H., Koornneef A., Claessens S.M.C., Korzelius J.P., Van Pelt J.A., Mueller M.J., Buchala A.J., Métraux J.-P., Brown R., Kazan K., Van Loon L.C., Dong X., Pieterse C.M.J. 2003. NPR1 modulates cross-talk between salicylate- and jasmonate-dependent defense pathways through a novel function in the cytosol. Plant Cell 15: 760-770.

- Srivastava S., Emery R.J.N., Kurepin L.V., Reid D.M., Fristensky B., Kav N.N.V. 2006. Pea PR 10.1 is a ribonuclease and its transgenic expression elevates cytokinin levels. Plant Growth Regul. 49: 17-25.
- Stadnik M.J., Buchenauer H. 2000. Inhibition of phenylalanine ammonia-lyase suppresses the resistance induced by benzothiadiazole in wheat to *Blumeria graminis* f. sp. *tritici*. Phys. Mol. Plant Pathol. 57: 25-34.
- Stehmann C., Grant B.R. 2000. Inhibition of enzymes of the glycolytic pathway and hexose monophosphate bypass by phosphonate. Pestic. Biochem. Physiol. 67: 13-24.
- Strawn M.A., Marr S.K., Inoue K., Inada N., Zubleta C., Wildermuth M.C. 2007. Arabidopis isochorismate synthase functional in pathogen-induced salicylate biosynthesis exhibits properties consistent with a role in diverse stress responses. J. Biol. Chem. 282: 5919-5933.
- Suo Y., Leung D.W.M. 2002. BTH-induced accumulation of extracellular proteins and blackspot disease in rose. Biol. Plant. 45: 273-279.
- Tabuchi M., Abiko T., Yamaya T. 2007. Assimilation of ammonium ions and reutilization of nitrogen in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). J. Exp. Bot. 58: 2319-2327.
- Taler D., Galperin M., Benjamin I., Cohen Y., Kenigsbuch D. 2004. Plant eR genes that encode photorespiratory enzymes confer resistance against disease. Plant Cell 16: 172-184.
- Tally A., Oostendorp M., Lawton K., Staub T., Bassi B. 1999. Commercial development of elicitors of induced resistance to pathogens. In: Induced plant defenses against pathogens and herbivores. Editors: Agrawal A.A., Tuzun S., Bent E. APS Press, Minnesota, USA, pp. 357-369.
- Tanaka T., Tachibana H., Nonaka G., Nishioka I., Hsu F.-L., Kohda H., Tanaka O. 1993. Tannins and related compounds. CXXII. New dimeric, trimeric and teterameric ellagitannins, lambertianins A-D, from *Rubus lambertianus* Seringe. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 41: 1214-1220.
- **Taylor L.P., Grotewold E.** 2005. Flavonoids as developmental regulators. Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. 8: 317-323.
- **Terry L.A., Joyce D.C.** 2000. Suppression of grey mold on strawberry fruit with the chemical plant activator acibenzolar. Pest Manag. Sci. 56: 989-992.
- **Tikkanen O.-P., Julkunen-Tiitto R.** 2003. Phenological variation as protection against defoliating insects: the case of *Quercus robur* and *Operophtera brumata*. Oecelogia 136: 244-251.
- Ton J., Van Pelt J.A., Van Loon L.C., Pieterse C.M.J. 2002. Differential effectiveness of salicylatedependent and jasmonate/ethylene-dependent induced resistance in *Arabidopsis*. Mol. Plant-Microbe Interact. 15: 27-34.
- **Torres M.A., Dangl J.L., Jones J.D.G.** 2002. *Arabidopsis* gp91phox homologues *AtrbohD* and *AtrbohF* are required for accumulation of reactive oxygen intermediates in the plant defense response. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 99: 517-522.
- **Treutter D.** 2006. Significance of flavonoids in plant resistance: a review. Environ. Chem. Lett. 4: 147-157.
- Truman W., Bennett M.H., Kubigsteltig I., Turnbull C., Grant M. 2007. Arabidopsis systemic immunity uses conserved defense signaling pathways and is mediated by jasmonates. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 104: 1075-1080.
- Uknes S., Mauch-Mani B., Moyer M., Potter S., Williams S., Dincher S., Chandler D., Slusarenko A., Ward E., Ryals J. 1992. Acquired resistance in *Arabidopsis*. Plant Cell 4: 645-656.
- Uknes S., Winter A.M., Delaney T., Vernooij B., Morse A., Friedrich L., Nye G., Potter S., Ward E., Ryals J. 1993. Biological induction of systemic acquired resistance in Arabidopsis. Mol. Plant-Microbe Interact. 6: 692-698.
- Van de Rhee M.D., Bol J.F. 1993. Induction of the tobacco PR-1a gene by virus infection and salicylate treatment involves an interaction between multiple regulatory elements. Plant J. 3: 71-82.
- Van Hulten M., Pelser M., van Loon L.C., Pieterse C.M.J., Ton J. 2006. Costs and benefits of priming for defense in *Arabidopsis*. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 103: 5602-5607.
- Van Loon L.C., Pierpoint W.S., Boller T., Conejero V. 1994. Recommendations for naming plant pathogenesis-related proteins. Plant mol. Biol. Rep. 12: 245-264.

References

- Van Loon L.C., Rep M., Pieterse C.M.J. 2006. Significance of inducible defense-related proteins in infected plants. Annu. Rev. Phytopathol. 44: 135-162.
- Varadarajan D.K., Karthikeyan A.S., Matilda P.D., Raghothama K.G. 2002. Phosphite, an analog of phosphate, suppresses the coordinated expression of genes under phosphate starvation. Plant Physiol. 129: 1232-1240.
- Verberne M.C., Verpoorte R., Bol J.F., Mercado-Blanco J., Linthorst H.J.M. 2000. Overproduction of salicylic acid in plants by bacterial transgenes enhances pathogen resistance. Nat. Biotechnol. 18: 779-783.
- Verberne M.C., Hoekstra J., Bol J.F., Linthorst J.M. 2003. Signaling of systemic acquired resistance in tobacco depends on ethylene perception. Plant J. 35: 27-32.
- Verhagen B.W.M., Glazebrook J., Zhu T., Chang H.S., Van Loon L.C., Pieterse C.M.J. 2004. The transcriptome of rhizobacteria-induced systemic resistance in Arabidopsis. Mol. Plant-Microbe Interact. 17: 895-908.
- Verica J.A., Maximova S.N., Strem M.D., Carlson J.E., Bailey B.A., Guiltinan M.J. 2004. Isolation of ESTs from cacao (*Theobroma cacao* L.) leaves treated with inducers of the defense response. Plant Cell Rep. 23: 404-413.
- Vernooij B., Friedrich L., Morse A., Reist R., Kolditz-Jahwar R., Ward E., Uknes S., Kessmann H., Ryals J. 1995. Salicylic acid is not the translocated signal responsible for inducing systemic acquired resistance but is required in signal transduction. Plant Cell 6: 959-965.
- Walter M., Harris-Virgin P., Thomas W., Tate G., Waipara N.W., Langford G. 2004. Agrochemicals suitable for downy mildew control in New Zealand boysenberry production. Crop Prot. 23: 327-333.
- Walters D., Meurer-Grimes B., Rovira I. 2001. Antifungal activity of three spermidine conjugates. FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 201: 255-258.
- Wang S., Sakai H, Wiedmann M. 1995. NAC covers ribosome-associated nascent chains thereby forming a protective environment for regions of nascent chains just emerging from the peptidyl transferase center. J. Cell Biol. 130: 519–528.
- Ward E.R., Uknes S.J., Williams S.C., Dincher S.S., Wiederhold D.S., Alexander D.C., Ahl-Goy P., Métraux J.P., Ryals J.A. 1991. Coordinate gene activity in response to agents that induce systemic acquired resistance. Plant Cell 3: 1085-1094.
- Ward D., Young T.P. 2002. Effects of large mammalian herbivores and ant symbionts on condensed tannins of *Acacia drepanolobium* in Kenya. J. Chem. Ecol. 28: 921-937.
- Weaver L.M., Herrmann K.M. 1997. Dynamics of the shikimate pathway in plants. Trends Plant Sci 2: 346-351.
- Wendehenne D., Durner J., Chen Z., Klessig D.F. 1998. Benzothiadiazole, an inducer of plant defenses, inhibits catalase and ascorbate peroxidase. Phytochemistry 47: 651-657.
- Whetten R.W., MacKay J.J., Sederoff R.R. 1998. Recent advances in understanding lignin biosynthesis. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol. 49: 585-609.
- Wiese J., Bagy M.M.K., Schubert S. 2003. Soil properties, but not plant nutrients (N, P, K) interact with chemically induced resistance to pathogens. J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci. 166: 379-384.
- White R.F. 1979. Acetylsalicylic acid (aspirin) induces resistance to tobacco mosaic virus in tobacco. Virology 99: 410-412.
- Wildermuth M.C., Dewdney J., Wu G., Ausubel F.M. 2001. Isochorismate synthase is required to synthesize salicylic acid for plant defence. Nature 414: 562-565.
- Wilkinson C.J., Shearer B.L., Jackson T.J., Hardy G.E.S. 2001. Variation in sensitivity of Western Australian isolates of *Phytophthora cinnamoni* to phosphite *in vitro*. Plant Pathol. 50: 83-89.
- Winkel-Shirley B. 2002. Biosynthesis of flavonoids and effects of stress. Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. 5: 218-223.
- Worrall D., Hird D.L., Hodge R., Paul W., Draper J., Scott R. 1992. Premature dissolution of the microsporocyte callose wall causes male sterility in transgenic tobacco. Plant Cell 4: 759-771.
- Xiao C.L., Chandler C.K., Price J.F., Duval J.R., Mertely J.C., Legard D.E. 2001. Comparison of epidemics of Botrytis fruit rot and powdery mildew of strawberry in large plastic tunnel and field production systems. Plant Dis. 85: 901-909.

- Yalpani N., Enyedi A.J., León J., Raskin I. 1994. Ultraviolet light and ozone stimulate accumulation of salicylic acid, pathogenesis-related proteins and virus resistance in tobacco. Planta 193: 372-376.
- Yamamoto M., Nakatsuka S., Otani H., Kohmoto K., Nishimura S. 2000. (+)-Catechin acts as an infection-inhibiting factor in strawberry leaf. Phytopathology 90: 595-600.
- Yang Y., Qi M., Mei C. 2004. Endogenous salicylic acid protects rice plants from oxidative damage caused by aging as well as biotic and abiotic stress. Plant J. 40: 909-919.
- Yoshida T., Feng W.-S., Okuda T. 1992. Tannins and related polyphenols of rosaceous medicinal plants. XII. Roshenins A-E: dimeric hydrylyzable tannins from *Rosa henryi* Boul. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 40: 1997-2001.
- Yu, D., Liu Y., Fan B., Klessig D.F., Chen Z. 1997. Is the high basal level of salicylic acid important for disease resistance in potato? Plant Physiol. 115: 343-349.
- Zhang Y, Tessaro MJ, Lassner M, Li X. 2003. Knockout analysis of Arabidopsis transcription factors TGA2, TGA5, and TGA6 reveals their redundant and essential roles in systemic acquired resistance. *Plant Cell* 15:2647–53
- Zhu Y.J., Qiu X., Moore P.H., Borth W., Hu J., Ferreira S., Albert H.H. 2003. Systemic acquired resistance induced by BTH in papaya. Phys. Mol. Plant Pathol. 63: 237-248.
- Zhu S., Ma B. 2007. Benzothiadiazole- or methyl jasmonate-induced resistance to *Colletotrichum musae* in harvested banana fruit is related to elevated defense enzyme activities. J. Hortic. Sci. Biotechnol. 82: 500-506.
- Ziadi S., Poupard P., Brisset M.-N., Paulin J.-P., Simoneau P. 2001a. Characterization in apple leaves of two subclasses of PR-10 transcripts inducible by acibenzolar-S-methyl, a functional analogue of salicylic acid. Physiol. Mol. Plant Pathol. 59: 33-43.
- Ziadi S., Barbedette S., Godard J.F., Monot C., Le Corre D., Silué D. 2001b. Production of pathogenesis-related proteins in the cauliflower (*Brassica oleracea* var. *botrytis*)-downy mildew (*Peronospora parasitica*) pathosystem treated with acibenzolar-S-methyl. Plant Pathol. 50: 579-586.

Kuopio University Publications C. Natural and Environmental Sciences

C 208. Anttonen, Mikko J. Evaluation of Means to Increase the Content of Bioactive Phenolic Compounds in Soft Fruits. 2007. 93 p. Acad. Diss.

C 209. Pirkanniemi, Kari. Complexing agents: a study of short term toxicity, catalytic oxidative degradation and concentrations in industrial waste waters. 2007. 83 p. Acad. Diss.

C 210. Leppänen, Teemu. Effect of fiber orientation on cockling of paper. 2007. 96 p. Acad. Diss.

C 211. Nieminen, Heikki. Acoustic Properties of Articular Cartilage: Effect of Structure, Composition and Mechanical Loading. 2007. 80 p. Acad. Diss.

C 212. Tossavainen, Olli-Pekka. Shape estimation in electrical impedance tomography. 2007. 64 p. Acad. Diss.

C 213. Georgiadis, Stefanos. State-Space Modeling and Bayesian Methods for Evoked Potential Estimation.

2007. 179 p. Acad. Diss.

C 214. Sierpowska, Joanna. Electrical and dielectric characterization of trabecular bone quality. 2007. 92 p. Acad. Diss.

C 215. Koivunen, Jari. Effects of conventional treatment, tertiary treatment and disinfection processes on hygienic and physico-chemical quality of municipal wastewaters. 2007. 80 p. Acad. Diss.

C 216. Lammentausta, Eveliina. Structural and mechanical characterization of articular cartilage and trabecular bone with quantitative NMR . 2007. 89 p. Acad. Diss.

C 217. Veijalainen, Anna-Maria. Sustainable organic waste management in tree-seedling production. 2007. 114 p. Acad. Diss.

C 218. Madetoja, Elina. Novel process line approach for model-based optimization in papermaking. 2007. 125 p. Acad. Diss.

C 219. Hyttinen, Marko. Formation of organic compounds and subsequent emissions from ventilation filters. 2007. 80 p. Acad. Diss.

C 220. Plumed-Ferrer, Carmen. Lactobacillus plantarum: from application to protein expression. 2007. 60 p. Acad. Diss.

C 221. Saavalainen, Katri. Evaluation of the mechanisms of gene regulation on the chromatin level at the example of human hyaluronan synthase 2 and cyclin C genes. 2007. 102 p. Acad. Diss.

C 222. Koponen, Hannu T. Production of nitrous oxide (N O) and nitric oxide (NO) in boreal agricultural soils at low temperature. 2007. 102 p. Acad. Diss.